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COMPANY STRUCTURE
ALIES

As at 31 March 2015
HE_T—HF=-A=+—H

America Archi Colors Group Ltd. Beijing Arch Technology Co Ltd.
(BVI) (PRC)

51% 100%
INVESTMENT HOLDING PAINTS AND CONTRACT SERVICES

Creative Sense Industrial Ltd.
(HK)

- T

Fame Star Ventures Ltd. PetroAsian Energy Finance Ltd.
100% BV) 100% (HK)
INVESTMENT HOLDINGS (Note 1) INVESTMENT & MONEY LENDING
100% Goal Green Ltd. China - Hong Kong Link Finance Co. Ltd.
100% — 100% 1)

INVESTMENT HOLDING INACTIVE (Note 3)

Gold Tat Group International Ltd.
13.34% (H.K. Listed)

China - Hong Kong Link Securities Co. Ltd.

INACTIVE (Note 2)

Go Wealthy Investment Ltd. Man Xin Ltd.
(HK) BVI

)
0% (HK) 15% BV)
INVESTMENT HOLDING INVESTMENT HOLDING:

Grand Rich Human Resources Ltd.
100% m'HK)

Hai Tai Ltd. Grand Fund International Ltd.
(BV) (HK)
100% 100%

INVESTMENT HOLDING INVESTMENT HOLDING

Hai Yue Chemicals Co. Ltd.
(HK)

Shenzhen GaLaLi Petroleum and
Chemical Ltd.

FYFEZRERENBRBEERAT
100% (RO

OIL EXPOLITATION BUSINESS

OIL TRADING

100%
B ESTERT WD e
(PRC)
COAL TRADING
i i .
PetroAsian Energy . Jnong e L S
Holdings Ltd.
(Cayman Islands) e , _
H K Llsted Lee Shing I(IIHI%Ing Co. Ltd. %Uﬁil%(;;;’é‘l)ﬁl‘ﬁu A M %ﬁ(ﬁ{%’ﬁﬂﬂ AT

INVESTMENT HOLDING INVESTMENT HOLDING MINING BUSINESS

PetroAsian Energy Ltd.
(HK)
B noroos |
PetroAsian Energy Exploration
Development Ltd.
(HK)
51%
PetroAsian Energy Group Ltd.
59% (BV)
Honour Bright Investments Ltd.
100% BV)
PetroAsian Energy International Ltd. INVESTMENT HOLDING Northeast Oil (China) ZEEE VA B T R b A RBA R
o (Cayman Islands) Development Co. Ltd. AREMEQT
INVESTMENT HOLDING (PRO)

Merry Boom Investment Ltd. INVESTMENT HOLDING OIL EXPOLITATION BUSINESS
(HK)

Wing Shing Chemical Macao INVESTMENT HOLDING

Commercial Offshore Co. Ltd.

| 100% (Macao)
Winner Trend Enterprises Ltd. Topact Holdings Ltd. Global Sougkaer Petroleum Co., Ltd.
(BVI) 46.77% (Cyprus) 99% (Kazakhstan)

INVESTMENT HOLDING INVESTMENT HOLDING EXPLOITATION DRILLING

Wing Shing Chemical International Ltd.
(BV))

INACTIVE
Wing Shing

Group Ltd. . Note: .
(BVI) Wing Shmmh"rs Ltd. 1. Company was incorporated on 28 May 2014.
T 2. Company was incorporated on 23 July 2014.
3. Company was incorporated on 26 February 2015.
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COMPANY STRUCTURE
ACIES

As at 31 March 2015
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
ERHRES

Mr. Poon Sum & &4

Honorary Chairman 5522 &%

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board of Directors (the “Board”) of
PetroAsian Energy Holdings Limited (the “Company”), |
hereby present the audited annual results of the Company
and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) for the year
ended 31 March 2015.
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]

_ leveraging the strengths on its

g '__1._--'solid base assets, new businesses

and efficient decision-making
process to achieve high growth
and to reduce our risk profile.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

During the year ended 31 March 2015, the Group recorded
a consolidated revenue of approximately HK$804,167,000
(2014: HK$982,327,000), representing a decrease of
18% as compared to the corresponding period last year.
Although a revenue decrease was recorded, with effective
cost control measures by the Group, the loss attributable
to owners of the Company was reduced to approximately
HK$148,305,000, a slight decrease of 1.8% compared to
last year.

BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT

During the year under review, the world economy recovered
at a slow pace, while the rapid growth of China’s economy
has been decelerated; in the meantime, the international oil
price slumped by 40% in 2014 amid the unstable economic
environment and excessive production. Performance of the
Group’s principal businesses, including commodity trading
business and crude oil business, were inevitably affected
by the weak oil price. In response to the unfavorable
market environment, the Group continued to adopt prudent
strategies to operate the existing businesses.

The commodity trading business contributed the majority
revenue of the Group. During the period under review,
the Group adopted a dual approach to develop both
the domestic and international trading. Aside from the
existing international market for oil trading, the Group has
also actively explored the track trading business model
for domestic bunker fuel oil trading business which has
enabled the Group to oversee the trading progress and
monitor risk effectively. In addition, although the weak
oil price dragged the fuel oil price, it also lowered the
purchasing cost of customers triggered higher demand
volume over the year. As a result, revenue and profit of the
Group’s domestic trading business recorded significant
growth as compared to last year.

CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
TRHES
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
ETRHES

With regard to crude oil business, the Group has strived to
increase production capacity and reduce mining cost of its
oil fields. During the reporting period, the Group entered into
an agreement with an independent third party (“Contractor”)
that provides on-site technical and management services
and takes up the operating costs related to the exploration
and production activities on its ailfields in Fu 718, Fu 710
and Meilisi 723 in Qigihar. The Contractor also invests in
new wells drilling and commits to other oilfield related long
term investments. In return, it is entitled to share revenue
with the Group. Such arrangement has commenced from
1 January 2015. Through the extensive experience in
partnering with international oil service professionals, the
Group is confident to increase output of the ailfields.

Moreover, the Group started a new business during the
year. In March 2015, a subsidiary of the Group obtained
money lending licence which enables to offer loan plans
in Hong Kong. The new business is expected to mitigate
the risk of the existing businesses and further diversify the
Group’s portfolio of business.

PROSPECTS

Looking ahead, we expect that the over-production and
price fluctuation of oil will continue and industry players will
still be facing with the harsh market situation. The Group’s
experienced operating team will continue to adopt prudent
strategies, control risk strictly and explore new opportunities
in the ever changing environment. For commodity trading,
the Group will actively promote domestic businesses.
The winning of refueling contract for engineering ship of
Hong Kong-Zhuhai-Macao Bridge Projects is one of the
examples. In the meantime, the Group will also explore
opportunities in relation with other commodities and tap the
market potential in Northern China and Southeast Asian.
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At 24 April 2015, the Group announced to acquire Perfect
Reward Limited, a holding company of China LNG
Corporation Limited, making a step forward in developing
the LNG market. According to the Chinese National Energy
Administration’s “Thirteenth Five-Year Plan” energy planning
framework, the proportion coal in all energy consumption
is to be cut to not more than 60%, while the proportion
of natural gas sets to increase from less than 6% to 10%;
meanwhile Chinese Ministry of Industry and Information
Technology announced to fall into disuse the Class 3 diesel
vehicles by 31 December 2014, all indicating a prospective
steady growth of natural gas demand. If the acquisition is
successfully carried out, the relevant business is expected
to become another driver for profit growth.

APPRECIATION

Last but not the least, | would like to take this opportunity
to express my sincere gratitude to the members of the
Board, the management and all our dedicated staff for their
invaluable services over the year for the Group. | would
also like to thank our shareholders, business partners
and stakeholders for their ongoing supports. We are well
positioned to deliver further growth on our shareholder’s
value.

By order of the Board

Poon Sum
Honorary Chairman

Hong Kong, 26 June 2015

CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
TRHES
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BERBNmNR DN

OVERVIEW ON CONSOLIDATED
OPERATING RESULTS

During the year ended 31 March 2015, the Group achieved
a revenue of approximately HK$804,167,000 (2014:
HK$982,327,000), representing a decrease of 18.14% from
the year of 2014. Decrease in the Group’s revenue was
mainly attributable to the decrease in commodity trading
segment.

The Group recorded consolidated operating loss of
approximately HK$138,438,000 (2014: HK$139,227,000),
representing a decrease of 0.57% from the year of 2014.
The Group’s operating loss was mainly as a result of the
following: (1) recognition of impairment losses on assets
including property, plant and equipment, other intangible
assets and prepayments, deposits and other receivables
in aggregate amounting to approximately HK$65,470,000
(2014: HK$32,177,000), (2) recognition of share-based
payments amounting to approximately HK$6,357,000
(2014: HK$22,520,000) and (3) depreciation, depletion and
amortisation amounting to approximately HK$17,330,000
(2014: HK$22,300,000).

Excluding the above non-recurring items (1) and (2) totalling
to approximately HK$71,827,000 (2014: HK$54,697,000),
the Group’s performance on operating loss would be

GRERERENE
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENmRD

BUSINESS REVIEW
Commodity trading

In the reporting period, the oil and gas products trading
business contributed the majority revenue of the Group,
amounting to approximately HK$686,767,000 (2014:
HK$841,489,000) and representing a decrease of 18.39%
as compared with last year. A total of 43,206 tons (2014
16,075 tons) and 124,357 tons (2014: 155,014 tons) of
oil and gas products were traded in China and Malaysia
respectively.

During the reporting period under review, the Group
has continued the track trading business model which
combines both international oil products transit trading
business and domestic bunker fuel oil trading business,
SO as to guarantee profitability of its trading business amid
radical fluctuation of oil price.

Despite the volatile fluctuation of global oil prices towards
a low level in 2014 and relative ample supply in the
global market, our operating team actively improved risk
management and conducted the trading business strictly in
a back-to-back manner, resulting in a steady revenue and
profit growth of fuel oil trading business in the year.

In domestic market, China’s economy was recorded at
an increase of 7% in GDP as compared with the same
period of last year. The fuel oil price fluctuates more mildly
and lags behind of international oil price. In the year, the
Group focused on a marketing strategy that emphasizes
development of domestic market and acquired the refueling
business of workboats of Hong Kong-Zhuhai-Macau Bridge
Project. For this reason, revenue and profit of domestic
trading business grew drastically over the same period of
last year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEFN N

The international oil price had dropped sharply. It creates
opportunities for China and major Southeast Asian oil
consuming countries. In face of the variable market
environment, our operating team makes great effort to
mitigate risk and increase revenue, and at the same time
actively explores opportunities of other environmental
friendly energies such as biofuel and LNG, and develops
the market of Northern China and Southeast Asia.

Crude oil

The Group has a 96% interest, held through an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary Northeast Qil (China) Development
Company Limited, in an oilfield project in Fulaerji District
near Qigihar City of Heilongjiang Province of China.

The Group is continuing to monitor and assess the
operation in the Fu 718 and Fu 710 areas, and is finding
ways to maximise production and project profitability.
Among all the producing wells, there are currently nine
horizontal wells (four in Fu 710 and five in Fu 718 area)
and twenty vertical wells. Due to new local regulatory
requirement, the production of Fu 718 operation was
below the expectation and hence affected the overall
performance.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENmR D

The Group is working hard to boost production and
reduce costs simultaneously. During the reporting
period, the Group entered into a “technical service and
revenue sharing” agreement (“Master Agreement”) and
a supplemental agreement to the Master Agreement
(“Supplemental Agreement”) with an independent third
party (“Contractor”). Under the Master Agreement, the
Contractor is to provide on-site technical and management
services to the Group in respect of the latter’s exploration
and production activities on its oilfields in Fu 718, Fu 710
and Meilisi 723 areas in Qigihar (“Oilfield”). Pursuant to the
Master Agreement, the Contractor is to be responsible for
all operation costs as well as to invest funds in drilling new
wells and oilfield related long term investment. In return
for the provision of those services, the Contractor shall
share 95% of the total crude oil revenue for the first year,
85% from the second to third year, and 80% from the
fourth to fourteenth year of the service period respectively.
Supplemental Agreement outlines and further clarifies the
details of the operation and executive plan. The above
arrangement has been commenced from 1 January 2015.

The Contractor has experiences partnering with
international oil service professionals and is a company
mainly engaged in oil wells operating, testing, oil and gas
gathering and ancillary technology services, geological
exploration, oil wells and comprehensive study of reservoir
data evaluation; mineral resources development and
technical services; pipeline survey; selling of oil drilling
accessories, completion tools and pipes, green energy
products, chemical products (except flammable and
hazardous chemicals), special sand, the import of oil drilling
equipment, completion tools, drilling, cementing, well
testing, production, technical services and others.

The management of the Group expected that the
Contractor will employ new recovery technique in the
operation and boost the production in the future.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Chemical products

The Group approaches to maintain its loyal customers
and suppliers for chemical products trading business.
A revenue of approximately HK$104,577,000 was
achieved for the year ended 31 March 2015 (2014:
HK$119,783,000), representing a decrease of 12.69%.
On the other hand, another subsidiary within this segment,
which is based in Beijing and providing painting services,
recorded a total revenue of approximately HK$11,393,000
for the year ended 31 March 2015 (2014: HK$39,863,000),
representing a decrease of 71.42%.

Service contract

The Group has a business in the Republic of Kazakhstan
(“Kazakhstan”) with 46.77% equity interest in Topact
Holdings Ltd (“Topact”) with control obtained. The business
is principally engaged in exploitation of crude oil and
natural gas, production of crude oil products, exploration
drilling, crude oil and gas field and oilfield construction
and installation works in Kazakhstan. In the reporting
period, this service contract segment business recorded
a total revenue of approximately HK$5,163,000 (2014:
HK$8,476,000), representing a decrease of 39.09%.

Other business

An indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company has
obtained the money lending licence in Hong Kong and
started its business in June 2014. It is presently anticipated
that this lending business will not be developed as a major
business of the Group. During the reporting period, revenue
from interest income was HK$4,487,000 (2014: Nil).

Future development in the business

On 24 April 2015, the Group conditionally entered into an
acquisition agreement with the vendors and guarantors to
acquire the entire issued capital of Perfect Reward Limited
for an aggregate consideration of HK$950,000,000.

Perfect Reward Limited and its subsidiaries are principally
engaged in the LNG businesses and is a service provider of
the LNG supply chain covering all the upstream, midstream
and downstream segments in the industry.
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The acquisition is conditional upon the fulfilment of certain
precedent conditions as stipulated in the acquisition
agreement. As of the date of approval of the consolidated
financial statements of the Company, the acquisition is yet
to be completed.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue and operating review

For the financial year ended 31 March 2015, the Group
recorded a consolidated revenue of approximately
HK$804,167,000 (2014: HK$982,327,000), representing
a decrease of 18.14% from the year of 2014. The Group’s
loss for the year attributable to owners of the Company was
approximately HK$148,305,000 (2014: HK$151,155,000),
representing a decrease of 1.89% from the year of 2014.

Decrease in the Group’s revenue was mainly attributable
to decrease in Commodity trading segment revenue. While
the Group’s loss for the year attributable to owners of the
Company was mainly attributable from the following: (1)
recognition of impairment losses on assets in aggregate
amounting to approximately HK$65,470,000 (2014:
HK$32,177,000) including property, plant and equipment
of approximately HK$26,939,000 (2014: Nil), other
intangible assets of approximately HK$6,119,000 (2014:
Nil) and prepayments, deposits and other receivables of
approximately HK$32,412,000 (2014: HK$31,048,000),
(2) recognition of share-based payments amounting to
approximately HK$6,357,000 (2014: HK$22,520,000),
(8) depreciation, depletion and amortisation amounting to
approximately HK$17,330,000 (2014: HK$22,300,000), (4)
finance costs amounting to approximately HK$14,931,000
(2014: HK$1,920,000) and (5) share of loss of an associate
amounting to approximately HK$20,557,000 (2014:
HK$759,000). The above (1) and (2) were non-recurring
items totalling to approximately HK$71,827,000 (2014:
HK$54,697,000).
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Working capital

As at 31 March 2015, the Group’s current assets
were kept at approximately HK$611,380,000 (2014:
HK$315,277,000) whilst current liabilities were
approximately HK$415,229,000 (2014: HK$268,440,000).
The current ratio, being the proportion of total current
assets against total current liabilities, was 1.47 (2014: 1.17).
The directors consider that the present working capital level
is conservatively sufficient to meet the upcoming operating
needs.

Liquidity and financial resources

The Group generally finances its operations with internally
generated cash flows and facilities provided by its principal
bankers in Hong Kong and in China.

The Group had cash and bank balances of approximately
HK$212,766,000 as at 31 March 2015 (2014:
HK$134,665,000). The Group’s cash and bank balances
were mostly held in Hong Kong dollars and Renminbi.

As at 31 March 2015, the Group’s total outstanding
bank borrowings and bonds were approximately
HK$309,953,000 (2014: HK$101,551,000) and total
assets were approximately HK$1,156,171,000 (2014:
HK$934,955,000). The bank borrowings of approximately
HK$46,624,000 were short term borrowings and will be
settled by internal resources after the date of statement of
financial position. Except for bonds, the Group did not have
other long term borrowings nor long term debt due to third

party.

The gearing ratio, calculated by dividing the total bank
borrowings and bonds by the total assets, was equal to
26.81% at 31 March 2015 (2014: 10.86%).
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Pledged assets

As at 31 March 2015, the Group pledged the following
assets to secure the Group’s bank borrowings and trading
facilities:

(1) Corporate guarantee executed by the Company for
an unlimited amount;

(2) Fixed deposit placed in banks for the bank
borrowings and trading facilities utilised. As at 31
March 2015, the Group has maintained fixed deposits
of RMB37,542,000 (approximately HK$46,980,000)
(2014: US$3,872,000 or approximately HK$30,033,000)
for the aforesaid purpose;

(8) Trade receivables to the extent of carrying amount of
HK$196,051,000 (2014: HK$89,432,000); and

(4) An investment property with a carrying value of
HK$23,862,000 (2014: HK$24,375,000).

INFORMATION ON CRUDE OIL
RESERVES AS OF 31 MARCH 2015

During the reporting period, the management appointed
APEX Reservoir Service Inc. (“APEX”) as independent
professional technical valuer (the “Technical Valuer”) to
evaluate the estimated oil reserve and recoverable amount
of Qigihar oilfield for impairment assessment purpose as of
31 March 2015.

EERR

R-E-RAF=A=+—8 AEEDEF
THEE ERAEERTEENESER
HHELR -

(1) ARFFRELRSEIED 2 RAHER

@ BEFKREFEHRRIT - UERITHE
ERESGEERRE R —AF
=A=+—H AKERFIME %
% B 7 A R # 37,542,000 7T (49
75 1 46,980,0007T ) ( = F — 4 4F :
3,872,000 JT =k 49 & # 30,033,000
JT)

B3 BRMEIE A& B ¥196,051,000c( = &
— P04 : ¥ 89,432,0007T) K E 5 fE
WsaE - &

(4) BRMEEABE 23,862,000 (=ZF—M
F ¢ B 04,375,000 7T) Z AW E -

BE_E-HAF=F=+—0
B [ i & 5

RS MR BRED R MRS
(AEF) BRAB([FIRET ) (ERBILE R
By S A4 M (T ST aP & 6B D) - BLRLERY &
Bt EERRAEEE—T 1% = A
=t AnfEFaaEE R AR E S

18 PetroAsian Energy Holdings Limited Annual Report 2014 -15




MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEETmR D

The reserves evaluation performed by APEX was conducted
in accordance with Petroleum Resources Management
System (the “PRMS”), an internationally recognised reserve
standards and guideline. The evaluation subject was
petroleum asset (the “Asset”) owned by the Company in
Fulaerji Qilfield, including Fu 710, Fu 718 and Meilisi 723.
The management of the Group has accepted the newly
calculated reserve and a set of technical and economic
parameters proposed by APEX (including discount rates, oil
price and cost projections, and oilfield development plan)
as the basis for recoverable amount calculations. According
to the PRMS definition, the oil reserve should be classified
into Proved reserve (“P1”); Probable reserve (“P2”) and
Possible reserve (“P3”). Based on management internal
assessment of reserve, the total 1P, 2P (“sum of P1 and
P2”) and 3P (“sum of P1, P2 and P3”) reserve of Qigihar
oilfields as of 31 March 2015, are approximately 755,000
tons, 1,669,000 tons and 3,133,000 tons respectively.

BRI T80 1T B (5 2 AT A O AR 5% B B 3R AT 9
ERERIESIRBERERESIE ([PRMS))
ET - HHERAAARNENBERA
mEMNAHEE(EE])  BER710- &
718 RIBEH 723 - AREERECD EMNK
FaTtE R = KR TR R A — A BT
B2 (BEITIRE - AEERS RKATEA
LA&xEBﬂﬁﬂ?équilJ){’E%qu A B £ FE A

c IBIBEPRMSEER  AHREENER
EE fu%g(fm) P HE Eﬁg(fpzbﬂﬂ B
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EEBEAAN T —AF=A=+—H08
1P~ 2P ([P1 R P2 2F0]) &3P ([P1 -+ P2 K&
P32 A1) B 4B % = 7 Bl 49 & 755,000 E
1,669,000 M8 & 3,133,000 1 °

Report on crude oil reserve FohfFEHRE
Proved Probable Possible Total oil
reserve reserve reserve reserve
HERE BER#E EHE BAHEE
(000 tons) (000 tons) (000 tons) (000 tons)
(Fm8) (FmE) (Fm) (FHE)
Crude oil reserve RmEE
As at 1 April 2013 RZZE—=%MA—A 436 843 1,366 2,645
Production for the year FREES (3) - - (3)
As at 31 March 2014 RZZ—MF
and 1 April 2014 ZA=+—-H
RZT—MmEMmA—H 433 843 1,366 2,642
Adjustment to estimation* HfhETRRIE 323 71 9% 492
Production for the year FRES (1) - - (1)
As at 31 March 2015 R-E—1%F
—HA=+—H 755 914 1,464 3,133
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During the year ended 31 March 2015, the Group entered
into a “technical service and revenue sharing” agreement
(“Master Agreement”) and a supplemental agreement to
the Master Agreement (“Supplemental Agreement”) with an
independent third party (“Contractor”). Under the Master
Agreement and Supplemental Agreement, the Contractor
is to provide on-site technical and management services
to the Group in respect of the latter’'s exploration and
production activities on its ailfields in Fu 718, Fu 710 and
Meilisi 723 areas in Qigihar (“Qilfield”). A new development
plan has been prepared by the Contractor and approved by
the Group’s management. More new wells will be developed
in the coming 5 years as compared with 2014’s 5-years
plan and with the new production technology introduced by
the Contractor, this would result in increasing the estimated
reserves under PRMS reserve evaluation.

Reserve evaluation criteria

The volumetric estimate method was used to calculate
hydrocarbon in place and using oil reservoir fire-flooding
thermal-ignition method. As at 31 March 2015, APEX
has used the deterministic method (as opposed to the
probabilistic method) to calculate the reserves estimates, in
which three discrete scenarios were delineated to represent
high, medium and low cases.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group did not have any significant contingent liabilities
at end of the reporting year.

EXPOSURE TO FOREIGN EXCHANGE
RISK AND INTEREST RATE RISK

The Group’s business transactions are mainly denominated
in United States dollars, Hong Kong dollars and Renminbi.
Most of the Group’s bank borrowings are interest bearing
at floating rate basis. The management monitors foreign
exchange exposure and will consider hedging significant
foreign currency exposure should the need arise. The
Group also uses derivative financial instruments to manage
interest rate exposures for hedging purpose only.
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EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION
POLICIES

As at 31 March 2015, the Group has an aggregate of
104 (2014: 145) employees of which about 66 (2014: 96)
were located in mainland China while the rest were based
in Hong Kong, Republic of Kazakhstan and Macau. The
employees’ remuneration package includes salary, bonus
and share options. Pursuant to the Group’s remuneration
policy, employees are rewarded on the basis of merit and
market conditions and in accordance with the statutory
requirements of the respective jurisdiction where the
employees locate.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
ERERHRE

This corporate governance report (“CG Report”) presents
the corporate governance matters during the year covering
the financial year ended 31 March 2015 (“CG Period”)
required to be disclosed under the Rules Governing the
Listing of the Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (“Stock Exchange”) (“Listing Rules”).

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

The Group has adopted the Corporate Governance Code
(“Code”) as set out in Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules as
the corporate governance codes of the Company.

During the year, the Company has complied with all
the Code Provisions set out in the Code except for the
deviations as follows:

Code Provision A.4.1 requires that non-executive directors
should be appointed for a specific term, subject to re-
election.

The Non-executive Directors (including the Independent
Non-executive Directors (“INEDs”)) of the Company are not
appointed for specific terms but are subject to retirement
by rotation and re-election at the annual general meeting of
the Company in accordance with the Company’s Articles of
Association.

Code Provision E.1.2 requires that the chairman of the
board should attend the annual general meeting.

After the resignation of Mr. Wang Bo as Executive Director
and the Chairman of the Board on 30 June 2014, the
Company did not have the Chairman of the Board. Mr.
Poon Sum was elected as the Chairman of the annual
general meeting held on 25 August 2014 (“AGM”)
in accordance with the Articles of Association of the
Company. The Honorary Chairman, chief executive officer,
the chief financial officer, the chairman and the members of
the audit committee, remuneration committee, nomination
committee and corporate governance committee of the
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Company attended the AGM. The Company considers
that their presence is sufficient for answering questions of
the shareholders at the AGM. Besides, Mr. Poon Sum, the
Honorary Chairman, has taken up the responsibilities of
the Chairman of the Board temporarily until the Board can
identify a suitable candidate to fill the vacancy.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

As at 31 March 2015, the Board comprised a total of
seven Directors, with three Executive Directors (“EDs”), one
Non-executive Director (“NED”) and three INEDs. Two of
the INEDs have appropriate professional qualifications in
accounting, or related professional management expertise,
which is required by the Listing Rules. During the CG
Period, 4 regular Board meetings were held.

During the CG period, the composition of the Board, and
the respective attendances of the Directors are presented
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as follows:

Director Board Capacity Attendance
= E=g549 R
Mr. Poon Sum ED & Honorary Chairman 4/4
ERRITTE BITESEHREELE
Mr. Wang Bo ED & Chairman
patast (resigned on 30 June 2014) 0/2

WITEEREIR

(RZE—MNFRA=+THEE)
Mr. Wong Kwok Leung ED & Chief Executive Officer 4/4
mER AL MITESERITHARE
Mr. Poon Wai Kong ED & Chief Financial Officer 4/4
R S A HWITERRERVBE
Mr. Zaid Latif NED 3/4
Zaid Latif 5t 4 FERTEF
Mr. Chan Kam Ching, Paul INED 3/4
PREFIZ S A& B FRITES
Mr. Chan Shu Kin INED 4/4
PR AGT ER 4 A= BUIERTES
Mr. Cheung Kwan Hung INED 3/4
SREIIB L& BIYFATES
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All the 4 regular Board meetings were held to discuss and/
or approve the financial performance/results of the Group,
report, discuss and/or resolve for the ordinary business and
operation matters, and the corporate development and
decisions.

The Board formulates overall strategy of the Group,
monitors its financial performance and maintains effective
supervision over the management. Daily operations
and administration are delegated to the management.
During the CG Period, none of the Directors above has or
maintained any financial, business, family or other material/
relevant relationship with any of the other Directors.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE
OFFICER

The roles of Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of the
Company are held separately by Mr. Poon Sum and Mr.
Wong Kwok Leung respectively. Besides, Mr. Poon Sum is
the Honorary Chairman of the Company.

The separation of duties of the Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer ensures a clear distinction between the
Chairman’s responsibility for running the board and the
Chief Executive Officer’s responsibility for running the
Company’s business. Details of the duties of the Chairman
and Chief Executive Officer of the Company are available
on the Company’s website.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Company has adopted a board diversity policy
(the “Policy”) on 21 June 2013. A summary of this
Policy, together with the measurable objectives set for
implementing this Policy, and the progress made towards
achieving those objectives are disclosed as below.
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Summary of the Policy

The Company sees increasing diversity at the Board level
as an essential element in supporting the attainment of
its strategic objectives and its sustainable development.
In designing the Board’s composition, the Board diversity
has been considered from a number of aspects, including
but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills,
knowledge and length of services. All Board appointments
will be based on meritocracy, and candidates will be
considered against objective criteria, having due regard for
the benefits of diversity on the Board.

Measurable Objective

Selection of candidates will be based on a range of diversity
perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age,
cultural and educational background, ethnicity, professional
experience, skills, knowledge and length of service. The
ultimate decision will be based on merit and contribution
that the selected candidates will bring to the Board.

Implementation

As at the date of this report, the Board’s composition under
major diversified perspectives was summarised as follow:
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Gender
ezl

Male 1%

Nationality

i Chinese £
Bif=3

RN

Australian

Age Group
TR

35-44 45-54

55-64

Year of Service
PR 7% 4 HA

0-5 | 5-10

>10

NUMBER OF DIRECTORS E=# H

PLERERERAR —E-NE-EFFERS 25




CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
ERERHRE

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee was formed on 21 March
2005 and has adopted specific written terms of reference in
accordance with the provisions set out in the Code which
are available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and
the Company. The role and function of the Remuneration
Committee include:

to make recommendations to the board on the
Company’s policy and structure for all directors
and senior management remuneration and on the
establishment of a formal and transparent procedure
for developing remuneration policy.

to review and approve the senior management’s
remuneration proposals with reference to the board’s
corporate goals and objectives.

to make recommendations to the board on the
remuneration packages of individual executive
directors and senior management. This should include
benefits in kind, pension rights and compensation
payments, including any compensation payable for
loss or termination of their office or appointment.

to consider salaries paid by comparable companies,
time commitment and responsibilities and employment
conditions elsewhere in the Group.

to review and approve compensation payable to
executive directors and senior management for any
loss or termination of office or appointment to ensure
that it is consistent with contractual terms and is
otherwise fair and not excessive.

to review and approve compensation arrangements
relating to dismissal or removal of directors for
misconduct to ensure that they are consistent with
contractual terms and are otherwise reasonable and
appropriate.
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° to make recommendations to the board on the
remuneration of non-executive directors.

° to ensure that no director or any of his associates is
involved in deciding his own remuneration.

° to consult the chairman and/or the chief executive
about remuneration proposals of the Remuneration
Committee for other executive directors. The
Remuneration Committee should have access to
independent professional advice if necessary.

For the financial year under review, the Remuneration
Committee held one physical meeting. The composition
of the Remuneration Committee and the respective
attendances of the committee members are presented as
follows:

CEEARE

s MINTEFENFMREERSRLZ

-
. BRREFEFRAEABEATESE
B HA S HHH -

s HFMZESSRMEMANTESNFME
FERAEERREBTHAE - 11F
FE FTHNLZESRASKBELERE
E‘ o

REBEMHEE  FHEZE@ER EE7TT
—REFE - FHZEEMNAKNKLZEEKE
ERMEBRET

Member Committee Capacity Attendance
RE ZEE5H HfE =R
Mr. Chan Kam Ching, Paul Chairman of the committee 11
PREBIZSAE ZEEIR

Mr. Cheung Kwan Hung INED i7al
REIB/RE B IEITES

Mr. Chan Shu Kin INED 0/1
BeRAGER S A BUIEMITES

Mr. Poon Sum ED 11
BT WITES

The chairman of the Remuneration Committee is Mr. Chan
Kam Ching, Paul.

HMNZ BT ERRIBELL
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The summary of the work performed by the Remuneration
Committee for the financial year under review included:

° to review the current remuneration policies and
appraisal system;

° to recommend to the Board the director’s fee for the
year ending 31 March 2015; and

° to consider and approve the remuneration of the
directors and senior management.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The remuneration paid to and/or entitled by each of the
Directors for the financial year under review is set out in
note 11 to the consolidated financial statements.

The share options granted to/or entitled by the Directors
during the financial year under review are inscribed in the
section headed “Directors’ Interests in Equity or Debt
Securities” of the Directors’ Report.

DIRECTORS’ TRAINING

Pursuant to Code Provision A.6.5 of the Code which took
effect on 1 April 2012, all Directors should participate in
continual professional development to develop and refresh
their knowledge and skills. This is to ensure that their
contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant.

All Directors are encouraged to participate in continual
professional development to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills. The Company has sent reading
materials to Directors on regulatory updates or information
relevant to the Company or its business.

The Company has received from all Directors records of
their continual professional development trainings during
the CG Period. Details of which are set out below:
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CEEARE

Type of Continuous Professional Development

BESXBE2ER
Reading regulatory
updates or
Attending seminar information Visiting
on regulatory relevant to the Company’s
development and the Company projects in China
directors’ duties or its business or Overseas

BEAEAATR EHERT

HEEERER HXB2EE KRB Z

ESHEmNS BMERRER EH
Mr. Poon Sum R E - v /
Mr. Wong Kwok Leung EE?&E - v /
Mr. Poon Wai Kong EEMI% A v/ v /
Mr. Zaid Latif Zaid Latif o4& - 4 _
Mr. Chan Kam Ching, Paul ~ FRERIZSE4E — J _
Mr. Chan Shu Kin 5%@55&5‘1‘:& v J _
Mr. Cheung Kwan Hung SRIIE v v _
=X

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES
TRANSACTION

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model
Code”) set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules as the
code of conduct regarding securities transactions by the
Directors. Having made specific enquiry of all Directors,
all Directors confirmed that they have complied with the
required standard set out in the Model Code during the
reporting period.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
REMUNERATION

For the CG Period, the remuneration of the members of the
senior management excluding directors by band is set out
below:

ESETESFRXS
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SR -

SN EIRE 2 H N

ROZEAMR - BESEUIN 2 SRELE
W82 HIMRERSIMT -

Number of individuals

Remuneration band & E AB

HK$500,001 to HK$1,000,000 B2 500,001 ST E B 1,000,000 7T 1

HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 A ¥ 1,000,001 JTE A% 1,500,000 7T 1
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FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in
the Group, two were directors of the Company. Further
particulars regarding the remaining three individuals with the
highest emoluments as required to be disclosed pursuant
to Appendix 16 of the Listing Rules are set out in note 12
to the consolidated financial statements.

NOMINATION OF DIRECTORS

The Nomination Committee was formed on 26 November
2011 and has adopted specific written terms of reference in
accordance with the provisions set out in the Code which
are available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and
the Company. The Nomination Committee was appointed
by the Board and consists of three non-executive directors
and one executive director of the Company. The meetings
and proceedings are governed by the provisions contained
in the articles of association of the Company for regulating
meetings and proceedings of the Directors. The role and
function of the Nomination Committee include:

° to review the structure, size and composition (including
the skills, knowledge and experience) of the board
at least annually and make recommendations on any
proposed changes to the board to complement the
Company'’s corporate strategy.

o to identify individuals suitably qualified to become
board members and select or make recommendations
to the board on the selection of individuals nominated
for directorships.

e 1o assess the independence of independent non-
executive directors.

e to make recommendations to the board on the
appointment or re-appointment of directors and
succession planning for directors, in particular the
chairman and the chief executive.
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The selection criteria for Directors are the candidate(s)
must have substantial experience in business relevant to
the Company or in corporate management, or in relevant
profession and must be able to contribute effectively to the
objectives of the Company. Any committee member may
propose suitable candidates for directorship for discussion
and approval by the Nomination Committee, after which
the Board will consider and, if appropriate, approve such
nomination.

For the CG Period, the Nomination Committee had
held one physical meeting for the purpose of making
recommendations to the Board on re-appointment of
Directors and assessing the independence of independent
non-executive directors.

The composition of the Nomination Committee and the
respective attendances of the committee members are
presented as follows:
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Member Committee Capacity Attendance
ME ZE254 R
Mr. Cheung Kwan Hung Chairman of the committee 11
REIBIRE ZEEERE
Mr. Chan Kam Ching, Paul INED 1/1
BRERAZSCAE BUIERITES
Mr. Chan Shu Kin INED 0/1
PR AT ER 4 A= BN FEHITES
Mr. Poon Sum ED 11
ERRTE WITES

The chairman of the Nomination Committee since its BRBZEEKIE X FAERHBBL

establishment has been Mr. Cheung Kwan Hung.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee has adopted specific written terms
of reference in accordance with the provisions set out in
the Code which are available on the websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company. The principal duties of the
Audit Committee include:

to be primarily responsible for making recommendations
to the board on the appointment, reappointment
and removal of the external auditor, and to approve
the remuneration and terms of engagement of the
external auditor, and any questions of its resignation
or dismissal;

to review and monitor the external auditor’s independence
and objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit
process in accordance with applicable standards. The
Committee should discuss with the auditor the nature
and scope of the audit and reporting obligations
before the audit commences and ensure co-ordination
where more than one audit firm is involved;

to develop and implement policy on engaging an
external auditor to provide non-audit services. For this
purpose, “external auditor” includes any entity that is
under common control, ownership or management
with the audit firm or any entity that a reasonable and
informed third party knowing all relevant information
would reasonably conclude to be part of the audit
firm nationally or internationally. The Committee
should report to the board, identifying and making
recommendations on any matters where action or
improvement is needed;
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° to monitor integrity of the Company’s financial
statements and annual report and accounts, half-
year report and, to review significant financial
reporting judgments contained in them. In reviewing
these reports before submission to the board, the
Committee should focus particularly on:

() any changes in accounting policies and
practices;

(i) major judgmental areas;

(i) significant adjustments resulting from audit;

(iv) the going concern assumptions and qualifications;
(v) compliance with accounting standards; and;

(vij compliance with the Listing Rules and legal
requirements in relation to financial reporting;

Regarding above:—

()  members of the Audit Committee should liaise
with the board and senior management and the
Audit Committee must meet, at least twice a
year, with the Company’s auditors; and

(i)  the Audit Committee should consider any
significant or unusual items that are, or may
need to be, reflected in the report and financial
statements, it should give due consideration
to any matters that have been raised by the
Company’s staff responsible for the accounting
and financial reporting function, compliance
officer or auditors;

° to review the Company’s financial controls, internal
controls and risk management systems;
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=

= EARE

to discuss the internal control system with
management to ensure that management has
performed its duty to have an effective internal control
system. This discussion should include adequacy of
resources, staff qualifications and experience, training
programs and budget of the Company’s accounting
and financial reporting function;

to consider major investigation findings on internal
control matters as delegated by the board or on its
own initiative and management’s response to these
findings;

to discuss problems and reservations arising from the
interim and final audits, and any matters the auditor
may wish to discuss (in the absence of management
where necessary);

to review the external auditor's management letter, any
material queries raised by the auditor to management
about accounting records, financial accounts or
systems of controls and management’s response;

to review the Company’s statement on internal control
systems (where one is included in the annual report)
prior to endorsement by the board;

where an internal audit function exists, to ensure co-
ordination between the internal and external auditors,
and to ensure that the internal audit function is
adequately resourced and has appropriate standing
within the Company, and to review and monitor its
effectiveness;

to ensure that the board will provide a timely
response to the issues raised in the external auditor’s
management letter;
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e to review arrangements by which employees of the  ® I ARRIRENATLHE - NARE

Company can use, in confidence, to raise concerns BRI TEERR - NEPESIE S A
about possible improprieties in financial reporting, HHEAIGEBENTIEETAIRHEE -
internal control or other matters. The Audit Committee EREZESRERERBHEERH  EAR
should ensure that proper arrangements are in place AN EEEER QA FBILAAE K
for fair and independent investigation of these matters BUEETE &

and for appropriate follow-up action; and

BYMNERZ BN 2 HE E 2R
R_EZHENBE -

e to act as the key representative body for overseeing
the Company’s relations with the external auditor.

LZING
REE

%MT

For the CG Period, the Audit Committee had held three ~ R{EEEVGHIE - FREZEGRITT = AF
regular meetings for discussing and/or approving the  Hi®&& « LAFl® &/Yﬁt/ﬁ$%lﬁfﬁﬁﬂﬁsﬁ
periodic financial results of the Group, discussing the — KB TEZE4E - FmZEAIRE - R AEE
auditor’s performance, reviewing the effectiveness of the ~ WEBESIEZAHINE - AR FIE G LT
internal control system of the Group and adequacy of BB TEMNER BEIERLERES
resources, qualifications and experience of staff of the &% UK B THEXMIEIIREZEREM#TE
Company’s accounting and financial reporting function and BXEBERRE °

their training programmes and budgets.

The composition of the Audit Committee and the respective ~ B ZE8MHEKLREZEGKBEZBELHFEB
attendances of the committee members are presented as SIAT

follows:
Member Committee Capacity Attendance
KRB ZEEHH HER
Mr. Chan Shu Kin Chairman of the committee 3/3
PRAGIER S A ZEgx
Mr. Cheung Kwan Hung INED 2/3
R ILAE B IEITES
Mr. Chan Kam Ching, Paul INED 3/3
PR A2 ST A B IEHITES
The chairman of the Audit Committee since its BEZEZEDRUE  EXFEARBERL
establishment has been Mr. Chan Shu Kin. Ao
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
COMMITTEE

The Corporate Governance Committee of the Company
was formed on 26 November 2011 and has adopted
specific written terms of reference in accordance with
the provisions set out in the Code which are available on
the website of the Company. The role and function of the
Corporate Governance Committee include:

to develop and review the Company’s policies
and practices on corporate governance and make
recommendations to the Board;

to review and monitor the training and continual
professional development of Directors and senior
management;

to review and monitor the Company’s policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements;

to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct
and compliance manual (if any) applicable to
employees and Directors;

to review the Company’s compliance with the Code
and disclosure in the corporate governance report.
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CEEARE

For the CG Period, the Corporate Governance Committee ~ R1EEE E\HHF'Eﬁ _IJ:%%E REESER L&
held one physical meeting. The composition of the 117 —X&#% - tEERZEENEKKRE
Corporate Governance Committee and the respective =~ EE&KE®E ﬁ}ﬂ /RzﬁlJ A -
attendances of the committee members are presented as
follows:
Member Committee Capacity Attendance
RE EZES 5 HER
Mr. Chan Kam Ching, Paul Chairman of the committee 11
PREBIZSCAE LESXE
Mr. Chan Shu Kin INED 0/1
PRAGIER S 4 B IEHITES
Mr. Cheung Kwan Hung INED 1/1
R/ EAE B EMITES
Mr. Poon Wai Kong ED & Chief Financial Officer 11
EEMIEAE WITEEREFUBE
The chairman of the Corporate Governance Committee is ~ (EXEAREZBEEXF RRIBIELE o
Mr. Chan Kam Ching, Paul.
The summary of the work performed by the Corporate ~ RIEEGHIME  EERZEEHITHL
Governance Committee for the CG Period included: ERZ2BE -
e toreview the Company’s compliance with the Code o AR AIESTRINER

° to review the training and continual professional
development of Directors and senior management

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The analysis of the Auditor’s remuneration for the CG
Period is presented as follows:

s RIEFEMS
BXER
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o

RERABRIEI NS

Fee amount (HK$’000)
ER(EBET T
Audit service ZE R 3,000
Non-audit services IEZERTS 10
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INTERNAL CONTROL

Review of Internal Control System

The Board holds the responsibility for maintaining effective
systems of internal control and for the assessment
and management of risk. Accordingly, a mechanism of
inspection and supervision is established to ensure the
shareholders’ investment and the Group’s assets are
safeguarded. The Board has authorized the management
team to design, implement and maintain systems of internal
control such as clearly defined job responsibilities of senior
management team and systems relating to investment
decision and budgeting.

The Board is of the opinion that the Group’s systems of
internal controls aim for managing potential risks instead of
completely eliminating all risks. Therefore, internal control
can only provide reasonable assurance for achieving the
above objectives in compliance with basic principles under
its inherent limitations. Moreover, whether internal control
is effective or not may also vary with the changes in the
internal or external environment or the operating conditions
of the Group. Accordingly, systems of internal controls can
only render reasonable, rather than absolute, assurance for
the achievement of the operating objectives.

With the establishment of an independent internal audit
function in recent years, the financial condition, operational
control and compliance control are examined and reviewed
according to the risk-based audit plan approved by Board.
Different audit areas are assigned according to risk priority.
The Internal Audit Department assists the Board to monitor
compliance with rule and regulations and the effectiveness
of the risk management and internal controls systems. It
plays an important role in the Group’s internal governance
by performing periodic checking. After completion of an
internal audit, analysis, appraisals, recommendations related
to the activities inspected are delivered to the respective risk
holders. The Internal Audit Department reports to the Chief
Executive Officer, Audit Committee and the Board about the
internal audit findings, internal audit recommendation and the
management responses. The Internal Audit Department will,
from time to time, review and follow up the implementation
of internal audit findings and recommendations.
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For the CG Period, the Board was not aware of any
significant issues that would have an adverse impact on
the effectiveness and adequacy of the systems of internal
controls of the Group.

Review of Accounting and Financial Reporting
Functions

The Board, through the Audit Committee, reviewed the
adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience of
staff of the Group’s accounting and financial reporting
function, their training programmes and budget, and was
satisfied with the results of the review.

Communication with Shareholders

The Company has adopted a Shareholders Communication
Policy reflecting the current practices of the Company for
communication with its shareholders, which is available on
the website of the Company.

The general meeting of the Company provides a platform
for shareholders to exchange views with the Board. The
attendance of each Director at the general meetings of the
Company held during the CG Period is set out as follows:
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Director Board Capacity Attendance
= E=g59 R
Mr. Poon Sum ED & Honorary Chairman 1/1
ERRITE BITESEHREELRE

Mr. Wong Kwok Leung ED & Chief Executive Officer 11
|ER LA BITESRITRARE

Mr. Poon Wai Kong ED & Chief Financial Officer 1/1
EEMIST A WITESHRARYBE

Mr. Zaid Latif NED 0/1
Zaid Latif Fo4E FEMITES

Mr. Chan Kam Ching, Paul INED 11
PREBIZ A4 BUIERTES

Mr. Chan Shu Kin INED 1/1
BeR Al BR o A= BUIEMITES

Mr. Cheung Kwan Hung INED 11
REIE L& BUIERITES
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Convening Extraordinary General Meeting
(“EGM”)

Pursuant to Article 58 of the Articles of Association of
the Company, the Board may however it thinks fit call an
EGM. Any one or more members holding at the date of
deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the
paid up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting
at general meetings of the Company shall at all times
have the right, by written requisition to the Board or the
Company Secretary of the Company, to require an EGM to
be called by the Board for the transaction of any business
specified in such requisition; and such meeting shall be
held within two months after the deposit of such requisition.
If within twenty-one days of such deposit the Board fails
to proceed to convene such meeting the requisitionist(s)
himself (themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all
reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a
result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the
requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Procedures for Putting Forward Proposals at
General Meetings by Shareholders

There are no provisions under the Articles of Association
of the Company or the Companies Law, Cap 22 (Law 3 of
1961, as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands
regarding procedures for shareholders to put forward
proposals at general meetings other than a proposal of a
person for election as director. Shareholders may follow
the procedures set out above to convene an EGM for any
business specified in such written requisition.
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Procedures for Shareholders to Propose a
Person for Election as a Director

Pursuant to Article 88 of the Articles of Association of the
Company, no person, other than a retiring Director, shall,
unless recommended by the Directors for election, be
eligible for election to the office of Director at any general
meeting, unless notice signed by a member (other than the
person to be proposed) duly qualified to attend and vote
at the meeting for which such notice is given of his/her
intention to propose such person for election as a Director
and also a notice signed by the person to be proposed
of his/her willingness to be elected shall have been given
to the Company or lodged at the head office or at the
Registration Office provided that the minimum length of
the period, during which such notices are given, shall be at
least 7 days. The period for lodgment of such notices shall
commence no earlier than the day after the dispatch of the
notice of the meeting appointed for such election and end
no later than 7 days prior to the date of such meeting.

A shareholder may propose a person other than a retiring
director or recommended by the Directors for election as a
director by validly lodging the following documents within
the period hereinafter mentioned at the Company’s principal
place of business in Hong Kong at Suite 3601, Tower 6,
The Gateway, Harbour City, Tsimshatsui, Kowloon, Hong
Kong:-

1. a notice in writing of the intention to propose that
person for election as a Director, which must state
the full name of the person, include the person’s
biographical details as required by rule 13.51(2) of the
Listing Rules and be signed by the shareholder; and

2. a notice in writing signed by that person of his/
her willingness to be elected as a director together
with his written consent to the publication of his/her
personal data.
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Such documents shall be lodged with the Company’s
principal place of business in Hong Kong within the
period of 7 days after the despatch of the notice of the
general meeting. Upon receipt of such documents, the
Company shall verify the documents and, if the proposal
is found to be in order, publish an announcement and/or
issue a supplemental circular in respect of the proposal in
accordance with Rule 13.70 of the Listing Rules.

In the case of any general meeting called by at least 10
clear business days’ or 14 days’ (whichever is the longer)
notice in writing, such documents lodged within the
aforesaid period may be received less than 10 business
days prior to the general meeting, the Company will
consider the adjournment of the general meeting in order
to give shareholders at least 10 business days to consider
the relevant information disclosed in the announcement or
supplemental circular.

The aforesaid procedures are available on the Company’s
website.

Procedures for Directing Shareholders’ Enquiries
to the Board

Shareholders may at any time send their enquiries and
concerns to the Board by addressing them to the Company
Secretary of the Company. The contact details are as
follows:

PetroAsian Energy Holdings Limited
Suite 3601, Tower 6, The Gateway,
Harbour City, Tsimshatsui,
Kowloon,

Hong Kong

Attn: Company Secretary

Email: enquiries@petroasian.com
Tel No.: 852-2698 6093
Fax No.: 852-3580 7793
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Constitutional Documents

During the CG Period, there is no significant change in the
Company’s constitutional documents.

Acknowledgement of Responsibility for the
Financial Statements

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for
preparing the financial statements of the Group. In
preparing the financial statements for the financial year
under review, the Directors have:

o based on a going concern basis;

° selected suitable accounting policies and applied
them consistently; and

° made judgments and estimates that were prudent, fair
and reasonable.

The statement of the Auditor regarding their reporting
responsibilities on the financial statements is set out in
detail in the Independent Auditor’s Report on page 64 to
66.

On behalf of the Board

Poon Sum
Executive Director

Hong Kong, 26 June 2015
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The Directors submit their annual report together with
the audited consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 March 2015.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND
GEOGRAPHIC ANALYSIS OF
OPERATIONS

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.
The activities of the subsidiaries are set out in note 43
to the consolidated financial statements. An analysis
of the Group’s performance for the year by business
and geographical segments is set out in note 5 to the
consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year are set out in the
consolidated income statement on page 67. No interim
dividend was paid or declared in respect of the year
ended 31 March 2015 (2014: Nil). The Board does not
recommend the payment of final dividend for the year
ended 31 March 2015 (2014 Nil).

RESERVES

Movements in the reserves of the Group and of the
Company during the year are set out in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity on page 73 to 75 and note
33 to the consolidated financial statements respectively.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment
of the Group are set out in note 16 to the consolidated
financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company
are set out in note 32 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Distributable reserves of the Company at 31 March 2015
amounted to approximately HK$347,450,000, representing
the amount standing to the credit of the share premium
account after deduction of accumulated losses. Under
section 34 of the Companies Law (Revised) of the Cayman
Islands, the share premium is available for distribution to
shareholders subject to the provisions of the Articles of
Association of the Company, and no distribution may be
paid to shareholders out of the Company’s share premium
unless the Company shall be able to pay its debt as they
fall due in the ordinary course of business.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s Articles of Association and there was no
restriction against such rights under the laws of the
Cayman lIslands.

FIVE YEARS FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of
the Group for the last five financial years is set out on page
223 to 224.

PURCHASES, SALE OR REDEMPTION
OF SECURITIES

Neither the Company, nor any of its subsidiaries,
purchased, sold or redeemed any of the securities of the
Company during the year.

SHARE OPTIONS AND WARRANTS

Warrants

On 29 November 2012, it was approved to issue
350,000,000 non-listed warrants to an external consultant.
Each warrant entitles the holder thereof to subscribe for
one new share of the Company at the subscription price of
HK$0.18 at any time from 1 March 2013 to 28 November
2015.
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On 7 October 2013, it was approved to enter a placing
agreement with a placing agent pursuant to which
the placing agent agreed to place 370,000,000 non-
listed warrants at a placing price of HK$0.01 each. On
25 October 2013, a total of 370,000,000 non-listed
warrants were successfully issued to certain independent
third parties. Each warrant entitles the holder thereof
to subscribe for one new share of the Company at the
subscription price of HK$0.1526 at any time from 25
October 2013 to 24 October 2016.

Share options

At the extraordinary general meeting held on 24 June 2013,
the shareholders of the Company adopted the new share
option scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”) which enabled
the grant of options to subscribe up to 460,062,382 shares,
representing 10% of the issued share of the Company as
at the said date. The share option scheme approved by the
shareholders of the Company at the extraordinary general
meeting on 21 October 2002 expired on 20 October 2012
(the “Expired Scheme”).

The Share Option Scheme is a share incentive scheme
and is established to acknowledge the contributions
made or to be made by participants to the Group. The
Board of Directors may, at its discretion, offer employees,
contracted celebrity, advisor, consultant, service provider,
agent, customer, partner or joint venture partner of the
Company and its subsidiaries (including any director of the
Group), the grant of options to subscribe for shares of the
Company. Upon acceptance of the option, the grantee
shall pay HK$1.00 to the Company by way of consideration
for the grant. The total number of shares which may be
issued upon exercise of all options to be granted under the
Share Option Scheme and any other share option schemes
of the Company must not in aggregate exceed 10% of
the shares in issue as at the date of approval of the Share
Option Scheme.
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As at the date of the annual report, the total number of
shares available for issue pursuant to the exercise of
all options granted under the Expired Scheme and the
Share Option Scheme was 460,062,382 shares (Expired
Scheme: Nil; Share Option Scheme: 460,062,382 shares),
representing about 8.99% of the issued share capital of the
Company.

During the financial year, no option has been granted under
the Share Option Scheme.

Unless approved by shareholders of the Company, the total
number of shares issued and to be issued upon exercise
of the options granted to each participant (including both
exercised and outstanding options) in any 12-month period
must not exceed 1% of the shares in issue. The Directors
will have the absolute discretion to fix the minimum
period for which an option must be held before it can
be exercised, and the performance targets that must be
achieved before the options can be exercised upon the
grant of an option to a participant.

The subscription price of a share in respect of any
particular option granted under the Share Option Scheme
shall be such price as the Board in its absolute discretion
shall determine, save that such price will not be less than
the highest of (i) the nominal value of the shares, (ii) the
average of the closing prices of the shares as stated in daily
quotations sheet of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) for the five consecutive
trading days immediately preceding the date of offer of the
option and (jii) the closing price of the shares as stated in
the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date of
offer of the option (which must be a trading day).

An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms
of the Share Option Scheme at any time after the date upon
which the option is deemed to be granted and accepted
and prior to the expiry of such period to be determined
by the Board in its absolute discretion and notified to the
grantee. No option may be granted more than 10 years
after the date of adoption of the Share Option Scheme.
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Details of the share option outstanding at 31 March 2015
which have been granted under the Expired Scheme are as
follows:

R-ZE—RHF=A=+—8  BEEEm:t
ZERBE®HRITEOBREFEBOT ¢

Price of
Number of Options Company’s shares
REHA FRARGER
Outstanding Outstanding
asat Granted  Exercised Lapsed asat For For
Exercise 1 April during during  duringthe 31 March Option Option
Participants Date of grant Exercisable period price 2014 the year the year year 2015 granted  exercised
R-Z2-mE R-E-1%
BA-B ZR=t-A B BTk
s0E RiAH s %E HATE  REARE  REAGE  REAXN  HROR R e
000 000 000 000 000 HKS HKS
Th Th T Th Th it A
(Note 1) (Note 2)
(Mo ()
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Mr. Poon Sum 24 May 2012 1July 201210 HK$0.198 200,000 - (150,000) (50,000) - - 0275
27 March 2015
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1. The price of the Company’s shares disclosed for options
granted is the closing price of the shares immediately before
the date on which the options were granted.

2. The price of the Company’s shares disclosed for options
exercised is the weighted average closing price of the
shares immediately before the dates on which the options
were exercised.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors, or their
spouse or children under the age of 18, had been granted
any right to subscribe for the equity or debt securities of
the Company or any of its associated corporations, or had
exercised any such right during the period.
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SHARE AWARD SCHEME OF THE
COMPANY

On 16 October 2008, the Company adopted the Share
Award Scheme in which selected employees of the
Group, including without limitation any Executive and Non-
executive Director, officer, agent or consultant (with payroll)
of the Group, are entitled to participate in the Share Award
Scheme pursuant to the rules of the Share Award Scheme.
The purposes and objectives of the Share Award Scheme
are to recognize the contributions by certain employees
and to provide them with incentives in order to retain them
for the continual operation and development of the Group
and to attract suitable personnel for further development
of the Group. Subject to any early termination as may be
determined by the Board, the Share Award Scheme shall
be valid and effective for a term of 10 years commencing
on the adoption date. The maximum number of shares
which may be awarded to a selected employee under the
Share Award Scheme shall not exceed 1% of the issued
share capital of the Company as at the adoption date. The
nominal value of the shares awarded by the Board under
the Share Award Scheme shall not exceed 5% of the
issued share capital of the Company as at the adoption
date.

During the financial year, no share was purchased for the
Share Award Scheme.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this
report are:

Mr. Poon Sum

Mr. Wang Bo (resigned on 30 June 2014)
Mr. Wong Kwok Leung

Mr. Poon Wai Kong

Mr. Zaid Latif!

Mr. Chan Shu Kin?

Mr. Chan Kam Ching, Paul?

Mr. Cheung Kwan Hung?

! Non-executive Director
2 Independent Non-executive Director
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In accordance with Article 87(1) of the Company’s Articles
of Association, Mr. Poon Sum, Mr. Poon Wai Kong and
Mr. Chan Kam Ching, Paul shall retire from office by rotation
at the forthcoming annual general meeting. Due to other
business commitments, Mr. Chan Kam Ching, Paul will not
offer himself for re-election. The other retiring Directors,
being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

The Board is in the process of identifying suitable candidate
to fill up the vacated office occasioned by the retirement of
Mr. Chan Kam Ching, Paul as independent non-executive
director.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting has a service contract which
is not determinable by the Company within one year
without payment of compensation (other than statutory
compensation).

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN
CONTRACTS

No contracts of significance in relation to the Group’s
business to which the Company or its subsidiaries was
a party and in which a Director of the Company had a
material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at
the end of the year or at any time during the year.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF
DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

Executive Directors

Mr. Poon Sum, aged 51, is an Executive Director and one
of the co-founders of the Group. He was the Chairman
of the Company and was subsequently appointed as the
Honorary Chairman on 9 May 2012. Throughout the year,
he has been, and still is, primarily responsible for the overall
strategic planning, business development, marketing and
formulation of overall corporate policies of the Group.
He has over 25 years of experience in the oil, paints and
coatings industry and the trading of chemicals in Hong
Kong and the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”).
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Mr. Wong Kwok Leung, aged 57, is an Executive Director.
He is appointed as the Chief Executive Officer with effect
from 1 April 2012 and responsible for the Group’s daily
operations, administration and production management of
the Group’s subsidiary in PRC. He obtained the qualification
of LCC - Higher Accounting from London Chamber of
Commerce and diploma of supervisory studies from Hong
Kong Productivity Council. Prior to joining the Group, he
worked in the field of finance and accounting for over 19
years and has obtained extensive knowledge therein. He
joined the Group in September 1997.

Mr. Poon Wai Kong, aged 44, is an Executive Director and
Chief Financial Officer of the Group. He is a member of both
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, the
Certified Practising Accountant of Australia and Hong Kong
Institute of Chartered Secretaries. He also holds a Master
degree in Business Administration and a Master degree
in Professional Accounting and Corporate Governance
from the City University of Hong Kong, a Master degree in
Practising Accounting from the Monash University, Australia
and a Bachelor degree in Economics from the University
of London, United Kingdom. He has more than 24 years’
experience in accounting and financial field. He joined
the Group in September 2005. He was appointed as the
Company Secretary for the Company in September 2006
and an independent non-executive director of TC Orient
Lighting Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 515) in June 2015.
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Non-executive Director

Mr. Zaid Latif, aged 41, is a Non-executive Director.
He was appointed on 23 November 2012. He holds a
Bachelor’'s degree in Business Accounting and Legal
Studies from Charles Sturt University, Australia, and a
Diploma of Project Management from Brisbane North
Institute of TAFE, Queensland, Australia. He has extensive
experience in various industries ranging from oil & gas,
government, infrastructure, private equity, property to
chartered accounting. Mr. Latif is a director of Global
Equity & Development Group Pty Ltd., which is a boutique
investment advisory firm that offers strategic, origination,
risk and investment consulting services to government
state owned enterprises, corporate and high net worth
individuals. Clients are based in Australia and Middle East
and have exposure to the sectors of infrastructure, mining,
commodity trading (oil & gas, coal, iron ore etc.), property
and information technologies.

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Chan Shu Kin, aged 60, is an Independent Non-
executive Director. He was appointed on 21 October
2002. He is a certified public accountant and is a
partner of Messrs. Ting Ho Kwan & Chan, Certified
Public Accountants. He is an associate member of the
Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales,
fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants in the United Kingdom and the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. He is also a
Certified Tax Advisor of the Taxation Institute of Hong Kong.
He has over 38 years of experience in the field of auditing,
accounting as well as financial management. He is the
past president of the Society of Chinese Accountants and
Auditors. He is also an independent non-executive director
of PYI Corporation Limited (Stock Code: 498) which is a
listed company on the main board of the Stock Exchange.
He was appointed as an independent non-executive
director of Addchance Holdings Limited (Stock Code:
3344) in June 2015.
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Mr. Chan Kam Ching, Paul, aged 60, is an Independent
Non-executive Director. He was appointed on 21 October
2002. He is the proprietor of Paul K. C. Chan & Partners,
Solicitors & Notaries, and has been practicing laws in
Hong Kong for over 31 years. He obtained his Juris
Doctor Degree from University of Toronto in 1979. He was
admitted to practice as a barrister and solicitor in Ontario,
Canada in 1981, and as a solicitor in Hong Kong in 1984
and in England and Wales in 1988, and as a barrister and
solicitor of the Australian Capital Territory in 1991, and an
advocate and solicitor of Singapore in 1995. He became a
China Appointed Attesting Officer in 1995, a Member of the
Chartered Institute of Arbitrators in 1996, a Notary Public in
Hong Kong in 1997, HKIAC Accredited Mediator in 1999,
Hui Zhou Arbitrator in 2005, a Civil Celebrant of Marriages
in 2006, and Certified Tax Adviser in 2010.

Mr. Cheung Kwan Hung, aged 63, is an Independent
Non-executive Director. He was appointed on 30
September 2004. He is a member of the Association
of Chartered Certified Accountants and the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. He has many
years of experience in accounting, finance and corporate
management and has over 10 of years of experience
in investment banking specializing in equity/debt fund
raising, mergers and acquisitions and corporate and
debt restructuring as well as private financial consultancy
work. He was also an executive director of publicly listed
companies undertaking corporate management, planning
and strategies development functions. Currently, he is an
independent non-executive director of NewOcean Energy
Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 342), Great Harvest Maeta
Group Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 3683), the shares of
which are listed on the Stock Exchange.

The Company has received confirmation from each of
the Independent Non-executive Directors as regards their
independence from the Company and considers that each
of the Independent Non-executive Directors is independent
of the Company.
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Senior Management

Professor Albert Kwong, aged 65, is the Vice Chairman
and Chief Operating Officer of the Group. He joined the
Group on 1 July 2008. He is a renowned oil scholar and
a seasoned senior petroleum engineer with worldwide
hands-on exploration and production experience, both
onshore and offshore, plus sharp cross-border business
management skills of an international standard. He has
direct exposure to the exploration and exploitation of ail
and gas in North America (covering both the United States
and Canada), South America, Asia (especially China),
Australia, North Africa and the Middle East.

Professor Kwong earned his Bachelor of Science in
Computer Science from the University of South Carolina
in 1974 and Master of Science in Petroleum Engineering
from the University of Texas at Austin in 1977, also
later Master of Science in Engineering Management
from University of Tulsa, in Tulsa, Oklahoma, the United
States. He had worked as a research engineer for the
Department of Energy, the United States and later as
drilling and operations engineer for Atlantic Richfield Co.
He subsequently worked as Sun Qil (USA)’s chief corporate
representative in China based in Beijing. He was appointed
as oil consultant working for the United Nations and later oil
advisor to the State of Kuwait in the Middle East. He later
worked with Triton Energy (USA), GE and Conocophillips in
its global oil ventures. He was also appointed with the title
of Professorship by the Petroleum University of Beijing and
also the City University of Hong Kong and was selected as
Distinguished Alumnus by his Alma Mater.
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Ms. Tsang Hau Wai, aged 34, is the Assistant Financial
Controller of the Group. She is a member of the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. She is also
a certified Project Management Professional of Project
Management Institute. She holds a Bachelor degree in
Accountancy from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University.
Prior to joining the Company in December 2011, she had
more than 11 years’ experience in auditing, accounting and
financial field in international accounting firms and in a listed
company on the main board of the Stock Exchange.

Ms. Liu Yu Qin, aged 47, is the General Manager and
Director of America Archi Colors Group Limited. She joined
the Group in April 2007 and is responsible for the sales and
marketing of paints products in Northeast China Market.
She has a postgraduate degree from the Chinese Academy
of Social Sciences. She has 14 years of experience in the
coating industry in both the PRC and internationally and
over 17 years of experience in sales and marketing.
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Mr. Yang Jin Feng, aged 44, is currently the Executive
Deputy General Manager of Shenzhen Galali Petroleum
and Chemical Limited (“GalaLi”) of the Group. He engaged
in the gasoline and fuel oil business from 1997 to 2009 in
Boluo, Guangdong, during which, through the cooperation
with others, he conducted the subcontracting operation of
Zhuyuan Gas Station and Longhua Gas Station in Boluo,
Guangdong, and acquired and operated Qingtang Gas
Station in Boluo, Guangdong since 1997 before beginning
to engage in the lubricating oil business in 2007. He
possesses extensive business experience. He engaged in
the fuel oil trading business in Shenzhen since 2010 until
now and incorporated Galali Investment Development
Company Limited (& #& Fl| 3% & 2 & B R 2 @) (being the
name of the registered company of Gal.ali acquired by the
Group) in Shenzhen in the same year. He held the positions
as Legal Representative and Chairman in which the
company is mainly engaged in the fuel oil trading business.

Ms. Lau Wai Wing, Vivian, aged 46, is currently the General
Manager of Galali of the Group. She holds a Master
Degree in Business Administration from Murdoch University
in Perth Australia. Prior to joining the Group, she worked
in the financial and management fields for over 22 years
and held various positions such as financial controller
and marketing for a number of reputable groups, which
include Guangnan Holdings Limited (& % B A R A 7)),
Guangdong Petrochemical Company Limited (284 {LA
fR 2 A]), Hong Kong Eastern Hill International Limited (&
B R IEBIFRHPR A F]), Taishan PetroChina Sales Company
Limited (R EIA7H & 1L 2 ¥ IHE B R 2 F]) and Guangdong
Dongchang Group Company Limited (ERE R EBFHR
7~ A]). She has been engaged in the imports, re-exports,
domestic trading and blending of fuel oil since 2001, and is
very familiar with the domestic fuel market.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN EQUITY
OR DEBT SECURITIES

At 31 March 2015, the interests of the Directors and Chief
Executive of the Company in the shares, underlying shares
or debentures of the Company, and any of its associated
corporations (as defined in Part XV of the securities and
Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”)) as recorded in the register
required to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO or as
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to the Model code were as follows:
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EENRANERE S ER

RZZE—RAF=ZA=1+—H ARQAEEK
TEBTHRABRARR METAHEEE
(EEREZRIEROIEXVER) B -
MR ERIETREREES LB K
19126 352 17817 B W B e M Prac sk iR BAR
ETHIEBAA R R MR FraofEmn T

Total % of
Number of Equity Total Issued
Name of Directors Capacity Nature of Interests Sharesheld  Derivative Interests Shares
fEERTRS
£33 at BEME BENRAEE RATEIR BER  MAFM
Mr. Poon Sum Beneficial Owner Personal Interest (Note 2) 159,746,453 — 504,125,011 10.111%
BREE ERAEA @A (Fit2)
Founder of Discretionary Trust Other Interest (Notes 1 &2) 344,378,558 -
SREFAMA Eftigs (i1 Rk2)
Mr. Wong Kwok Leung Beneficial Owner Personal Interest (Note 2) 116,285 - 116,285 0.002%
BHRSE ERABA (AN (FizE2)
Mr. Poon Wai Kong Beneficial Owner Personal Interest (Note 2) 7,900,000 — 7,900,000 0.158%
EERILA ERAEA @A (it 2)
Mr. Chan Shu Kin Beneficial Owner Personal Interest (Note 2) 61,500 - 61,500 0.001%
REB %4 ERHAA A Az (Frst2)
Mr. Chan Kam Ching, Paul Beneficial Owner Personal Interest (Note 2) 4,000 - 4,000 0.000%
RipiREE ERHEAA {8 A (st 2)
Mr. Cheung Kwan Hung Beneficial Owner Personal Interest (Note 2) 234,000 — 234,000 0.005%
REPERHE ERAEA B (1t 2)
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Notes:

1. These shares are held by Ever Source Enterprises Limited.
The issued share capital of Ever Source Enterprises Limited
is beneficially owned as to 50% by Time Concord Limited,
a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands and
indirectly owned by a discretionary trust, the beneficiaries of
which are family members of Mr. Poon Sum, and as to 50%
by Guidance Investments Limited, a company incorporated
in the British Virgin Islands and indirectly owned by a
discretionary trust, the beneficiaries of which are family
members of Mr. Poon Sau Tin, the elder brother of Mr. Poon
Sum. Accordingly, Mr. Poon Sum is deemed to be interested
in 344,378,558 shares, representing approximately 6.91%
of the shares in issue as at 31 March 2015, through his
shareholding in Ever Source Enterprises Limited.

2. Allinterests in shares of the Company are long position.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2015, none of the
Directors and chief executive of the Company had held any
interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares
or debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporations (as defined in Part XV of the SFO) as recorded
in the register required to be kept by the Company under
Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model
Code.
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1. :%ZR% H Ever Source Enterprises Limited
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Limited &z %8 50% + WH —HEREEE
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8 ) 4% A YA &) Guidance Investments
Limited %8 Z5MNI50% o B L - BREE
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2. MARBBMHAEEDIIRITR °

REXFTEEN R_FT—HF=A
=t—B ARREFEREBITHRAERE
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’
INTERESTS

As at 31 March 2015, the interest of the shareholders, not
being a Director or Chief Executive of the Company, in the
shares and underlying shares of the Company as recorded
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in the register required to be kept under Section 336 of the

SFO were as follows:

BB R B EM ARSI T

Total % of
Name of Number of Equity Total Issued
Substantial Shareholders Capacity Nature of Interests Shares held Derivative Interests Shares
KEN LERTRHG
IERERS/ 4R % RE&tE RG®E RASTEIR BRE  hEESM
BNP Paribas Jersey Trust Trustee Other Interest (Notes 1, 2, & 3) 344,378,558 - 344378558 6.907%
Corporation Limited SFA Ao (1 2R3)
('BNP Paribas Jersey’)
Ground Point Limited Interest of Controlled Corporation ~ Corporate Interest (Notes 1,2, &3 344,378,558 - 344,378,558 6.907%
(‘Ground Point’) TR AR RS EEREE (W1 2]3)
Red Tiles Limited Interest of Controlled Corporation ~ Corporate Interest (Notes 1,2, &3) 344,378,558 - 344,378,558 6.907%
(‘Red Tiles') REHAEER EEER (W1 2R3)
Guidance Investment Limited Interest of Controlled Corporation ~ Corporate Interest (Notes 1,2, &3 344,378,558 - 344,378,558 6.907%
(‘Guidance”) REHEEER R (1 2R3)
Time Concord Limited Interest of Controlled Corporation ~ Corporate Interest (Notes 1,2, &3] 344,378,558 - 344378558 6.907%
(“Time Concord") RGBS EEER (1 2R3)
Ever Source Enterprises Bengficial owner Corporate Interest (Notes 1,2, &3) 344,378,558 - 344,378,558 6.907%
Limited (‘Ever Source’) EZEBA EEREE (M1 2R3)
Poon Sau Tin Beneficial owner Personal Interest 16,292,453 - 360,671,011 7.234%
EEH ERHAA MBS
Founder of a Discretionary Trust Other Interest (Notes 1, 2, & 3) 344,378,558 -
RREEFAMA Hfigs (1 2R3)
Notes: et -

1. Allinterests of BNP Paribas Jersey, Ground Point, Red Tiles, 1.
Guidance, Time Concord and Ever Source and the other

interest of Mr. Poon Sau Tin are duplicated.

2. BNP Paribas Jersey is deemed to be interested in the 2.
shares in the capacity of a trustee of the two discretionary
trusts as mentioned in paragraph 3 below through interests
of corporations controlled by it as follows:

FTBBNP Paribas Jersey * Ground Point
Red Tiles * Guidance * Time Concord ;2 Ever
Source MIHEZE LA KOB S M o AR E b iz
BE—HtAEE -

BNP Paribas Jersey & i@ LA T R EL 32 HI ) %
EiES AT B SBRATM A EETNT
TAFDERAEFRDOELS
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Name of Controlled Corporation

Name of Controlling Shareholder

Percentage Control

FEHEEERE ERBRRNEE ERES
Ground Point BNP Paribas Jersey 100%
Red Tiles BNP Paribas Jersey 100%
Guidance Ground Point 100%
Time Concord Red Tiles 100%
Ever Source Guidance 50%
Ever Source Time Concord 50%
3.  These shares are held by Ever Source. The issued share 3. #Z%EMf5 A Ever Source#FH ° Ever Source
capital of Ever Source is beneficially owned as to 50% R EITIRA AR — AR R B R Z B Sk
by Time Concord, a company incorporated in the British BB —EEREET (XnAREREE
Virgin Islands and indirectly owned by a discretionary trust, KK &K B ) M#E# B /972 7] Time Concord
the beneficiaries of which are family members of Mr. Poon WEH50%  WH—HREERELZEE M
Sum, and as to 50% by Guidance, a company incorporated KRR — B2 EETE (R ABBERLE
in the British Virgin Islands and indirectly owned by a MARESHIENRKEKE ) BEES
discretionary trust, the beneficiaries of which are family #) A &) Guidance # B S 5MNI50% © E It -
members of Mr. Poon Sau Tin, the elder brother of Mr. BARERGLCERESHLEE DRI A i
Poon Sum. Accordingly, each of Mr. Poon Sum and Mr. % ¥ 8 BEver Source & #= #E 5 50% B M 18
Poon Sau Tin is deemed to be interested in 344,378,558 EEEANKIA  MESESEHERAR
shares, which represent approximately 6.91% of the shares 344,378,558 IR 0 R B - HERAE
in issue as at 31 March 2015, because each of them is the ARARZE—RAF=—A=+—HWHE T
respective founder of the aforesaid two discretionary trusts fR1746.91% ©
which indirectly own 50% beneficial interest in Ever Source
respectively.
Save as disclosed above, there was no person known B FXFIREEIN - AR REEHRA - B
to the Directors of the Company, other than a Director of Z—Z—FAF=A=+—H @@ E@ AL
the Company, who as at 31 March 2015 had an interest (AR RIEEZBRIN) FARRD BTEIAD s MR A%

or short position in the shares or underlying shares of the
Company as recorded in the register kept under section
336 of the SFO.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and
administration of the whole or any substantial part of the
business of the Company were entered into or existed
during the year.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year, the aggregate sales attributable to the
Group’s five largest customers were approximately 89.10%
and the sales attributable to the Group’s largest customer
were approximately 46.33% of the Group’s total sales.

DR A REES KRG RPI S 336 R AT

ENE

o PTaCEk MR SR B ©

EE /\\/J
REBEHENFRNT IS FERBMARAR]
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60 PetroAsian Energy Holdings Limited Annual Report 2014 -15




The aggregate purchases during the year attributable to the
Group’s five largest suppliers were approximately 86.85%
and the purchases attributable to the Group’s largest
supplier were approximately 47.65% of the Group’s total
purchases.

None of the Directors, their close associates or any
shareholder (which to the knowledge of the Directors owns
more than 5% of the Company’s share capital) had an
interest in the major suppliers or customers noted above.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
AND CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS

During the year under review, there were no transactions,
which need to be disclosed as connected transactions and
continuing connected transactions in accordance with the
requirements of the Listing Rules.

To the best of the Director’s knowledge, information and
belief having made all reasonable enquiries, save as
disclosed in this annual report, none of the related party
transactions as disclosed in note 40 to the consolidated
financial statements contained in this annual report is a
connected transaction.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN
COMPETING BUSINESS

None of the Directors has an interest in a business which
competes or may compete with the business of the Group.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
ESHE

PENSION SCHEME RULES

With effect from 1 December 2000, the Mandatory
Provident Fund scheme (“MPF scheme”) was set up for
certain employees in Hong Kong, in accordance with the
Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme Ordinance. Under the
rules of the MPF scheme, the employer and its employees
in Hong Kong are each required to contribute 5% of the
employees’ gross earnings with a ceiling of HK$1,000
per month to the MPF scheme. With effect from 1 June
2012, the ceiling is revised from HK$1,000 to HK$1,250
per month. With effect from 1 June 2014, the ceiling is
revised from HK$1,250 to HK$1,500 per month. The only
obligation of the Group with respect to the MPF scheme is
to make the required contributions under the MPF scheme.

Employees in the Group’s PRC subsidiary are required to
participate in a defined contribution retirement scheme
operated by the local municipal government. The PRC
subsidiary contributes 2% to 22% of the employee payroll
to the scheme to fund the retirement benefits of the
employees.

No forfeited contribution is available to reduce the
contribution payable under the above schemes.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of its Directors, as at
the date of this report, there is sufficient public float of not
less than 25% of the Company’s issued shares as required
under the Listing Rules.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received from each of the Independent
Non-executive Directors an annual confirmation of
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules
and considers all the Independent Non-executive Directors
to be independent.

EAREFTERA
—ZTTTFE+ R Bt AEBEIRER
S ABESETERD - BETHEBEEBRL
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R-ZE——FA—HBit 7 LREHBEK
1,000 L& 5T BE 1,250 e R & — Y
FRA—HE  §A LRBEBE1,2507TE
R BEEE1,5007T c AEBEHNRIES RS
M —EERERBRESFEELREHRN -

AREBENTEHBELRREMAZEHRE
M ERATFTE R S E HFRIREH8) - h BIFY
BRrAgRZiEEFHEEREEF SN
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AEHRE
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
ESHE

AUDITOR 2 ELRm

PricewaterhouseCoopers will retire and, being eligible, offer ~ &SRB G EBK GRE - WKFE
themselves for reappointment at the forthcoming annual ~ E&EEREIGRITHRRBAFT A F X5
general meeting. The consolidated financial statements for & F o NFEERE M FHE 2L R BIKE
the year have been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers. A Z&TEIEHBFTEZ o AR A RENGERITAIAR
resolution for re-appointment of PricewaterhouseCoopers ~ REAFAE L IREENETE B KES
as the auditor of the Company will be proposed at the — ETRIEEFTAARA RIZEENHRZHES ©
forthcoming annual general meeting.

On behalf of the Board REXESFZ

Poon Sum HITEF

Executive Director BR

Hong Kong, 26 June 2015 BE ZE—HFAAZTXH
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
18 M % SAT ¥R

&

pwc

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF PETROASIAN ENERGY HOLDINGS LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
PetroAsian Energy Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and
its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) set out on pages 67
to 222, which comprise the consolidated and company
statements of financial position as at 31 March 2015, and
the consolidated income statement, the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and
a summary of significant accounting policies and other
explanatory information.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that
give a true and fair view in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the disclosure
requirements of the predecessor Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance (Cap.32), and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these
consolidated financial statements based on our audit and
to report our opinion solely to you, as a body, and for no
other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or
accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.

BRp ki@

B RRERERATARR
(RIS EIMA L BRAF])

B2 F P H NS 67 £ 222 EH apaLRI%E
BERARI(ATEHEIERE]) REHE
NE ([ ERE]) WEAMBRE - 1t
REVBREBER-_S—RF=A=+—
BHERA MR RPN KR EHEZ A IEF
EMRalaR  FEE2ERER  Hek
DEPRNGARTRER UARTEES
BURBL 2 M At R A A o

SRS IR RBRIEN

=s1F

BERRERRAERBEEESIMASREM
BB B R E LR MATE B R RRD] (%
RNE)NFERERBGEMBHREK - UL
RAMBBRRELEEMAFHRER - &
EERRREG VBRIV ENAEE
B AR A B R T FE R KGR R
RGN B ARFERERA ©

REETNEE
BMNEERBERMNBEZEZESHREN
BHREELER  ERBRERRFERFN
BR B ZINHREREEMEB B - B
TeRARENRBTRATHNEMALTE Lk
FEEAELE -
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY (Continued)

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. Those standards require that
we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements are free from material
misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain
audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements. The procedures
selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor
considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation
of consolidated financial statements that give a true and
fair view in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating
the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the
directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of
the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit
opinion.

38 3 £ BT R

ZEENWET @)

%P EE SN AR BB SRR
SR FTRAR o IR B R R PR TEE
e CHBRSHTERE  NABRESS
B TSR R T N AR (] AR R R -

BRS RBITIEFF A ERE BAR A MK
PR B R NBEERNELRE - FIEEN
RFBURNZ G H i - SRFHHR
HREF e SR T BUAR B M IS A TR E B K
ARERAL AR o FERHAEZ SRR - ZEED
EBEZRNAREGEMBEREAELER
M AFH) RBRIARIA R ERIES] - UEREHEE
HVEAZIZ R - 18 B B0 IE SR B R R R I Y
BERMBRERER - ERNBRAMEEEMEK

SETHERNE B EL g A E
M ARFESEMBEHRERNBEI®RS
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BIEE  BRAMESHNEZ RN
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
18 M % SAT ¥R

OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give
a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company
and of the Group as at 31 March 2015, and of the Group’s
loss and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards and have
been properly prepared in accordance with the disclosure
requirements of the predecessor Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance (Cap.32).

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 26 June 2015

BRRE - ZFEAVBRREREEBM
BREENEEMATHRE ERFK
EEER_Z-RAF=A=T—HBHEHK

o BREBEEZBILFENEENE
e WEEBREERBEDI(F328)
MR BE R E R RmEL

BORKEE SR

BEE D

BB —E—RFNAZTNH
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= A S
melzEx
For the year ended 31 March 2015
Hze—_Z—hF=A=1+—HILHE
2015 2014
—E-HF —ZTNF
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
PRE BT T BT
Revenue Wz 5 804,167 982,327
Other gains/(losses), net Hibzs(B518)  F&E 6 4,131 (21,065)
Impairment losses BIEEE 6 (65,470) (82,177)
Purchases, processing and BE - T RAERZ
related expenses (787,476) (955,585)
Wages, salaries and other benefits ~ T#& -~ & R EMER] 7 (25,553) (30,721)
Share-based payments VARG 2 - 2 5/ I8 34 (6,357) (22,520)
Depreciation, depletion E - BN
and amortisation (17,330) (22,300)
Other operating expenses H AR & 2 (44,550) (37,186)
Operating loss e EE 8 (138,438) (139,227)
Finance income A& WA 9 1,322 658
Finance costs BB R 9 (14,931) (1,920)
Share of loss of an associate FE(E—EEE S R a8 21 (20,557) (759)
Loss before income tax BRET1SHE
credit/(expense) e (F%)AER (172,604) (141,248)
Income tax credit/(expense) FrssiEe, (Fx) 10 5,332 (14,738)
Loss for the year FANEE (167,272) (155,986)
Loss for the year attributable to: AT AT EIGFEAEIE -
Owners of the Company PIN/NIEZE N 13 (148,305) (151,155)
Non-controlling interests FEFE B AE R (18,967) (4,831)
(167,272) (155,986)
Loss per share (HK cents) BREE GBI 14
Basic AR (3.13) (3.29)
Diluted e (3.13) 3.29)
The notes on pages 80 to 222 are an integral part of these ~ #80 BEZE 222 B 2 Wit Ji A& F4R & W
consolidated financial statements. REE M, -

seRmRRARLD ~¥-mE-merERE n



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
SmeEEHEWRER

For the year ended 31 March 2015
BeE—_Z—hF=-A=+—HILHFE

2015 2014
—B-HF —TWF
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
PaE BT T BT
Lossfortheyear FABE (167,272)  (156,986)
Other comprehensive (loss)/income: Hib2mE (E18) s -
Items that may be reclassified FE1R A BER EFT 7 HH
subsequently to profit or loss: FEm L -
Exchange differences arising on MEBINEREE 2
translation of foreign operations MEH ZERE (3,164) (6,283)
Changes in fair value of AHEEREZ
available-for-sale investments NHEE (26,667) 21,382
Share of exchange reserve JEAG —FEIBs & A R
of an associate ] 21 109 80
SRR (29,722) 15,179
Total comprehensive loss for the year 42 E & 184858 (196,994) (140,807)
Total comprehensive loss WTATEGZE
attributable to: EREEE
Owners of the Company ZAN/NCIE 2SN (178,122) (183,042
Non-controlling interests FEAE I M M 2 (18,872) (7,765)
(196,994) (140,807)

The notes on pages 80 to 222 are an integral part of these 5 80 B & 222 B 2 7t [ A& F iR & W15
consolidated financial statements. RERBZ %M -
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e BRI R

As at 31 March 2015
RZTE—RF=A=+—H

2015 2014
—E-hF —T-F
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5T BT T ST T
Non-current assets kRBEE
Property, plant and equipment M~ BB L& 16 159,952 195,854
Investment properties wEYE 17 23,862 24,375
Goodwill EES 18 16,711 16,479
Other intangible assets HtEpEE 19 231,095 238,771
Interests in an associate S EL N s oy 21 21,427 41,875
Prepayments, deposits and FENFIE - mek
other receivables H b pE U FRIA 22 44,097 28,010
Other financial assets Hiv R & E 23 47,647 74,314
I, 544,791 | 619,678
Current assets REEE
Inventories FE 24 7,180 12,671
Trade receivables B 5 IE 25 313,606 113,538
Loans receivable e E TR 26 29,159 -
Prepayments, deposits and FENFIE - mek
other receivables H b pE U FRIA 22 48,537 47,935
Derivative financial assets PTESREE 27 - 746
Other financial assets Hih &R & E 23 132 5,165
Tax recoverable AIULEIF IR - 557
Cash and bank balances R MIRTTAE &R 28 212,766 134,665
U, 611,380 . 315,277
Current liabilities REBEE
Trade payables B SN RIE 29 295,061 128,536
Accruals and other payables FERTREUA R
H b FE T 3IE 30 46,802 52,863
Derivative financial liabilities TTHEERAE 27 26,742 38,066
Bank borrowings RITEE 31 46,624 48,975
U, 415229 . 268,440
_Netcurrentassets nBEEFE 196,151 46,837
Total assets less current HEERRBEE
liabilities 740,942 666,515

seRmRRARLD ~¥-mE-merERE m




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
e BRI R

As at 31 March 2015
RZZT—RF=A=+—H

2015 2014
—E-EHF T
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5 BET T BT
Capital and reserves BRAK @&
Share capital [N 32 49,857 46,006
Reserves e 415,826 531,803
Equity attributable to owners RATHEE AEML
of the Company 2 465,683 577,809
Non-controlling interests IS MR 9,133 28,005
Totalequity mme® 474816 605814
Non-current liabilities kRBER
Deferred tax liabilities BEMIBERE 35 2,797 8,125
Bonds &5 36 263,329 52,576
.- 266,126 60,701
740,942 666,515

The consolidated financial statements on pages 67 to 222 ~ #67 EE222 Afi# 2 AW HHRREN =
were approved and authorised for issue by the Board of ~Z—hF/NA - TNBESFSHENERE
Directors on 26 June 2015 and are signed on its behalf by: TIF - Wi MIEERERRE

Poon Sum Poon Wai Kong
BR EER
Director Director
BE EZE
The notes on pages 80 to 222 are an integral part of these 580 B £ 222 B Z 7t [ R4 E iR e M5
consolidated financial statements. _E gZ—ﬁBT" °
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
EAE IR R AR

As at 31 March 2015
RZTE—RF=A=+—H

2015 2014
—E—EF —F-EF
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
BT 5 BT T BT
Non-current assets FkRBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y - BB NREE 16 678 1,603
Interests in subsidiaries NG SN s 20 469,282 430,493
Prepayments, deposits and AR - ke Rk
other receivables H b pE U FRIA 22 44,097 24,126
e 514057 456202
Current assets REBEE
Prepayments, deposits and AR - ZE &
other receivables H b FEURIA 22 18,648 29,683
Amounts due from subsidiaries FEUSHIE 1~ RIFkIE 20 77,315 112,163
Cash and bank balances & MIRTTH 28 95,312 63,201
e 191275 205047
Current liabilities REBEE
Accruals and other payables FERTEOA R
H {th FESTFRIE 30 13,385 14,333
Amounts due to subsidiaries AR NGIE ] 20 - 1,515
1338 15,848
_Netcurrentassets nEBREFE 177,800 189,199
Total assets less current WEERRBEE
liabilities 691,947 645,421

seRmRRARLD ~¥-mE-merERE _



STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
BRI R R R

As at 31 March 2015
RZE—RF=A=+—H

2015 2014
—F-HF —F0OF
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
B BT T BT T
Capital and reserves B R
Share capital &N 32 49,857 46,006
Reserves &t 33 378,761 546,839
Totalequity e=mg® 428,618 592,845
Non-current liabilities kRBERE
Bonds &= ¢ 263,329 . 52,576
691,947 645,421

The financial statements on pages 67 to 222 were FOTHR222BMEZHBREREN -

approved and authorised for issue by the Board of —RENA-tNBEEESHERIEET
Directors on 26 June 2015 and are signed on its behalf by: BB TIWEERERESE

Poon Sum Poon Wai Kong
B BER
Director Director
EF EF

The notes on pages 80 to 222 are an integral part of these 80 BEZE 222 B 2 5Ty Rk FE4r 6 SR
5

%
consolidated financial statements. RERE G o

m PetroAsian Energy Holdings Limited Annual Report 2014 -15



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
= AN < 4=t
e g E 6
For the year ended 31 March 2015
Hze—_Z—hF=A=1+—HILHE
Attributable to owners of the Company
ARREEAER
Share- {Accumulated
based Other losses)/ Non-
Share Share  payment  reserves  Exchange retained controlling Total
capital - premium reserve (Note) reserve  eamings Total  interests  eaquity
RS EtEk (Z3tER) 3|
kA ROEE 23ERE () EXRE /RGN BE  \MEE EREE
HK$'000  HKS000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HK$000 HK$000
AETT  AMTr BBt A% A¥Trn  ATn B Tr  BETn ¥t
At 1 Apri 2013 RZE-=FNA—H 46,006 1,821,098 77283 (219,836 38,142 (1,076,929) 685,728 37,045 722,773
Comprehensive loss 2 EE#E
Loss for the year EnEE - - - - - (151,155 (151,159) (4,831) (155,986)
Other comprehensive ~ Eft 27
(loss)/income (B8 /b
Exchange differences RERNEREL L
arising on translation EREE
of foreign operations - - - - (3,349 - (3,349 2934 (6283
Change in fair value AHHEREY
of avallable-for-sale LTEEY
investments - - - 21,382 - - 21,382 - 213®
Share of exchange YNy
reseneofanassociate BRI - - - - 80 - 80 - 80
Total other Hit2E () /
comprehensive hREE
(loss)/income - - - 21382 (3,269) - 18,113 (2934) 15179
Total comprehensive ~ EAZME (F8)/
(loss)/income lhgnisd
for the year - . S22 3269 (51155 (133049 (765 (140.807)
Transactions with owners EEEA RS
Lapseof shareoptions ~~ EEFRIEAT - - (20048 - - 0048 - - -
Recognition of BB RN
equity-settled Rh%f 58
share-based payments - - 20,040 - - - 20,040 - 20,040
Disposals of avallable- ~ (HEMRIERE
for-sale investments - - - (367) - - (367) - (367)
Disposals of subsidiaries ~ H/EMB AR
(Note 37) (HzEa7) - - - - - - - (69) (69)
Set-off against BH2ER
accumulated Pz 33)
losses (Note 33) (1,331,59%) - - 1,331,596 - - -
Dividend payable to ERFEmHIt R
non-controling interests X & - - - - - - - (1,220 (1,220
Capital contributions fom ~ REXBf&E2Z
substantial shareholders (1% (ff5£10)
(Note 10) - - - 5,450 - - 5,450 - 5,450
Total transactions EERAZRZAE
with owners - (13315%) 8 508 o116 518 (125 2848
At 31 March 2014 RIE-MEZA=+-E 46006 489,462 77215 (1933M) 34,873 123,564 577,809 28,005 606,814
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
mEEaZ2EH/R

For the year ended 31 March 2015
HE-_ZT-—RF=A=1+—HItFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

FOEHEARE
Share-
based Other Non-
Share Share  payment reserves Exchange  Retained controlling Total
capital  premium  reserve (Note) ~ reserve earnings Total interests  equity
RAXA  HitRE 25

BA  RGRE <WERE (MR EXRE RELY BE  HER RodE
HKS'000  HK$000  HKS'000  HKS000  HK§'000  HKS000  HKS$'000  HK$'000 HKS'000

BRI BRTR  BETn  BETn  BBTn  RBTn  RRTn AR ANTR

Mt April20td R-%-BEMA-B 46006 40462 TI5  (18371) A3 128564 ETT09 28005 606814
Comprehensive loss 2B
Loss for the year ERER - - - - - (148305 (148,305  (18,967) (167,272)

Other comprehensive S22 (B8) /s
(loss)/income

Exchange differences RERNEREE,
arising on tranglation EREE

of foreign operations - - - - (3,259) - (3,259) 9%  (3,164)
Changeinfairvalueof ~ AIRHEREY

avalable-for-sale LTES

investments - - - (26,667) - - (26,667) - (26,667)
Share of exchange el N

reseneofanassociate B ELE - - - - 109 - 109 - 109
Total other H2E (FR)/

comprehensive haE

(loss)/income - - - egeT) (3,150 - sn) % (2972)

Total comprehensive A2 AFEEE
(losstortheyesr o o T eten BN  (MB5)  (178122)  (18872) (196,904
Transactions with owners ZFEAZX S
Brercise of sharg options 7 BB 2

(Notes 32(a), 34) (P15 32(a), 34) 1501 39,024 (10,800) - - - 075 - 2975
Exercise of non-listed i AE
warrants (i3 3210, 34)
Notes 321, 34 2350 4664 (12720) - - - % - 3620
Lapse of share options &SI
(Note 34) (Pzras) - - (3,600) - - 3,600 - - -
Lapse of non-fisted ETRRER AN
warrants (Note 34) (FizE34) - - (24299 - - 2420 - - -
Total transactions HERAZR AR
with owners 3,851 85,665 (51,414) - - 27,894 65,996 - 659%
At 31 March 2015 R-B-1%
ZB=t-H 49,857 575,127 25861  (220,038) 31,723 3,153 465,683 9,133 474,816
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Note:

Other reserves mainly represent the difference of approximately
a debit of HK$221,862,000 (2014: a debit of HK$221,862,000)
between the amounts paid or received from transactions related
to the changes of shareholdings in subsidiaries without the loss
of control and the non-controlling interests being acquired or
disposed of. Other reserves also comprise capital contributions
from substantial shareholders, investment valuation reserve,
merger reserve and statutory reserve of approximately a credit of
HK$5,450,000 (2014: HK$5,450,000), a debit of HK$7,110,000
(2014: a credit of HK$19,557,000), a credit of HK$3,248,000
(2014: a credit of HK$3,248,000) and a credit of HK$236,000
(2014: a credit of HK$236,000) respectively.

The notes on pages 80 to 222 are an integral part of these
consolidated financial statements.

e REESBWRE

For the year ended 31 March 2015
HE_Z—AF=A=+T—HILFE

3

Rt

Hit T 2ERENN B AR REESHN A
RH(HEXHUTEERRERZMBARZ
2HI48) BTk E W& BB AT YB3 B SRR

HiEREREZ 258 OREFEH 221,862,000
T(ZZF—MF - 5508 %221,862,0007T ) °

HMmHEEIRETEREHE KEEHEMH
- AFREIETHERE DR AEREE
5,450,000 7T (= Z—P04F : 5,450,000 7T )
BB E7110,0000( = — W F : ERB
#519,557,0007T ) ~ i BR & % 3,248,000 ( =
T — P4 R 3,248,00070 ) R E R B
236,000 (= —H4F : #HRE236,0007T) ©

F80BEEF 222 A M N AZEFRE UK
MR —IMD -

EHE

RERBRRE —2-NE-LFFEHS
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
AERERER

For the year ended 31 March 2015
BE—_Z—hF=-A=1+—HILHFE

2015 2014
—E-HF _—ZTNF
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT
Cash flows from RELKETEH
operating activities ReRE
Loss before income BRATIS R
tax credit/(expense) e, (F)AlEE (172,604) (141,248)
Adjustments for: HEE
Finance income AEWA (1,322) (658)
Finance costs BhE R AR 14,931 1,920
Share of loss of an associate (L —fEBE SN R EE 20,557 759
Depreciation, depletion E - FEEREHE
and amortisation 17,330 22,300
Recognition of impairment losses 5t % 5 BB
on trade receivables WEEE 2 R - 1,129
Recognition of impairment losses MIENFIE - ZE2 &
on prepayments, deposits H fth B U 5RI8
and other receivables B 1R 2 R 32,412 31,048
Recognition of impairment losses MUE - BB LB
on property, plant and equipment BIEEE 2 R 26,939 -
Recognition of impairment losses MHEM BB E
on other intangible assets RIEEE 2 HER 6,119 -
Gains on disposals of subsidiaries ~ HE&EWEB R A2 W - (5,374)
Losses on disposals of property, HEME - BE&
plant and equipment e EE 55 743
Property, plant and equipment M -~ B &R M
written off - 114
Gain on disposal of an HE—IHAHHE
available-for-sale investment ®E 2 W= (107) (367)
(Gains)/losses from changes PTESMIAZAF
in fair value of derivative EEE (W) BB
financial instruments (4,479) 28,785
Losses from changes in fair value RIEEEREZAYT
of held-for-trading investments BEEHEE 30 36
Share-based payment expense ARRD 2450 2 SRIER 6,357 22,520
Operating cash flows before HEEEEED
movements in working capital HEP 2 E
carried forward REeEmnE (53,782) (38,293)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
n-vé?ﬂagﬁjﬁigiiE

For the year ended 31 March 2015
HE_T—AF=-A=1+—HLFE

2015 2014
—E2-HF —ZTNF
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT

Operating cash flows before ERIEEES

movements in working capital ST} o

brought forward KERERE (53,782) (38,293)
Decrease/(increase) in inventories FERL(Em) 5,491 (6,984)
Increase in trade receivables E 5 R WGRIEIE hn (199,961) (77,232)
(Increase)/decrease in prepayments, TEfFUE -~ 24 K&

deposits and other receivables H A U IR

(), E A (55,438) 5,019

Increase in loans receivable JE U B FRIE N (29,159) -
Increase in held-for-trading FREEERELM

investments - (53)
Decrease in derivative financial TTESRAaR

liabilities, net W R (6,099) (281)
Increase in trade payables B 5 FE T SRIEI AN 166,413 64,440
(Decrease)/increase in accruals FERTRRIE S H A FE 3R

and other payables H O 2) /150 (6,075) 9,522
Cash used in operations REXBEFAZRE (178,610) (43,862)
Purchase of tax reserve BERS

certificates - (154)
Hong Kong profits tax refund BBMFTED 557 123
Net cash used in RETERFTAZ

operating activities HEFE (178,053) (43,893)

PLERERERAR —E-NE-EFFERS
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

AERERER

For the year ended 31 March 2015
HE-_ZT-—RF=A=1+—RHItFE

2015 2014
—E-HF —ZE-F
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
BRE BT T BT
Cash flows from investing REFRETHZ
activities RERE
Net cash inflow arising from HERBARESE
disposals of subsidiaries ZIREMAFEE 37 - 5,084
Proceeds from disposal of HEATHEERE Y
available-for-sale investments FriS#8 5,113 4,170
Purchase of property, plant BEWE BEKE&E
and equipment (6,572) (2,299)
Purchase of unlisted debt securities ~ B4 RIKEREE 2
from financial institutions I LETEBZESF 23(b) - (5,003)
Proceeds from disposals of property, HEWE - BEM
plant and equipment RAEFTISEIA 37 1,357
Interest received 2 U F| 8 1,322 658
Increase in restricted bank deposits 2 IR TIFIE AN (16,947) (30,033)
Net cash used in investing RETEFABRESFHE
Lactivities L Qnoan (26,066)
Cash flows from financing REMETHZ
activities RERE
Proceeds from exercise of share TIPS A
options 32(a) 29,725 -
Proceeds from exercise of 1TPIE_ E R
non-listed warrants Fr{S5k18 32(b) 36,271 -
Net proceeds from issuance BITIE LM RRIER
of non-listed warrants FrSRIR %58 34 - 3,700
Net proceeds from issuance BITESFMERIRFRE
of bonds 244,360 64,040
Additional bank borrowings BIMRITEE 129,921 38,975
Repayments of bank borrowings BERITEE (132,272 (27,488)
Interest paid EAF S (48,538) (13,384)
Net cash generated from RMEEEBZ
financing activities HEFEEE 259,467 65,843
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
n‘é%ﬂaEEﬁﬁéaiﬁ

For the year ended 31 March 2015
HE_T—AF=-A=1+—HLFE

2015 2014
—E2-HF —ZTNF
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
BI5E BEET T BT IT
Net increase/(decrease)incash HERBEELEEIER
and cash equivalents ®in, CEd) FE 64,367 (4,116)
Cash and cash equivalents FOHRERRAESEE
at beginning of the year EH 104,632 110,499
Effect of foreign exchange IEERBE 2
rate changes (3,213) (1,751)
Cash and cash equivalents FREAGRAEEE
at end of the year IHH 28 165,786 104,632

The notes on pages 80 to 222 are an integral part of these ~ 80 EZEF 222 B 2 Wit I A% Fira 1%

consolidated financial statements. MR 22 -

S ——— . |




GENERAL INFORMATION

PetroAsian Energy Holdings Limited (the “Company”)
is a limited liability company incorporated in the
Cayman lIslands and its shares are listed on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”). The addresses of the registered office
and principal place of business of the Company are
Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand
Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman Islands and Suite 3601,
Tower 6, The Gateway, Harbour City, Tsimshatsui,
Kowloon, Hong Kong, respectively.

The principal activity of the Company is investment
holding. The principal activities of its subsidiaries are
the exploitation and sale of crude oil, sale of chemical
products, provision of exploration drilling and painting
services, trading of commodities, property investment
and money lending business.

These consolidated financial statements are presented
in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”), unless otherwise
stated. These consolidated financial statements have
been approved by the Board of Directors on 26 June
2015.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The principal accounting policies applied in the
preparation of these consolidated financial statements
are set out below. These policies have been
consistently applied to all the years presented, unless
otherwise stated.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mE M BRERME

—RER

R HgRERBRAR(ARRAD B
RASEHSTMRIIZBRAR - HR
MEBEMEXHPAER AR (B
AT b e KRB ZAMPERENRFE
&S B 2 Hi ik 53 Bl & Cricket Square,
Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand
Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman Islands
NEBEBNERDEGERERAE 6 E
3601 = °

ARREBRBRILEER - HHIBEQ
AIZEBXBRUMIR M HE RS - 358
e TEdm - PR ENRE A SR IR
BmE S MERENERER -

BREHIEAIN - ZERE MIBHREAE
(B 25 - ZSHREMBHRE
BER-ZE—RF A=+ "HEEZEES
HEE o

FTESTHBRME
RERSEAMBEREFEAZEES

ATERESIINT - RARBEAI - ZF
BERRAIE 2 FENCERER -

.m PetroAsian Energy Holdings Limited Annual Report 2014 -15




(a)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements of the Company
and its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) have been
prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRS”) issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared under the historical cost convention, as
modified by revaluation of certain available-for-sale
financial investments, held-for-trading investments
and derivative financial assets and liabilities, which are
carried at fair value.

The consolidated financial statements are prepared in
accordance with the applicable requirements of the
predecessor Companies Ordinance (Cap. 32) for this
financial year and the comparative period.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity
with HKFRS requires the use of certain critical
accounting estimates. It also requires management
to exercise its judgement in the process of applying
the Group’s accounting policies. The areas involving
a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas
where assumptions and estimates are significant to
the consolidated financial statements are disclosed in
Note 4.

2

(a)

e R R AR M

FESTTBERBE @)

EREE

ARBREWBAR (FHE [ AEEH])
ZEBMBHRRIIRER S AE
Bz BBV B HREE ([ FEYH
HEEA D MER - FAEPHREE
HRESL AL RmE  WEBBER/ET
AHEESRNE  HIFEENRENR
TEEREENMABIIRAFEAR)
tEHERT

REAREE KB IE R 4R A MR
TORIBERT A RHEDI (55 32 %) #Y@ A AR
EmAREL o

RETEBBMBEME LR Z M HHREK
B AETEEGRHERT o wtih - B
EREAAKEETBRBIET VAR
A o F Rm E A SR R e 2
Bl ks A B mRBERN 2 R&K
Rt 2 SIS BERHITES -
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e VR R

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(b) Changes in accounting policies and
disclosures

() New amendments to standards and
interpretation effective for annual periods
beginning on 1 April 2014:

Amendments to Investment entities
HKFRS 10, HKFRS 12
and HKAS 27 (2011)

Amendment to HKAS 32 Financial instruments:

Presentation - Offsetting
financial assets and
financial liabilities

Amendment to HKAS 36 Recoverable amount
disclosures for non-
financial assets

Amendment to HKAS 39 Financial instruments:

Recognition and
measurement — Novation
of derivatives

HK(IFRIC) - Int 21 Levies

The adoption of the new amendments to
standards and interpretation did not have any
material impact on the preparation of the Group’s
consolidated financial statements.

N

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 FESTTBEREE @)

(b) EFBERREEER22H

0)

HR-F-—MFENA—BFEEF
BRIz R R 2R 2 #1E
AT

ERAMBREERN  REER
E10% - BEHK
ERAE 125N
BEGIHERE 7
(Z2—F) 2K
BEEGIENERY  SmIA: 27-K
ZIBETA HemEERS
BEE

BAGENEI6Y FFERMAEZATN

PACTIEN R ERE
BAGENEY ERIE: BIAR
PACTIEN AE-TETR
LBE

5 (ARERSR: #B
BLREe)-RE
F01%

RNERI M BB ZHER] A iR

SR EGE B IR L EER
BEAFE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHRERME

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2 FESTBEREE @)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(b) Changes in accounting policies and (b) B BEREEERN 228 (&)
disclosures (Continued)

(i) New standards and amendments to (i) SHEAEERERR ERERE
standards have been issued but are not 2 F2ERI R ZER 2 AEFT 7R

effective and have not been early adopted

Effective for
annual periods

beginning on
or after
LA BEigk 2 &
Fta < F [ BAfE A2
Amendment to HKAS 19 (2011) Defined benefit plans: Employee 1 July 2014
contributions
EEGERNF19R(ZT——F) RERNTE - EEHK —E-NFLHA—H
ZAEETAR
Annual improvement project 2012 Annual improvements 2010 — 2012 1 July 2014
cycle
- _FFEUCEER TE-EFE_T-_F —E-NFEHA—H
BT R DU
Annual improvement project 2013 Annual improvements 2011 — 2013 1 July 2014
cycle
—E-=FFENEIER —E—FE_T-=F —E-NFLHA—H
B 2 DU
Annual improvement project 2014 Annual improvements 2012 — 2014 1 January 2016
cycle
—E-NFFENEIER TR FE-_FTNF —ZE-RF—H—H
HEE e
Amendment to HKAS 1 Disclosure initiative 1 January 2016
BERGTERE AR ZIEFTAR WELTE —E-RF—-HA—H
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mE M BRERME

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2 FEIFTHBEREE @)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(b) Changes in accounting policies and (b) B BEREEERN 228 (&)
disclosures (Continued)

(i) New standards and amendments to (i) ERFEEHRERRERIERRK
standards have been issued but are not W2 R RER 2 EFT A ()
effective and have not been early adopted
(Continued)

Effective for
annual periods

beginning on
or after
RUAT BEIs 2 1&
Frta 2 F [ BAfE A 3K
Amendments to HKFRS 10 and Sales or contribution of assets 1 January 2016
HKAS 28 between an investor and its
associates or joint venture
BABMBRELERFE 1098 K% REERABENRSZEE A —T—RF—H—H
BAGTHERE 2858 2R AR ZENEELETIRA
Amendments to HKFRS 10, Investment entities: applying 1 January 2016
HKFRS 12 and HKAS 28 the consolidation exception
HBMBRELRE 1098 - BE WEER  EASOHIIN —E-RF—-H—H
IR ELERE 129 &
BAGTHERE 2858 2R AN
Amendment to HKFRS 11 Accounting for acquisitions 1 January 2016
of interests in joint operations
ERMBRELEE 1R ETR  WENSSERR 2 GTRE —E-RF—-H—H
Amendments to HKAS 16 Clarification of acceptable methods 1 January 2016
and HKAS 38 of depreciation and amortisation
EEETEAFE 169K AEXZTERBERARZEE —T—XR"F—H—H
BAGTHERE 38R BRI
Amendments to HKAS 16 Agriculture: Bearer plants 1 January 2016
and HKAS 41
BB GTTERIE 165 & BE  EEUHED —E-XF¥—-H—H

ARG ERE 4 R ZIEFTA
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHRERME

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2 FESTTHBEREE @)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(b) Changes in accounting policies and (b) B BEREEERN 228 (&)
disclosures (Continued)

(i) New standards and amendments to (i) SHEAEERERR ERERE
standards have been issued but are not W2 FER R ER 2 EFT A ()
effective and have not been early adopted
(Continued)

Effective for
annual periods

beginning on

or after

LA AEAsk 2 1&

e < F E AR A R

Amendment to HKAS 27 Equity method in separate 1 January 2016

financial statements

BERGFTERE 27 R 2ABET AR BN B SRR B R A —E-XF—H—H
HKFRS 9 Financial instruments 1 January 2018

EBP M ELERE 95 eRIA —E-)\F—H—H
HKFRS 14 Regulatory deferral accounts 1 January 2016

ERTEMEERFE 1455 EERLERE —E-RF—H—H
HKFRS 15 Revenue from contracts 1 January 2017

with customers

ERPBIMELERFE 1555 B a KW —E—+F—H—H
The Group is assessing the impacts of these $EIIE%1EEZ%5FE—?E— I K #E R
new standards and amendments to standards BRI AR 22 - I A5 15 A R N

and will apply them once they are effective. VAFER °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e VR R

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(b) Changes in accounting policies and
disclosures (Continued)

(iii) New Hong Kong Companies Ordinance
(Cap.622)

In addition, the requirements of Part 9 “Accounts
and Audit” of the new Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance (Cap. 622) come into operation as
from the Company’s first financial year ending
31 March 2016 in accordance with section 358
of that Ordinance. The Group is in the process
of making an assessment of expected impact of
the changes in the Companies Ordinance on the
consolidated financial statements in the period
of initial application of Part 9 of the new Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622). So far
it has concluded that the impact is unlikely to
be significant and only the presentation and the
disclosure of information in the consolidated
financial statements will be affected.

(c) Subsidiaries
() Consolidation

A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured
entity) over which the Group has control. The
Group controls an entity when the Group is
exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns
from its involvement with the entity and has the
ability to affect those returns through its power
over the entity. Subsidiaries are consolidated
from the date on which control is transferred to
the Group. They are deconsolidated from the
date that control ceases.

N

2 FEIFTHBEREE @)

(b) EMBERRKEEN 228 (5

(i) FEEL ARG (F622F)

o - RIEFT BB R REH (F
622 E ) 5358 1K + & kB E 9 EB
[BRE RFEsT 2REBARRR
HE_T—XR"F=-A=+—HIt
FERABZEBAYBFTERR -
AEBE EFERRED Z 2 g
BRERFEE D RIED (5622
) F OB AU BRI
BHYE - Z5RBEFEBT
C+HEKR WHESGRETE
WMENER 2 27| MIFETREK T

BB

Z o
=

(c) BT

0)

mE

Y /8 2 R Y A SR (B S E A P I A
MER(ERABILER) - EX
SER2EAFRERMY A 20
WAER R ZHRER - AW RE

BEAEZEBNENTEZRS

HARAKREYZERAAE
HiE e B AR EEREEEE
AEEZBEGEAKR - WEA
AR HER L2 BEFEILRS
N
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e R R AR M

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(c) Subsidiaries (Continued)

() Consolidation (Continued)

(@)

Business combinations

The Group applies the acquisition method
to account for business combinations. The
consideration transferred for the acquisition
of a subsidiary is the fair values of the
assets transferred, the liabilities incurred to
the former owners of the acquiree and the
equity interests issued by the Group. The
consideration transferred includes the fair
value of any asset or liability resulting from
a contingent consideration arrangement.
Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities
and contingent liabilities assumed in a
business combination are measured initially
at their fair values at the acquisition date.

The Group recognises any non-controlling
interest in the acquiree on an acquisition-
by-acquisition basis, either at fair value or at
the non-controlling interest’s proportionate
share of the recognised amounts of
acquiree’s identifiable net assets.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as
incurred.

If the business combination is achieved in
stages, the acquisition date carrying value
of the acquirer’s previously held equity
interest in the acquiree is re-measured to
fair value at the acquisition date; any gains
or losses arising from such re-measurement
are recognised in the consolidated income
statement.

2 FEZ

(c) BT

TR E (@)

(%)

() #ZHE (&)

(@

E ) ¥=Nd

AEE T RABEERER
BHARK - WE— B A
Bl R B R BUE T Al
BEANMEZREE  MEL
BERAREEMEITREZ
NFE - FEERERREK
ARBLRBELEZEREE
SBEZRAFE  REHKE
DFIF PTURE 2RI B8 Rl & E %
P BB REARBE "
MELWHEE B 2 2 FHER

=
= °

AEERZFBWRBELE - DL
NSRS IR IEFE Bl AR 2R B
R T Al BB B R E
ERRBBRE LA HERAR
WU HE 7 2 (T Aa] SRR ) 1

N/
s o
T

WREARRAR AN E LR 51
AT

X a Ht o EEET - IR
BB LRI A 2 W T X
AEaNKRBEE B ZREE
DI EE B2 N EEH
AR REBIAEEAZE
AW s S B 1B T AR & W
FPWER ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mE M BRERME

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2 FEIFTHBEREE @)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(c) Subsidiaries (Continued) (c) MHEBAT (&)

()  Consolidation (Continued) (i) #H&E (&)

(@)

Business combinations (Continued)

Any contingent consideration to be
transferred by the Group is recognised
at fair value at the acquisition date.
Subsequent changes to the fair value of the
contingent consideration that is deemed
to be an asset or liability is recognised in
accordance with HKAS 39 either in the
consolidated income statement or as a
change to other comprehensive income.
Contingent consideration that is classified
as equity is not re-measured, and its
subsequent settlement is accounted for
within equity.

The excess of the consideration transferred,
the amount of any non-controlling interest
in the acquiree and the acquisition-date
fair value of any previous equity interest
in the acquiree over the fair value of the
identifiable net assets acquired is recorded
as goodwill. If the total of consideration
transferred, non-controlling interest
recognised and previously held interest
measured is less than the fair value of the
net assets of the subsidiary acquired in the
case of a bargain purchase, the difference
is recognised directly in the consolidated
income statement.

Intra-group transactions, balances and
unrealised gains on transactions between
group companies are eliminated. Unrealised
losses are also eliminated. When necessary,
amounts reported by subsidiaries have
been adjusted to conform with the Group’s
accounting policies.

(@

N

EHE G (&)

REBTEZE ZEAHAN
ERERBEE BRAFERE
R REBEROPRS—
HEEXRBZAARER
FEREZHHERELES
FHERIZE 395k 2 IREMER A
WX R ER SRS
kS EE) c DR SER L
IAREBREHE -
HgEENESEALR

FrEgefE - B m 2 &
a] SEF2E ) 14 4 2 < B K (A
SR U 77 2 B UL
BHEz A THEBEMWE
ARl FEERAFEZE
' DARIIERE o WA
HERAE  DHERIEEGIMT
RS R RI AR E
Z FEREE I P U R B 2 7]
FEEZAFERHER
BzBRAT) BIZEHEE
HENGE WA RER -

SERRIRZHEZEBAR
5~ B MARBHE KT T
PAYTSH - RERERINTH
3o B AR AR B
4 22 8 B A T (R AR R
SETBR 2 °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e R R AR M

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(c) Subsidiaries (Continued)

() Consolidation (Continued)

(b) Changes in ownership interests in

(c)

subsidiaries without change of control

Transactions with non-controlling interests
that do not result in loss of control are
accounted for as equity transactions — that
is, as transactions with the owners in their
capacity as owners. The difference between
fair value of any consideration paid and the
relevant share acquired of the carrying value
of net assets of the subsidiary is recorded
in equity. Gains or losses on disposals to
non-controlling interests are also recorded
in equity.

Disposals of subsidiaries

When the Group ceases to have control,
any retained interest in the entity is re-
measured to its fair value at the date
when control is lost, with the change
in carrying amount recognised in the
consolidated income statement. The fair
value is the initial carrying amount for the
purposes of subsequently accounting
for the retained interest as an associate,
joint venture or financial asset. In addition,
any amounts previously recognised in
other comprehensive income in respect
of that entity are accounted for as if the
Group had directly disposed of the related
assets or liabilities. This may mean that
amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income are reclassified to
the consolidated income statement.

2 FEE

(c) MEATE(

STERLE (@)

&)

() #ZHE (&)

(6)

()
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B EEREE

TEBER RIS 2 JEEH
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ENREAFEEKREER
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TH R HE 2 BB
{ERERS ©

M EHTE 2 7]

REBREITHER  RE
B RBEREAEE
ﬂﬁ*az FEEHE
2 BHEEEEZHNGE
W RKER - StERB AR
e N A s & AEIHE
BMEECREER  EAT
BEAEVIGRIREE - toh - &
AT H fth 2 A UK 25 FE TR B R
FREA M A ERm
AEECEBELERHEE
HEBEZHAAR - ATgE

ERERNAEEMEEK SR
RZEERETHRERE
Hkmﬁ

LEE

ERERBIRAE —B-NE-LFFEHS




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mE M BRERME

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2 FESTTBEREE @)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(c) Subsidiaries (Continued) (c) MHEBAT (&)

(i) Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for
at cost less impairment. Cost includes direct
attributable costs of investment. The results of
subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company
on the basis of dividend received and receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in
subsidiaries is required upon receiving dividends
from these investments if the dividend exceeds
the total comprehensive income of the subsidiary
in the period the dividend is declared or if
the carrying amount of the investment in the
separate financial statements exceeds the
carrying amount in the consolidated financial
statements of the investee’s net assets including
goodwill.

(d) Associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group
has significant influence but not control, generally
accompanying a shareholding of between 20% and
50% of the voting rights. Investments in associates
are accounted for using the equity method of
accounting. Under the equity method, the investment
is initially recognised at cost, and the carrying amount
is increased or decreased to recognise the investor’s
share of the profit or loss of the investee after the date
of acquisition. The Group’s investment in an associate
includes goodwill identified on acquisition.

If the ownership interest in an associate is reduced but
significant influence is retained, only a proportionate
share of the amounts previously recognised in
other comprehensive income is reclassified to the
consolidated income statement where appropriate.

(i) BIBKEHE

A KB & B 2 B T AR AR F0BR
BESIR - RABRKRE 2HE
EIEER - MBARZEERA
RAREW RIS B
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By - AR SR B A REE K
H& VAR 2 E M R AR - S

BB BHRERZREREERE
WIREFEEFE(BEHE)E
*/—\ﬁﬂiiﬁﬁz&ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ
AV BERINB AR ZIRE#
BERIE, ©

(d) BERQT

BERRAARE R HEBINERNTE
HEFHEHI 2 EE - —RITAERERE
20% £50% > R E AR 2 B XM
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(d)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Associates (Continued)

The Group’s share of post-acquisition profit or loss
is recognised in the consolidated income statement,
and its share of post-acquisition movements in
other comprehensive income is recognised in
other comprehensive income with a corresponding
adjustment to the carrying amount of the investment.
When the Group’s share of loss in an associate equals
or exceeds its interest in the associate, including any
other unsecured receivables, the Group does not
recognise further losses, unless it has incurred legal or
constructive obligations or made payments on behalf
of the associate.

The Group determines at each reporting date whether
there is any objective evidence that the investment in
the associate is impaired. If this is the case, the Group
calculates the amount of impairment as the difference
between the recoverable amount of the associate and
its carrying value and recognises the amount adjacent
to ‘share of loss of an associate’ in the consolidated
income statement.

Profits and losses resulting from upstream and
downstream transactions between the Group and
its associate are recognised in the Group’s financial
statements only to the extent of unrelated investor’s
interests in an associate. Unrealised losses are
eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence
of an impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting
policies of associates have been changed where
necessary to ensure consistency with the policies
adopted by the Group.

Gains or losses on dilution of equity interest in an
associate are recognised in the consolidated income
statement.

(d)

e R R AR M
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e VR R

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(e) Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner
consistent with the internal reporting provided to the
chief operating decision-maker (“CODM”). The CODM,
who is responsible for allocating resources and
assessing performance of the operating segments,
has been identified as the executive directors of the
Company that makes strategic decisions.

(f) Foreign currency translation
() Functional and presentation currency

ltems included in the financial statements of
each of the Group’s entities are measured
using the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the entity operates (‘the
functional currency’). The Company’s functional
currency is United States dollars (“US$”) and
since the Company’s shares are listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange, the Board of
Directors considered that it is more appropriate
to adopt HK$ as the Group’s and the Company’s
presentation currency in the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements.

(i) Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated
into the functional currency using the exchange
rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions
or valuation where items are re-measured.
Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting
from the settlement of such transactions and
from the translation at year-end exchange rates
of monetary assets and liabilities denominated
in foreign currencies are recognised in the
consolidated income statement.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(f) Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(ii)

Transactions and balances (Continued)

All foreign exchange gains and losses are
presented in the consolidated income statement
within “Other gains/(losses), net”.

Changes in the fair value of debt securities
denominated in foreign currency classified
as available-for-sale are analysed between
translation differences resulting from changes
in the amortised cost of the security and other
changes in the carrying amount of the security.
Translation differences related to changes in
amortised cost are recognised in consolidated
income statement, and other changes in carrying
amount are recognised in other comprehensive
income.

Translation differences on non-monetary financial
assets and liabilities such as equities held at fair
value through profit or loss are recognised in the
consolidated income statement as part of the
fair value gain or loss. Translation differences on
non-monetary financial assets, such as equities
classified as available-for-sale, are included in
other comprehensive income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mE M BRERME

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2 FESTTBEREE @)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(f) Foreign currency translation (Continued) (f) FNEBRE (&)
(i) £EAQF]

(iii) Group companies

The results and financial position of all the Group
entities (none of which has the currency of a
hyper-inflationary economy) that have a functional
currency different from the presentation currency
are translated into the presentation currency as
follows:

(@) assets and liabilities for each statement of
financial position presented are translated
at the closing rate at the date of that
consolidated statement of financial position;

(b) income and expenses for each income
statement are translated at average
exchange rates (unless this average is not a
reasonable approximation of the cumulative
effect of the rates prevailing on the
transaction dates, in which case income
and expenses are translated at the rate on
the dates of the transactions); and

(c) all resulting exchange differences are
recognised in other comprehensive income.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on
the acquisition of a foreign entity are treated
as assets and liabilities of the foreign entity
and translated at the closing rate. Exchange
translation differences arising are recognised in
other comprehensive income.
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(f)

(9)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(iv) Disposal of foreign operation

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is,
a disposal of the Group’s entire interest in a
foreign operation, or a disposal involving loss
of control over a subsidiary that includes a
foreign operation, a disposal involving loss of
joint control over a joint venture that includes a
foreign operation, or a disposal involving loss
of significant influence over an associate that
includes a foreign operation), all of the currency
translation differences accumulated in equity
in respect of that operation attributable to the
owners of the Company are reclassified to the
consolidated income statement.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment, comprises mainly plant
and machinery, furniture, fixture and equipment, motor
vehicles, oil properties (Note 2(h)) and construction in
progress, is stated at historical cost less depreciation.
Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly
attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s
carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset,
as appropriate, only when it is probable that future
economic benefits associated with the item will flow to
the Group and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is
derecognised. All other repairs and maintenance are
charged to the consolidated income statement during
the financial period in which they are incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mE M BRERME

(9)

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Depreciation, other than oil properties, is calculated
using the straight-line method to allocate their cost to
their residual values over their estimated useful lives,
as follows:

Plant and machinery 5—-11 years
Furniture, fixture and equipment 3-11 years
Motor vehicles 4 — 8 years

Construction-in-progress represents buildings, plant
and machinery under construction and pending
installation and is stated at cost. Cost includes the
costs of construction of buildings, the costs of plant
and machinery, installation, testing and other direct
costs. No depreciation is made on construction-in
progress until the relevant assets are completed and
ready for intended use. When the assets concerned
are brought into use, the costs are transferred to
property, plant and equipment and depreciated in
accordance with the policy as stated above.

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are
reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of
each reporting period.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down
immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s
carrying amount is greater than its estimated
recoverable amount (Note 2(k)).

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by
comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount
and are recognised within “Other gains/(losses), net”
in the consolidated income statement.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(h) Oil properties

(i)

(ii)

Exploration and evaluation

Oil exploration and evaluation expenditures are
accounted for using the “successful efforts”
method of accounting. Costs are accumulated
on a field-by-field basis. Geological and
geophysical costs are expensed as incurred.
Costs directly associated with an exploration
well, and exploration and property leasehold
acquisition costs, are capitalised until the
determination of reserves is evaluated. If it is
determined that commercial discovery has not
been achieved, these costs are charged to
expense.

Capitalisation is made within property, plant and
equipment or intangible assets according to the
nature of the expenditure.

Once commercial reserves are found, exploration
and evaluation assets are tested for impairment
and transferred to development tangible and
intangible assets. No depreciation and/or
amortisation is charged during the exploration
and evaluation phase.

Development assets

Expenditure on the construction, installation
or completion of infrastructure facilities such
as platforms, pipelines and the drilling of
commercially proven development wells, is
capitalised within property, plant and equipment
and other intangible assets according to nature.
When development is completed on a specific
field, it is transferred to oil properties or intangible
assets. No depreciation and/or amortisation is
charged during the development phase.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e VR R

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(h) Oil properties (Continued)

2 FESTTBEREE @)

(h) FHEE (8)

(iii)

(iv)

Oil properties

Qil properties are aggregated exploration and
evaluation tangible assets, and development
expenditures associated with the production of
proved reserves.

Depreciation/amortisation

QOil properties are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation, amortisation and impairment
losses. The successful efforts method of
accounting is used for oil properties. Under
this method, all costs for development wells,
support equipment and facilities, and acquired
proven mineral interests in oil properties are
capitalised. Proven oil reserves are the estimated
quantities of crude oil which geological and
engineering data demonstrate with reasonable
certainty to be recoverable in future years from
known reservoirs under existing economic and
operating conditions, i.e., prices and costs as
of the date the estimate is made. Prices include
consideration of changes in existing prices
provided only by contractual arrangements, but
not on escalations based upon future conditions.

Depletion, depreciation and amortisation of
capitalised costs of oil properties is calculated
on the unit-of-production basis over the total
proven and probable reserves of the relevant
area. The unit-of-production rate for depletion,
depreciation and amortisation of oil properties
takes into account the expenditure incurred to
date, together with projected future development
expenditure and the volume of oil produced in
the current year.

(iii)

(iv)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(h) Oil properties (Continued)

(v)

(vi)

Impairment — exploration and evaluation
assets

Exploration and evaluation assets are tested for
impairment when reclassified to development
assets, or whenever facts and circumstances
indicate impairment. An impairment loss
is recognised for the amount by which the
exploration and evaluation assets’ carrying
amount exceeds their recoverable amount.
The recoverable amount is the higher of the
exploration and evaluation assets’ fair value
less costs to sell and their value in use. For
the purposes of assessing impairment, the
exploration and evaluation assets subject to
testing are grouped with existing cash-generating
units of production fields that are located in the
same geographical region.

Impairment - development assets, oil
properties and plant and machineries

Development assets, oil properties and plant
and machineries are reviewed for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount may not be
recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised
for the amount by which the asset’s carrying
amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The
recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s
fair value less costs to sell and value in use. For
the purposes of assessing impairment, assets
are grouped at the lowest levels for which there
are separately identifiable cash flows.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mE M BRERME

(i)

)

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held for long-
term rental yields or for capital appreciation or both,
and that is not occupied by the Group. Investment
properties are initially measured at cost, including
related transaction costs and where applicable
borrowing costs. After initial recognition, investment
properties are stated at cost less subsequent
accumulated depreciation and any accumulated
impairment losses. Depreciation is recognised so as
to write off the cost of investment properties over the
shorter of the term of the lease and 50 years, using
the straight-line method.

Intangible assets
() Goodwill

Goodwill arises on the acquisition of subsidiaries
and associates represents the excess of
consideration transferred over the Group’s
interest in net fair value of the identifiable assets,
liabilities and contingent liabilities of the acquiree
and the fair value of the non-controlling interest
in the acquiree.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Intangible assets (Continued)

(i)

(ii)

Goodwill (Continued)

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill
acquired in a business combination is allocated
to each of the cash-generating units (“CGUs”), or
groups of CGUs, that is expected to benefit from
the synergies of the combination. Each unit or
group of units to which the goodwill is allocated
represents the lowest level within the entity at
which the goodwill is monitored for internal
management purposes. Goodwill is monitored at
the operating segment level.

Goodwill impairment reviews are undertaken
annually or more frequently if events or changes
in circumstances indicate a potential impairment.
The carrying value of goodwill is compared to the
recoverable amount, which is the higher of value
in use and the fair value less costs of disposal.
Any impairment is recognised immediately as an
expense and is not subsequently reversed.

Exploitation licences

Exploitation licences acquired are shown at
historical cost and have a finite useful life and are
carried at cost less accumulated amortisation.
Amortisation is calculated using unit-of-
production method. The units of exploitation
rights are reviewed annually in accordance
with the production plans of the Group and the
proved and probable reserves of the crude oil.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mE M BRERME

)]

(k)

()

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Intangible assets (Continued)
(iii) Customer relationships

Customer relationships acquired in a business
combination are recognised at fair value at
the acquisition date. The customer relations
have a finite useful life and are carried at cost
less accumulated amortisation. Amortisation is
calculated using the straight-line method of ten
years over the expected life of the customer
relationship.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Assets that have an indefinite useful life — for example,
goodwill — are not subject to amortisation and are
tested annually for impairment. Assets that are subject
to amortisation are reviewed for impairment whenever
events or changes in circumstances indicate that
the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An
impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which
the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable
amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an
asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use.
For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets
are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are
separately identifiable cash flows (cash-generating
units). Non-financial assets other than goodwill that
suffered an impairment are reviewed for possible
reversal of the impairment at each reporting date.

Financial assets
(i) Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets in
the following categories: held-for-trading
investments, loans and receivables and
available-for-sale. The classification depends
on the purpose for which the financial assets
were acquired. Management determines the
classification of its financial assets at initial
recognition.
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()

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e R R AR M

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2 FESTTBEREE @)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued) ) =HMEEGE)
() Classification (Continued) () DHEGE)
(a) Held-for-trading investments (a) FHIEEEKE

Held-for-trading investments are financial
assets held-for-trading. A financial asset
is classified in this category if acquired
principally for the purpose of selling
in the short term. Derivatives are also
categorised as held-for-trading unless they
are designated as hedges. Assets in this
category are classified as current assets if
expected to be settled within 12 months;
otherwise, they are classified as non-current.
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(b) Loans and receivables (b) EFRELKFE
Loans and receivables are non-derivative B R EBFIERIENT A
financial assets with fixed or determinable BreMEBEE WERETE
payments that are not quoted in an active NAFECERE BE
market. They are included in current assets, EBTIS I ERE o BRIV
except for the amounts that are settled EHREBAT—EAHEE
or expected to be settled more than 12 NIBHEE 2 ER R E WK
months after the end of the reporting period. EAN - BRI ARBDEE
These are classified as non-current assets. Ne ZZFEENBERIERD
The Group’s loans and receivables comprise BE -AEBZEFRMER
“Trade receivables, deposits and other HEBEGEE R /“_Tﬁﬁ‘iﬂji
receivables and loans receivable” (Note 2(p)), MEFR 285 EWFIA
“Cash and bank balances” (Note 2(q)) in the B HEMEREKIE &}EH&
consolidated and company statement of B3 (MsE2p) & [Rek
financial position. IR1TEESR I (FIRE2(q) °

(c) Available-for-sale financial investments c) AHRANELHKRE

Available-for-sale financial investments are
non-derivatives that are either designated
in this category or not classified in any of
the other categories. They are included in
non-current assets unless the investment
matures or management intends to dispose
of it within 12 months of the end of the
reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mE M BRERME

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2 FEIFTHBEREE @)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

() Financial assets (Continued) n =mEEGE)
(i) Recognition and measurement (i) HERARFE

Regular way purchases and sales of financial
assets are recognised on the trade-date,
the date on which the Group commits to
purchase or sell the asset. Investments are
initially recognised at fair value plus transaction
costs for all financial assets not carried at fair
value through profit or loss. Held-for-trading
investments are initially recognised at fair value,
and transaction costs are expensed in the
consolidated income statement. Financial assets
are derecognised when the rights to receive cash
flows from the investments have expired or have
been transferred and the Group has transferred
substantially all risks and rewards of ownership.
Available-for-sale financial investments and
financial assets held-for-trading investments
are subsequently carried at fair value. Loans
and receivables are subsequently carried at
amortised cost using the effective interest
method.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair
value of the held-for-trading investments are
presented in the consolidated income statement
within “Other gains/(losses), net” in the period
in which they arise. Dividend income from
held-for-trading investments is recognised in
the consolidated income statement as part of
other income when the Group’s right to receive
payments is established.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e R R AR M

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2 FESTBEREE @)

()

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued) SREE (&)
(i) Recognition and measurement (Continued) (i) MmRARE(E)

Changes in the fair value of monetary and non-
monetary securities classified as available-for-
sale are recognised in other comprehensive
income.

When securities classified as available-for-sale
are sold or impaired, the accumulated fair value
adjustments recognised in equity are included
in the consolidated income statement as “Other
gains/(losses), net”.

Interest on available-for-sale securities calculated
using the effective interest method is recognised
in the consolidated income statement as part
of other income. Dividends on available-for-
sale equity instruments are recognised in the
consolidated income statement as part of
other income when the Group’s right to receive
payments is established.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mE M BRERME

2

(m)

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets

Assets carried at amortised cost

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting
period whether there is objective evidence that a
financial asset or group of financial assets is impaired.
A financial asset or a group of financial assets is
impaired and impairment losses are incurred only if
there is objective evidence of impairment as a result
of one or more events that occurred after the initial
recognition of the asset (a ‘loss event’) and that loss
event (or events) has an impact on the estimated
future cash flows of the financial asset or group of
financial assets that can be reliably estimated.

Evidence of impairment may include indications that
the debtors or a group of debtors is experiencing
significant financial difficulty, default or delinquency in
interest or principal payments, the probability that they
will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation,
and where observable data indicate that there is a
measurable decrease in the estimated future cash
flows, such as changes in arrears or economic
conditions that correlate with defaults.
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2

(m)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Assets carried at amortised cost (Continued)

For loans and receivables category, the amount of the
loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the present value of estimated
future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that
have not been incurred) discounted at the financial
asset’s original effective interest rate. The carrying
amount of the asset is reduced and the amount of
the loss is recognised in the consolidated income
statement. If a loan or held-to-maturity investment has
a variable interest rate, the discount rate for measuring
any impairment loss is the current effective interest
rate determined under the contract. As a practical
expedient, the Group may measure impairment on the
basis of an instrument’s fair value using an observable
market price.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the
impairment loss decreases and the decrease can
be related objectively to an event occurring after the
impairment was recognised (such as an improvement
in the debtor’s credit rating), the reversal of the
previously recognised impairment loss is recognised in
the consolidated income statement. Any subsequent
events or evidence proved that the impaired amount
cannot be recoverable, it was written off and
derecognised from the consolidated and company
statement of financial position.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mE M BRERME

(n)

(o)

(p)

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Derivative financial instruments

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on
the date a derivative contract is entered into and are
subsequently re-measured at their fair value. Assets
and liabilities are classified as current if expected
to be settled within 12 months; otherwise, they are
classified as non-current.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value
of the derivatives are presented in the consolidated
income statement within “Other gains/(losses), net” in
the period in which they arise.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and
net realisable value. Cost is determined using the
weighted average method. Net realisable value
represents the estimated selling price in the ordinary
course of business, less applicable variable selling
expenses.

Trade receivables, deposits, other
receivables and loans receivable

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers
for merchandise sold or services performed in the
ordinary course of business. If collection/realisation
of trade receivables, deposits, other receivables and
loans receivable is expected in one year or less (or in
the normal operating cycle of the business if longer),
they are classified as current assets. If not, they are
presented as non-current assets.

Trade receivables, deposits, other receivables and
loans receivable are recognised initially at fair value
and subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method, less provision for
impairment.

(n)

(o)

(p)

FTESTTBERBE @)

pTEE®mMTA
PTETEMPEAPTET AA DRI A
Hi 2 N ERR - BERAFEEH
E-MEERBBREHN12EARNE
& AoBARBEERARE A
DERIERDEEREE -

TTETARNHERESEL ZBENEL
HiRZ A fra e ke[ Bt s (8
8 FEIA-

7

T TR R A B EME P 2 8
55518 - B TYE B BT 1k 8
o ATBILEEIE BB
HE@AANZ TRHERS -

EZRWHE - £E  EtERR
HURERER

BRI FIAERR B % E K IBIET 315
SR meRHREMERT PRI
B MEZEEHE - e - HEWR
PIALA N M E TR IBEH I —F 3 —F
AR (S E REFEBEERRBKEE
HIE RS ) @ 3R - RIDIRRENE
E o BRI RS EETIH -

BIRWFIA ~ e - B RUGRIANL
KW E RN T AR EHER - H1&F
FAE BRI BRI 2 i SH R AR HIRR R (B B 5

e o

.m PetroAsian Energy Holdings Limited Annual Report 2014 -15




(a)

(r)

(s)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Cash and bank balances

Cash and bank balances include cash in hand,
deposits held at call with banks, other short-term
highly liquid investments with original maturities of
three months or less, and bank overdrafts which
are repayable on demand form an integral part of
the Group’s cash management and often fluctuate
from being positive to overdraft. In the consolidated
and company statement of financial position, bank
overdrafts are shown within bank borrowings in
current liabilities.

Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue
of new shares or options are shown in equity as a
deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

Trade payables, accruals and other
payables

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or
services that have been acquired in the ordinary
course of business from suppliers. Trade payables are
classified as current liabilities if payment is due within
one year or less (or in the normal operating cycle of
the business if longer). If not, they are presented as
non-current liabilities.

Trade payables, accruals and other payables are
recognised initially at fair value and subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mE M BRERME

(t)

(u)

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value,
net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are
subsequently carried at amortised cost. Any difference
between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and
the redemption value is recognised in the consolidated
income statement over the period of the borrowings
using the effective interest method.

Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are
recognised as transaction costs of the loan to the
extent that it is probable that some or all of the facility
will be drawn down. In this case, the fee is deferred
until the draw-down occurs. To the extent there is
no evidence that it is probable that some or all of the
facility will be drawn down, the fee is capitalised as a
pre-payment for liquidity services and amortised over
the period of the facility to which it relates.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless
the Group has an unconditional right to defer
settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after
the end of the reporting period.

Borrowing costs

General and specific borrowing costs directly
attributable to the acquisition, construction or
production of qualifying assets, which are assets that
necessarily take a substantial period of time to get
ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the
cost of those assets until such time as the assets are
substantially ready for their intended use or sale.
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(u)

(v)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Borrowing costs (Continued)

Investment income earned on the temporary
investment of specific borrowings pending their
expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the
borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised as expense
and included in finance costs in consolidated income
statement in the year in which they are incurred.

Current and deferred income tax

The tax expense for the period comprises current and
deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the consolidated
income statement, except to the extent that it relates
to items recognised in other comprehensive income
or directly in equity. In this case the tax is also
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly
in equity, respectively.

(i)  Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on
the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively
enacted at the statement of financial position
date in the countries where the Group and
associates operate and generate taxable income.
Management periodically evaluates positions
taken in tax returns with respect to situations
in which applicable tax regulation is subject to
interpretation. It establishes provisions where
appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to
be paid to the tax authorities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mE M BRERME

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2 FEIFTHBEREE @)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(v) Current and deferred income tax

(v) BVHIREZEFREH (M)

(Continued)

(i) Deferred income tax (i) ELEFTEH
Inside basis differences A B R EZEE

Deferred income tax is recognised, using the
liability method, on temporary differences arising
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities
and their carrying amounts in the consolidated
financial statements. However, deferred tax
liabilities are not recognised if they arise from
the initial recognition of goodwill, the deferred
income tax is not accounted for if it arises from
initial recognition of an asset or liability in a
transaction other than a business combination
that at the time of the transaction affects neither
accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred
income tax is determined using tax rates (and
laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the statement of financial position
date and are expected to apply when the related
deferred income tax asset is realised or the
deferred income tax liability is settled.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised
only to the extent that it is probable that future
taxable profit will be available against which the
temporary differences can be utilised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(v) Current and deferred income tax
(Continued)

(i)

Deferred income tax (Continued)
Outside basis differences

Deferred income tax liabilities are provided
on taxable temporary differences arising from
investments in subsidiaries, associates and
joint arrangements, except for deferred income
tax liability where the timing of the reversal of
the temporary difference is controlled by the
Group and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable
future. Generally the Group is unable to control
the reversal of the temporary difference for
associates. Only where there is an agreement in
place that gives the Group the ability to control
the reversal of the temporary difference in the
foreseeable future, deferred tax liability in relation
to taxable temporary differences arising from the
associate’s undistributed profit is not recognised.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised on
deductible temporary differences arising from
investments in subsidiaries and an associate only
to the extent that it is probable the temporary
difference will reverse in the future and there is
sufficient taxable profit available against which
the temporary difference can be utilised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e VR R

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(v) Current and deferred income tax
(Continued)

(iii) Offsetting

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are
offset when there is a legally enforceable right
to offset current tax assets against current tax
liabilities and when the deferred income taxes
assets and liabilities relate to income taxes levied
by the same taxation authority on either the
taxable entity or different taxable entities where
there is an intention to settle the balances on a
net basis.

(w) Retirement benefit costs

The Group maintains a number of defined contribution
plans in the countries in which it operates, the assets
of the retirement benefit are generally held in separate
trustees-administered funds. The retirement plans are
generally funded by payments from employees and by
the Group.

() Pension obligations

A defined contribution plan is a pension plan
under which the Group pays fixed contributions
into a separate entity. The Group has no legal
or constructive obligations to pay further
contributions if the fund does not hold sufficient
assets to pay all employees the benefits relating
to employee service in the current and prior
periods.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(w) Retirement benefit costs (Continued)

(i)

(ii)

Pension obligations (Continued)

The Group pays contributions to publicly or
privately administered pension insurance plans
on a mandatory, contractual or voluntary basis.
The Group has no further payment obligations
once the contributions have been paid. The
contributions are recognised as employee
benefit expense when they are due. Prepaid
contributions are recognised as an asset to the
extent that a cash refund or a reduction in the
future payments is available.

Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave are
recognised when they accrue to employees. A
provision is made for the estimated liability for
annual leave as a result of services rendered by
employees up to the reporting date. Employee
entitlements to sick leave and maternity leave are
not recognised until the time of leave.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mE M BRERME

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2 FEIFTHBEREE @)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(x) Share-based payment transactions

(x) ARO[ ZREZRS

(i)

Equity-settled share-based payment
transactions

The Group operates a number of equity-settled,
share-based compensation plans, under which
the entity receives services from employees or
suppliers as consideration for equity instruments
(options or warrants) of the Group. The fair value
of the employee or suppliers services received
in exchange for the grant of the options is
recognised as an expense. The total amount to
be expensed is determined by reference to the
fair value of the options or warrants granted:

° including any market performance
conditions (for example, an entity’s share
price);

° excluding the impact of any service and
non-market performance vesting conditions
(for example, profitability, sales growth
targets and remaining an employee of the
entity over a specified time period); and

o including the impact of any non-vesting
conditions (for example, the requirement for
employees to save).

Non-market performance and service conditions
are included in assumptions about the number
of options or warrants that are expected to vest.
The total expense is recognised over the vesting
period, which is the period over which all of the
specified vesting conditions are to be satisfied.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(x) Share-based payment transactions
(Continued)

(i)

(ii)

Equity-settled share-based payment
transactions (Continued)

In addition, in some circumstances employees or
suppliers may provide services in advance of the
grant date and therefore the grant date fair value
is estimated for the purposes of recognising
the expense during the period between service
commencement period and grant date.

At the end of each reporting period, the
Group revises its estimates of the number of
options or warrants that are expected to vest
based on the non-marketing performance and
service conditions. It recognises the impact
of the revision to original estimates, if any, in
the consolidated income statement, with a
corresponding adjustment to equity.

When the options or warrants are exercised,
the Company issues new shares. The proceeds
received net of any directly attributable
transaction costs are credited to share capital
(nominal value) and share premium.

Share-based payment transactions among
group entities

The grant by the Company of options over its
equity instruments to the employees of subsidiary
undertakings in the Group is treated as a capital
contribution. The fair value of employee services
received, measured by reference to the grant
date fair value, is recognised over the vesting
period as an increase to investment in subsidiary
undertakings, with a corresponding credit to
equity in the Company’s financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mE M BRERME

(v)

()

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a
present legal or constructive obligation as a result
of past events, and it is probable that an outflow of
resources will be required to settle the obligation, and
the amount has been reliably estimated.

Provisions, including those arising from the contractual
obligation specified in the service concession
arrangement to maintain or restore the infrastructure
before it is handed over to the granter, are measured
at the best estimate of the consideration required to
settle the present obligation at the end of the reporting
period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties
surrounding the obligation. Where a provision is
measured using the cash flows estimated to settle
present obligation, its carrying amount is the present
value of those cash flows (where the effect is material).

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the
consideration received or receivable and represents
amounts receivable for goods sold and services
provided in the normal course of business, net
of discounts and sales related taxes. The Group
recognises revenue when the amount of revenue can
be reliably measured; when it is probable that future
economic benefits will flow to the entity; and when
specific criteria have been met for each of the Group’s
activities, as described below. The Group bases
its estimates of return on historical results, taking
into consideration the type of customer, the type of
transaction and the specifics of each arrangement.

Revenue from sale of crude oil, commodities and
chemical products is recognised when the goods are
delivered and title has passed.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

When the outcome of a service contract can
be estimated reliably, revenue from a fixed price
service contract is recognised on the percentage
of completion method, measured by reference to
the value of work carried out during the period.
When the outcome of a service contract cannot be
estimated reliably, revenue is recognised only to the
extent of contract costs incurred that is probable will
be recoverable. Contract costs are recognised as
expenses in the period in which they are incurred.

When it is probable that total contract costs will
exceed total contract revenue, the expected loss is
recognised as an expense immediately.

Revenue from money lending and interest income is
recognised using the effective interest method. When
a loan and receivable is impaired, the Group reduces
the carrying amount to its recoverable amount, being
the estimated future cash flow discounted at the
original effective interest rate of the instrument, and
continues unwinding the discount as interest income.
Interest income on impaired loans and receivables are
recognised using the original effective interest rate.

Dividend income from investments is recognised when
the shareholders’ rights to receive payment have been
established.

(aa) Leases

Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and
rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor are
classified as operating leases. Payments made under
operating leases (net of any incentives received from
the lessor) are charged to the consolidated income
statement on a straight-line basis over the period of
the lease.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mE M BRERME

(a)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

Financial risk factors

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial
risks: market risk (including foreign currency risk, fair
value interest rate risk, cash flow interest rate risk and
price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group’s
overall risk management programme focuses on
the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks
to minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s
financial performance. The Group uses derivative
financial instruments to economically hedge certain
risk exposures. The financial instruments held by the
Group as at 31 March 2015 and 2014 are set out as
follows:

3
(a)

IR ET

ﬁ?ﬁ%lﬁtlﬁilﬂi
$%E’U¥?f§§§%§bﬁ§ﬁ?ﬁ%ﬂ @ (B
ﬁl\?ﬁgﬁhﬁ C RFENRER imuﬂ
Rk & EERER) - EERR RS
ééﬂ nELBYKRELR - K%IE’J;'W

FleERtE ST RESRTISNT
EﬂEﬂI% WHITRE S AR E B 5K
BNBEINTZE - REEBRATES
Fﬁiqjiﬂftzé/m ﬁ/#ﬁﬁﬁﬁuum%:‘:ﬂ
b o REBR _Z-—HFR_ZT—WF
ZA=tT— BBz R T AHIm
T

2015 2014
—F-HF —T—mF
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT T
Financial assets ERMEE
Loans and receivables B R FIE
(including cash and (BERek
bank balances) RITHER) 586,905 297,748
Held-for-trading investments ~ $HEEERE 132 162
Available-for-sale investments At HEIRE 47,647 79,317
Derivative financial assets PTETREE - 746
634,684 377,973
Financial liabilities TRIBE
Trade and other payables 2 5 RHEAMERFIR 321,129 178,972
Derivative financial liabilities TETRAs 26,742 38,066
Bank borrowings RITEE 46,624 48,975
Bonds &% 263,329 52,576
657,824 318,589
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(a)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(Continued)
Financial risk factors (Continued)

Management monitors and manages the financial risk
relating to the Group through internal risk assessment
which analyses exposures by degree and magnitude
of risks. The policies on how to mitigate these risks
are set out below. Management manages and
monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate
measures are implemented on a timely and effective
manner.

(i)

Market risk
Foreign currency risk management

The Group conducts its treasury functions and
maintains certain cash and bank balances, bank
borrowings and bonds in foreign currencies,
hence is exposed to foreign currency risk. The
Group manages its foreign currency risk by
closely monitoring the movements of the foreign
currency exchange rates. The Group currently
does not have a foreign currency hedging
policy. However, management monitors foreign
exchange exposure and will consider hedging
significant foreign currency exposure should the
need arises.

3
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e VR R

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 3

(Continued)

(i) Market risk (Continued)
Foreign currency risk management (Continued)

The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign
currency denominated monetary assets and
monetary liabilities at the reporting date are as

(a) Financial risk factors (Continued) (a)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B R f B IR ()

B % B B (R & (&)
() TREE(E)

SN R B E ()

REBUIINESIENEEEER
BEMaENREAHNEREEER
T

The following table indicates the approximate
change in the Group’s loss in response to
reasonably possible changes in the foreign
exchange rates to which the Group has
significant exposure at the end of the reporting
period.

follows:
Assets Liabilities
BE g

2015 2014 2015 2014
—Z-1fF “E-mF “Z-5f —T-mF
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BETFT BT BT
HK$ B 297,231 199,832 269,259 119,652
Us$ £ 159,111 75,034 235,622 140,486
Renminbi (RMB")  ARE([AR%]) 169,739 95,760 150,184 54,897
Others Hith 8,603 7,347 2,759 3,554

Foreign currency sensitivity S 1 K

TRETHABRAEBERSENE
R EVEE R R E R & BB
HE)MN A K BB RS AL
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(Continued)
(@) Financial risk factors (Continued)

(i)

Market risk (Continued)
Foreign currency sensitivity (Continued)

The sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding
foreign currency denominated monetary items
and adjusts their translation at the year end for a
5% (2014: 5%) change in foreign currency rates.
A positive/(negative) number below indicates a
decrease/(increase) in post-tax loss (2014: same)
where RMB, HK$ and other currencies (2014:
same) strengthen against the relevant functional
currency of the Group entities, that is US$. For
a 5% (2014: 5%) weakening of RMB, HK$ and
other currencies against the relevant functional
currency of the Group entities, that is US$, there
would be an equal and opposite impact on the
post-tax loss.
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2015 2014
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HK$’000 HK$’000

BEET T BT

HKS$ ke 1,399 4,009
RMB AR 978 2,043
Others B 292 190
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mE M BRERME

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(Continued)
(a) Financial risk factors (Continued)

(i)

Market risk (Continued)
Interest rate risk management

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate
risk in relation to fixed-rate bonds (Note 36) and
loans receivable (Note 26). The Group is also
exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in relation
to bank balances, variable-rate bank borrowings
and derivative financial liabilities.

The Group’s cash flow interest risk is mainly
concentrated on the fluctuation of Hong Kong
Interbank Offered Rate (“HIBOR”) arising from
the Group’s HK$ denominated borrowings.

Interest rate sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analyses below have been
determined based on the exposure to interest
rates for bank and other borrowings. The
analysis is prepared assuming the bank and
the borrowings outstanding at the end of the
reporting period were outstanding for the whole
year. A 50 basis point (2014: 50 basis points)
increase or decrease for variable-rate bank
borrowings is used for interest rate sensitivity
analysis and represents management’s
assessment of the reasonably possible change
in interest rates.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e R R AR M

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(Continued)
(@) Financial risk factors (Continued)

(i)

Market risk (Continued)

Interest rate sensitivity analysis (Continued)

(1)

Cash flow interest rate risk

In order to keep borrowings at fixed rate
and to minimise the cash flow interest rate
risk, the Group enters into floating to fixed
interest rate swaps to manage the cash
flow interest rate risk exposure associated
with certain amount of borrowings that
carry interests at floating rate totalling
HK$46,624,000 (2014: HK$48,975,000).

If interest rates had been 50 basis points
(2014: 50 basis points) higher/lower and
all other variables were held constant, the
Group’s pre-tax loss derived from variable-
rate borrowings for the year ended 31
March 2015 would increase/decrease by
HK$233,000 (2014: HK$245,000).

There is no material cash flow interest rate
risk in relation to bank balances.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e VR R

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(Continued)
(@) Financial risk factors (Continued)
() Market risk (Continued)
Interest rate sensitivity analysis (Continued)
(2) Fair value interest rate risk

The Group’s bonds and loans receivable
were issued at fixed rates and expose the
Group to fair value interest rate risk. As at
31 March 2015, the Group has bonds of
HK$263,329,000 (2014: HK$52,576,000)
and loan receivables of HK$29,159,000
(2014 Nil) carried at fixed rate.

If interest rates had been 50 basis points
(2014: 50 basis points) higher/lower and
all other variables were held constant, the
Group’s pre-tax loss derived from fixed-rate
bonds for the year ended 31 March 2015
would decrease/increase by HK$737,000
(2014: HK$27,000) as a result of decrease/
increase in fair value of fixed rate bonds.
The effect of changes in interest rate on
amortised amounts of loans receivable is
not significant.

Other price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price risk
through its investments in listed equity securities
and unquoted equity securities. Decisions to
buy or sell listed equity securities are based on
daily monitoring of the performance of individual
securities compared to index of relevant stock
markets and other industry indicators.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

(@) Financial risk factors (Continued)

(i)

(ii)

Market risk (Continued)
Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analyses below have been
determined based on the exposure to equity
price risk at the reporting date.

If the prices of the respective equity instruments
had been 10% (2014: 10%) higher/lower,
the Group’s post-tax loss for the year ended
31 March 2015 would decrease/increase by
HK$13,000 (2014: HK$16,000) as a result of
the changes in fair value of held-for-trading
investments.

If the prices of the listed equity securities
had been 10% (2014: 10%) higher/lower, the
Group’s investment valuation reserve would
increase/decrease by HK$4,765,000 (2014:
HK$7,431,000) as a result of the changes in fair
value of available-for-sale financial assets.

No sensitivity analysis is presented for the
Group’s investments in unquoted equity
securities which are measured at cost less any
identified impairment losses at the end of each
reporting period.

Credit risk

As at 31 March 2015, the Group’s maximum
exposure to credit risk which will cause a financial
loss to the Group due to failure to discharge an
obligation by the counterparties is arising from
the carrying amount of the respective recognised
financial assets as stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position.

e R R AR M

3 HBEREE @

(a) MERERREZE(#E)
() TEEE (&)
B E T

ATOBRESITEREBENRE
B AR RAERRRE

WEEMNBRATANERGE
A TEHA0%(ZF — U4
10%) ' AIAEEREBE—_ZS—1
FZA=ZT—HILFENBRTEZ
EEEEAREEERENQF
EE B MR L3I % 13,000
TL(ZZE—E4F : B%16,0007T) °

i EIRAFBSHHER AT
B10% (ZF — U4 : 10%) * Al
AEEMNKREGHEREBSRET
HEESHEEN QN FLEESM
A0, R B 4,765,000 7T (=
—PO4 : B# 7,431,000 7T) °

HRANEERIFETRAESZ
RENEREHRZ AT
] Al Al 2 BB B RETE
eI 2 5 BRE AT o

(i) EERERE

RZFE-RF=ZA=+—80"#
SERBF I AREBRITEEMER
AEBERZUBBRINAEE K
REERRT B BHRREK
%L%EE%%W&@%E%@
BFFEX -

LEE

ERERBIRAE —B-NE-LFFEHS 127




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mE M BRERME

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(Continued)
(a) Financial risk factors (Continued)

(i)

Credit risk (Continued)

In order to minimise the credit risk, management
of the Group has delegated a team responsible
for determination of credit limits, credit approvals
and other monitoring procedures to ensure that
follow-up action is taken to recover overdue
debts. In addition, the Group reviews the
recoverable amount of each individual trade
debt at the end of the reporting period to ensure
that adequate impairment losses are made
for irrecoverable amounts. In this regard, the
directors of the Company consider that the
Group’s credit risk is significantly reduced.

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because
the counterparties are banks or financial
institutions with high credit ratings assigned by
international credit-rating agencies or state-
owned banks in the People’s Republic of China
(the “PRC”).

Loans receivable were made to borrowers with
an appropriate credit history. The Group has
policies that limit the amount of credit exposure
to any borrower. No provisions for unrecoverable
loan receivables has been made in the current
and prior accounting periods after considering
no loan receivables were past due.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(Continued)
(@) Financial risk factors (Continued)

(ii)

Credit risk (Continued)

The Group has concentration of credit risk as
45% (2014: 64%) and 88% (2014: 98%) of the
total trade receivables and loans receivable was
due from the Group’s largest debtor and the five
largest debtors respectively within the commodity
trading and chemical products segments (2014
the commodity trading, chemical products and
service contract segments).

The Group has assessed the credit worthiness
of these customers and all of these customers
have good historical repayment records and
of low default rate. In this regard, the directors
considered that the credit risk is low. The Group
also has concentration of geographical risk as
approximately 51% (2014: 76%) of the Group’s
revenue was generated from the customers from
Malaysia.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mE M BRERME

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 3 BIEERER @)

(Continued)

(a) Financial risk factors (Continued) (a) B¥EEBEEZE (&)
(iii) Liquidity risk (i) REELEER
Liquidity risk management B E TR R &
In the management of liquidity risk, the Group EBRIEcRRE - KEE

monitors and maintains a level of cash and bank
balances deemed adequate by the management
to finance the Group’s operations and mitigate
the effects of fluctuations in cash flows. The
management monitors the utilisation of bank and
other borrowings and ensures compliance with
loan covenants and timely negotiates with the
lenders if any non-compliance is expected.

The Group relies on bank and other borrowings
as a significant source of liquidity. As at
31 March 2015, the Group has available
unutilised overdraft and short-term bank
loan facilities of HK$206,415,000 (2014:
HK$9,025,000).

Liquidity and interest risk tables

The following table details the Group’s remaining
contractual maturity for its non-derivative
financial liabilities. The table has been drawn
up based on the undiscounted cash flows of
financial liabilities based on the earliest date on
which the Group can be required to pay. The
maturity dates for other non-derivative financial
liabilities are based on the agreed repayment
dates. The table includes both interest and
principal cash flows. To the extent that interest
flows are at floating rates, the undiscounted
amount is derived from the weighted average
interest rates by reference to the HIBOR of the
Group’s variable-rate borrowings at the end of
the reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e R R AR M

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 3 HRRERE@

(Continued)

(a) Financial risk factors (Continued) (a) BA¥EREBEEZE (&)
(iii) Liquidity risk (Continued) (iii) "BELREE (&)

Liquidity and interest risk tables (Continued)

In addition, the following table details the Group’s
liquidity analysis for its derivative financial
instruments, except for the issued warrants
classified as derivative financial instruments,
since the settlement of which would be satisfied
by the issue of new ordinary shares and does
not involve any cash outflows. The tables have
been drawn up based on the undiscounted
contractual net cash outflows on derivative
instruments (except for the issued warrants
classified as derivative financial instruments)
that settle on a net basis. When the amount
payable is not fixed, the amount disclosed has
been determined by reference to the projected
interest rates as illustrated by the weighted
average interest rate by reference to HIBOR of
the Group’s variable-rate borrowings and the
terms stipulated in the contract of derivative
financial instruments existing at the end of the
reporting period. The liquidity analysis for the
Group’s derivative financial instruments (except
for the issued warrants classified as derivative
financial instruments) are prepared based on
the contractual maturities as the management
consider that the contractual maturities are
essential for an understanding of the timing of
the cash flows of derivatives.
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e B R Rk M AL
3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 3 WIKEKRERE @
(Continued)
(a) Financial risk factors (Continued) (a) B¥EEBEEZE (&)
(i) Liquidity risk (Continued) (i) "BELREE (&)
Liquidity and interest risk tables (Continued) BB RFIFE R (E)
Weighted
average Total
interest 1-2 2:5 Over undiscounted Carrying
rate  Within 1 year years years 5Syears  cashflows amount
RRRS
METSHE MER 128 258 SENL il ki
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$000
[l YT BRI BRI BRI AR AR
Group A5H
AsatdtMach2015  HZE-1E
=R=1-H
Trade payables BAEMTE 295,061 - - - 295,061 295,061
Other payables EA AT 26,068 - - - 26,068 26,068
Bank borrowings i1
(Note (2) (Wit @) 209 41507 - - - 41507 46,624
Bonds (Note () AR 509
to £19.27 11,900 11,900 40,100 390,800 454,700 263,329
I Roge  NX0 A0 Soxw  smie 60
Derivative - net fTETR - 58
setfement (Note (¢) ~~ £EE (M3 (0)
Interest rate Swaps ikt 209 235 - - - 25 20
Forelgn curency kst
forward contracts 3.00 27,302 5 - - 21,307 26,512
21,531 5 - - 21,542 26,742
Company AA7
AsatdiMach205  AZE-TF
ZA=t-A
Other payables EftERTE 13,385 - - - 13,385 13,385
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHRERME

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 3

(Continued)
(@) Financial risk factors (Continued)
(iii) Liquidity risk (Continued)

Liquidity and interest risk tables (Continued)

B E R EIE )

(a) MEEREZR (&)
(i) FREBEZERE(H)

REEERFIFREZ (&)

Weighted
average Total
interest 12 25 Over  undiscounted Camying
rate  Within 1 year years years Syears  cashflows amount
ARRE
TSR MER 128 255 SENE RBEE KA
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK§ 000
Ao BT EEfr B¥fn BT BT BT
Group A5M
AsatdiMach2014  HZE-DF
=R=t+-A
Trade payables BARMTE 128,53 - - - 128,53 128,5%
Other payables RAEAEE 50,436 - - - 50436 50436
Bank borrowings BiTfg
Note 4) (W) 334 50,611 - - - 50,611 48975
Bonds (Note () EAGR{) 897
to 2 12.52 2,500 2,500 7,500 85,000 97,500 52,576
232,083 2,500 7,500 85,000 327,083 280,523
Derivative - net setflement 74 T8 — 38
(Note c) 58 (B3t o)
Interest rate Swaps FlkR 334 1473 143 - - 1616 1563
Foreign curency IBEEaY
forward contracts 300 21,266 16,342 - - 37,598 36,508
2,79 16,485 - - 39,214 38,066
Company .Y
AsatdtMach2014  HZE-DE
ZA=t-A
Other payables AR 14,333 - - - 14333 14333
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e VR R

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(Continued)
(a) Financial risk factors (Continued)
(iii) Liquidity risk (Continued)
Liquidity and interest risk tables (Continued)

Notes:

(@ For the Group’s variable-rate interest bearing
borrowings, the weighted average effective
interest rate of the Group’s variable-rate interest
bearing borrowings at the end of each reporting
period is used for undiscounted cash flow
analysis. As at 31 March 2015, the Company
has given guarantees totalling approximately
HK$39,649,000 (2014: HK$48,975,000) to
financial institutions in connection with the
banking facilities granted to its subsidiaries. For
assets pledged to secure the bank borrowings,
refer to Note 31 (d).

(b) For the Group’s fixed-rate interest bearing
bonds, respective effective interest rate of each
of the Group’s fixed-rate interest bearing bonds
at the end of each reporting period is used for
undiscounted cash flow analysis.

() The undiscounted cash flow of derivative
financial instruments was determined assuming
all variables used in the fair value calculation at
the end of each reporting period remained the
same until maturity.

The amounts included above for variable interest
rate instruments for non-derivative financial
liabilities are subject to change if changes in
variable interest rates differ to those estimates
of interest rates determined at the end of the
reporting period.

3

(a)

B R f B IR ()

P # R E = (&)
REBELRE (&)
REEE RFIFRBZ (&)
Bi&E

(iii)

(@)

RALEENFEEEMS * K
FRBEREDTHEANRE
HERAAEEBNZEEER
MEFHERFERAE - R =
E-HFE=A=+—H  &ARQ
RIERME THMB A MIRIT
BERABEHESREBELAK
#7685 39,649,000 7T (—F—PY
& 75 48,975,000 7T ) B ¥
R o BtERBIRTT B R ME A A
BEFLHMES1J) -

FLA SR B Y B E M R FEE S
mE - AREEEENEGE
BEHFNEHREHROESERAF
RTIRANARERIRERENN -

EEATES BT B ATRR
SRER  DERREREH
KEZHMA  BIEHEAT
A S B T -

B R BB RN E HRE
EZMERGEFEEE - Bl LAt
AFTEERMBEZFBHNET
AZeBNesE -
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(b)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(Continued)
Capital management

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities
in the Group will be able to continue as a going
concern while maximising the return to stakeholders
through the optimisation of the debt and equity
balance. The Group’s overall strategy remains
unchanged from prior years.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net
debt, which includes the bank borrowings (Note 31),
bonds (Note 36), net of cash and bank balances,
and equity attributable to owners of the Company,
comprising issued share capital and reserves.

The directors review the capital structure on a regular
basis. As part of this review, the directors consider
the cost of capital and the risks associated with each
class of capital. Based on recommendations of the
directors, the Group will balance its overall capital
structure through the payment of dividends, new
share issues and share buy-backs as well as the issue
of new debt or the redemption of existing debt.

The Group monitors capital on the basis of the
gearing ratio which is calculated by bank borrowings
and bonds divided by the total assets. The gearing
ratio of the Group as at 31 March 2015 was 26.81%
(2014: 10.86%)).

3

(b)

e R R AR M

B 755 [ e B PR ()

EXERE

REBERHERNURREAERANZE
BRESAARE T LS - LREFER
Bt B EEEREHRT ARG REX
B - AEEMEEREEBEFER

AEENENGEERRERFRE A
BREBITEE(MES) B (M
36) * MRE L MRITER AR R
BARIEED (B2 EBITRAR K
) o

EEUEHH A ERRE - (ERZE
R —IR - EEEEE KA NE
BRBRANERCER - REEFHNZ
& AEERERIRMERE - FnE
17~ RIPBEIA R EITHES BRI
BE%  FEEBBERRE -

My

AEEZEEABLE(LBRITEER
BEFRUBEEAE) cEEEESR
Ko REBR -_ZE—RAF=A=+—H
CEEBENLEAE2681%(=ZZF—
% 1 10.86%) °

| o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e VR R

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(Continued)
(c) Fair value of financial instruments

The table below analyses financial instruments carried
at fair value, by valuation method. The different levels
have been defined as follows:

e  Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities (level 1).

° Inputs other than quoted prices included
within level 1 that are observable for the asset
or liability, either directly (that is, as prices) or
indirectly (that is, derived from prices) (level 2).

° Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based
on observable market data (that is, unobservable
inputs) (level 3).

3

(c)

B 755 [ e B BB ()

TRITAENQFE
TNEREHEZED TR A HET R SR
TE - TR ZEZLT

s MHREEXBRELARTS R
B OREEHEE) (B »

s RE-AMBRZIREN BE
SEEZABEERGARE AR
BEER(AER) XER(NREE
%) 28R (B =MR) -

s EBEFRBEIIFKEABEENS
g 2w AR (B ERBRE A
2B) (F=4) -
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(c)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(Continued)

Fair value of financial instruments
(Continued)

The following table presents the Group’s assets and
liabilities that are measured at their fair values at
31 March 2015 and 2014.

e B HmRNE

3 HRRERE@
(c) €RTEMAFMEE)
TREBIWR-ZZE—RFR-ZT—NF=

A=t—BAURERAHEAEZAREZ
BEKMAE -

2015
“3-1%
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
£-§ | =4
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
A8Tn  BMTn  E%Tn

2014
“F-RE
Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
ait Ea | 24 £=h it

HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKSOOO  HKSO00
ERTR  ABTn  ARIn  ABtn  ARn

Assets BE
Financial assets at fair ZATERBIERTIS
vaue through proftt 22 BEE
orloss
Held-for-trading BEEERRE -
investments:
- Listed equity - FiiAEH
securities 132 - - 132 162 - - 162
Trading derivatives: ~ XHERTETA :
-Fordignourency  — SNERSAL
forward contracts - - - - - 746 - 746
Avalble-forsale  ATEHERE
investments
- Unlisted debt - kITRHES
securities - - - - - 5,003 - 5,003
- Listed equity - FiEES
securities 47,647 - - 47,647 74,314 - - 74,314
Total aat 41,179 - - 41,179 74,476 5749 - 80,225
Liabilities &f
Financial lebiites ot~ AT EEAERT%
farvalethrough  Z2BER
proft or loss
Trading derivatives: ~ XHEFTETA :
-Fordignourency  — HERSAL
forward
contracts - 26,512 - 26,512 - 36,503 - 36,508
- Interestrate swaps  — F|% 54 - 230 - 230 - 1563 - 1563
Total B - 26,742 - 26,742 - 38,066 - 38,066
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e VR R

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(Continued)

(c) Fair value of financial instruments
(Continued)

There were no transfers between Level 1, 2 and 3 in
both years.

() Financial instruments in level 1

The fair value of financial instruments traded in
active markets is based on quoted market prices
at the reporting date. A market is regarded as
active if quoted prices are readily and regularly
available from an exchange, dealer, broker,
industry group, pricing service, or regulatory
agency, and those prices represent actual and
regularly occurring market transactions on an
arm’s length basis. The quoted market price
used for financial assets held by the Group is
the current bid price. These instruments are
included in level 1. Instruments included in level
1 comprise equity securities listed in Hong Kong
Stock Exchange classified as held-for-trading
investments or available-for-sale investments.

(i)  Financial instruments in level 2

The fair value of financial instruments that are not
traded in an active market is determined by using
valuation techniques. These valuation techniques
maximise the use of observable market data
where it is available and rely as little as possible
on entity specific estimates. If all significant
inputs required to fair value an instrument
are observable, the instrument is included in
level 2. If one or more of the significant inputs
is not based on observable market data, the
instrument is included in level 3.

3

(c)

/\Z"i&ﬂ Akkiﬁ(na
TR TAENDFEE)

WREEER - 24 B BRES
32 R 5 -

() F-RFHEWMTAH

REBMSEENESRTANR
ﬁ@ﬁﬁzﬁ/\#ﬁiﬁﬁﬂmm % T (B
ﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁ%#ﬁfﬁ%%ﬁ@li_Tfﬁﬂﬂ
WEQ%%‘@%W e 17
58 F*ﬁﬁﬁfyiw%ﬁ%%
BZERERBREREEHEA
FIRAGEITHMISER S - ZmiEs
Al RER - AEBEFENE
BEEMFRANMISRER/RTT
BEAEB - ZETENAE—H -
WAE—BNTABRERERR
WEE&Q?TT&E&ﬁmﬁ
FEBSEAZ BT T IR AR

(i) F=RFWEHMITE

WIHRNARMSEENSRTA
HRFHEDERBEEXMTETE
ZEHERMEB A BENSH
FRIFR T &R AR E A B Z SR
B URARRDIKEERSA
ﬁﬁ ﬁ BTAERFEMBN
EHMEEL2EYAEE  ZTA
WWA%_& fid —IHHKZIHE
R2HW AR BRT IS HIER
&g ZTARPIASE =/ -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHRERME

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 3 BIEERER @)

(Continued)

(c) Fair value of financial instruments (c) TR TEMNAFE(HE)
(Continued)
(i)  Financial instruments in level 2 (Continued) (i) F-RFWLEITE (&)
The valuation techniques and inputs used in fair F_BAANRTFEFEFTAME
value measurements within level 2 are as follows: Bl R AR T ¢
Valuation techniques Significant inputs
fhER T EXBARE
Foreign currency forward Discount cash flow, Black-Scholes Observable exchange rate, currency
contracts option pricing model and volatility and yield curve
Monte Carlo simulation
WMNEBRHEA frEfien  EHRMETERAR ABRER - SRS RN R
SRERERRE
Interest rate swaps Discount cash flow and Observable yield curve, HIBOR rate,
Monte Carlo simulation exchange rate and currency volatility
Mt 5 rER SR IEEREREE ABRERSHE - BERITRERN
M EXREEKE
Unlisted debt securities Discount cash flow Observable interest rate
¥ ETERES rEfen ATEIER MK
(iii) Financial instruments in level 3 (i) FE=ZANEMTA
No financial instruments were designed within HE_ZT—NFR-_T-HF=
level 3 as at the year ended 31 March 2015 and A=+—BLFE #$EemT
2014. BEOBEFE=MNA -

seRmRRARLD ~¥-mE-menERE _



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mE M BRERME

(a)

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING
ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS

Estimates and judgements are continually revaluated
and are based on historical experience and other
factors, including expectations of future events
that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions
concerning the future. The resulting accounting
estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the related
actual results. The estimates and assumptions that
have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment
to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within
the next financial year are addressed below.

Estimation of oil reserves

Oil reserves are key elements in the Group’s
investment decision-making process. They are also
an important element in determining the amount of
amortisation of the oil exploitation rights included
in other intangible assets and depreciation of ail
properties included in property, plant and equipment,
and for testing for impairment. Changes in proved and
probable oil reserves, will affect unit-of-production
amortisation, depreciation and depletion recorded in
the Group’s consolidated financial statements for the
oil exploitation rights and oil properties related to oil
production activities.

4

(a)

BASREERT (A ET R A

AEBEREBEELERMEAGBERE (8
ERAERBER TR RAEZHANRE
2 ) FHES GG A -

AEEERBRARR T RERE -
WESZ EFHEHREBEERGRDLEF
RERGERIAR - BAEXRBREEH
R IMEFHFEANHEERBRE K
E{EFHEAHE 2 AT KRR m
To

Pap:ii ATy
AHFEHAREZRERREFEH
BEE  NEETEOMRAEREGFAEM
BVEE)BHSBNMRBEE (FTA
WE - BELRE) TESBEANETT
REAP 2 EERE - R MRS AH
MEZE(  BERENAKBRARE
AR A R BARRE 2 Ao FIER
BAFHEEMAR B ESHH -
e ftE -
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(a)

(b)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING
ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS
(Continued)

Estimation of oil reserves (Continued)

A reduction in proved and probable reserves or
an increase in future development expenditure will
increase amortisation charges, depreciation and
depletion and increase net loss. Proved and probable
reserve and future development expenditure estimates
are subject to revision, either upward or downward,
based on new information, such as from development
drilling and production activities or from changes in
economic factors, including product prices, contract
terms or development plans. In general, changes in
the technical maturity of oil reserves resulting from
new information becoming available from development
and production activities have tended to be the most
significant cause of annual revisions.

Impairment of oil exploitation rights
included in other intangible assets and oil
properties included in property, plant and
equipment

The carrying amounts of the oil exploitation rights and
oil properties are assessed for impairment when facts
and circumstances suggest that the carrying amounts
of them may exceed their recoverable amounts.
The Group’s determination as to whether they are
impaired requires an estimation of the recoverable
amount of the assets. The Group relied on experts
to assess the geological prospects for the discovery
of oil in the ail field and estimated the value of oil to
be produced in the future at a suitable discount rate
in order to calculate the present value. For drilling
costs and other exploration and evaluation assets,
the Group determined whether the related well costs
are expensed if it is determined that such economic
viability is not attained after performing further
feasibility studies that is usually completed within one
year of completion of drilling.

(a)

(b)

e R R AR M

B EEHAET R A

AomfEE 2 e (8D

PR RS R R D SRR P B s 18
IS IE B SEF ST~ T8 IBRELA Ko
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REHEEGFAYE  BERR
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EEE RSO HFARENORE
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AR OIS EE - AEBIEEERFEIEH
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BRI RREE2 A BEENTER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mE M BRERME

(b)

(c)

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING
ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS
(Continued)

Impairment of oil exploitation rights
included in other intangible assets and oil
properties included in property, plant and
equipment (Continued)

Judgement is required by the directors to determine
key assumptions adopted in the cash flow projections
and changes to key assumptions can significantly
affect these cash flow projections and therefore the
results of the impairment reviews.

Impairment of property, plant and
equipment other than oil properties

Property, plant and equipment other than oil
properties is reviewed for impairment whenever events
or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
amounts may not be recoverable. The recoverable
amounts have been determined based on the higher
of value-in-use calculations or fair value less costs to
sell calculations. The calculations require the use of
judgements and estimates.

Management judgement is required in the area
of asset impairment particularly in assessing: (i)
whether an event has occurred that may indicate
that the related asset values may not be recoverable;
(i) whether the carrying value of an asset can be
supported by the recoverable amount, being the
higher of fair value less costs to sell and net present
value of future cash flows which are estimated based
upon the continued use of the asset in the business;
and (iii) the appropriate key assumptions to be applied
in preparing cash flow projections including whether
these cash flow projections are discounted using an
appropriate rate.

(b)

(c)

B EEHAET A ()

AHMBARE GtARETLEE)
REFHEE (GFAME - BERR
#) e (&)

EERTRETRRAAMRANE 2MRKRE
BEAFELAIE B ERRITEE
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BERETALERETFHO)BELELE
RERBRHABEEEEBEA EEEIR
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)R HBEIEEFL A

.m PetroAsian Energy Holdings Limited Annual Report 2014 -15




(c)

(d)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING
ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS
(Continued)

Impairment of property, plant and
equipment other than oil properties
(Continued)

Changing the assumptions selected by the directors
in assessing impairment could affect the recoverable
amount determined by the directors and as a result
affect the result of the impairment reviews. Further
details are set out in Note 16(a).

Critical accounting estimates and judgements in the
directors’ assessment of impairment for oil properties
included in property, plant and equipment are detailed
in Note 4 (b).

Impairment of goodwill

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an
estimation of the value in use of the cash generating
units to which goodwill has been allocated. The value-
in-use calculation requires the Group to estimate the
future cash flows expected to arise from the cash-
generating unit and a suitable discount rate in order
to calculate the present value. Where the actual
future cash flows are less than expected, a material
impairment loss may arise.

Judgement is required by the directors to determine
key assumptions adopted in the cash flow projections
and changes to key assumptions can significantly
affect these cash flow projections and therefore the
results of the impairment reviews.

(c)

(d)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mE M BRERME

(e)

(f)

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING
ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS
(Continued)

Impairment of trade receivables,
prepayments, deposits, other receivables
and loans receivable

The Group’s management determines the provision
for impairment of trade receivables, prepayments,
deposits, other receivables and loans receivable
based on an assessment of the recoverability of the
receivables. The assessment is based on the credit
history of its customers and other debtors and the
current market condition, and requires the use of
judgments and estimates.

Provisions are applied where events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the balances may not be
recoverable. Management reassesses the provision
at each statement of financial position date. Where
the expectation is different from the original estimate,
such differences will impact the carrying value of
receivables and provision for impairment losses in the
period in which such estimate has been changed.

Fair value of derivative financial instruments

Management uses its judgement in selecting
an appropriate valuation technique for financial
instruments not quoted in an active market. For
derivative financial instruments such as interest rate
swaps and currency swaps, assumptions are based
on quoted market rates adjusted for specific features
of the instrument based on inputs supported by
observable market prices or rates.

(e)

(f)
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(f)

(9)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING
ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS
(Continued)

Fair value of derivative financial instruments
(Continued)

The fair value of warrants issued requires judgement
in determining the expected volatility of the share
price, the dividends expected on the shares, the risk-
free interest rate during the life of the warrants. Details
of the assumptions used in determining the fair value
of the warrants are set out in Note 34.

Accounting for the warrants issued with
fair value substantially higher than the
identifiable consideration received

For the warrants issued with fair value substantially
higher than the identifiable consideration received,
management is required to apply judgement
in determining the accounting for the warrants
either under ‘share-based payments’ or ‘financial
instruments’. Management considers whether there
are any facts or circumstances indicating the excess
of fair value of the warrants over the consideration
received is not representing any unidentifiable goods
or services. The warrants are accounted for under
‘financial instruments’. Otherwise, the warrants are
accounted for under ‘share-based payments’.

(f)

(9)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mE M BRERME

(h)

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING
ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS
(Continued)

Recognition of share-based payments

The Group’s employees have participated in various
share-based incentive schemes of the Company.
The Company has also granted warrants to suppliers
for the provision of services. Management of the
Group have used the Binomial Model to determine
the total value of the options or warrants granted,
which is based on fair value and various attributes
of the underlying shares of the Company. Significant
estimates and assumptions are required to be made
in determining the parameters for applying the
Binomial Model, including estimates and assumptions
regarding the risk-free rate of return, expected
dividend yield and volatility of the underlying shares
and the expected life of the share options or warrants.
In addition, the Group is required to estimate the
expected percentage of grantees that will remain
in employment or terms with the Group or, where
applicable, if the performance conditions for vesting
will be met at the end of the vesting period. The
Group only recognises an expense for those options
or warrants expected to vest over the vesting period
during which the grantees become unconditionally
entitled to theses share-based awards. Changes
in these estimates and assumptions could have
a material effect on the determination of the fair
value of the options or warrants and the amount
of such share-based awards expected to become
vested, which may in turn significantly impact the
determination of the share-based payments.

(h)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REVENUE AND SEGMENT
INFORMATION

The executive directors of the Company have been
regarded as the CODM. The Group’s operating
segments, based on information reported to the
CODM for the purpose of resource allocation and
performance assessment, are as follows:

e  Trading of commodities (“Commodity trading”);
° Exploitation and sale of crude oil (“Crude oil”);

o Sale of paints, blended solvents and plastic
colorants (“Chemical products”);

o Provision of exploration drilling services (“Service
contract”); and

o Leasing of investment properties and lending of
short-term loans (“Others”).

During the year ended 31 March 2015, a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, obtained a money
lenders licence and has carried its business as a
money lender in Hong Kong. Financing for the money
lending business was primarily obtained through the
Group’s internal resources.

The CODM, after reviewing for qualitative factors
such as the business activities, economic and legal
characteristics of the business and quantitative factors
such as the financial performance of the business,
has accordingly identified the property investment
and money lending businesses did not qualify as
reportable operating segments, and their financial
information is included in “Others”.
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REVENUE AND SEGMENT
INFORMATION (Continued)

The accounting policies of the operating segments
are the same as the Group’s accounting policies.
Segment results represent the loss made or profit
earned by each segment without allocation of
incomes or expenses which are not recurring in nature
and unrelated to the Group’s operating performance,
including bank interest income, central administration
costs, directors’ emoluments, share of loss of an
associate, changes in fair value of held-for-trading
investments and derivative financial instruments,
share-based payments and finance costs.

The CODM also reviews the earnings/loss before
net finance income and costs, income tax expense,
depreciation, depletion and amortisation, unallocated
other income less expenses and non-controlling
interests (“EBITDA” or “LBITDA”) of the Group.
Accordingly, EBITDA or LBITDA is also presented.

For the purposes of monitoring segment performance
and allocating resources among segments, all assets
are allocated to operating segments other than
interests in an associate, derivative financial assets,
other financial assets, tax recoverable, cash and bank
balances and other corporate assets.

The CODM reviews the segment assets for the
purposes of resource allocation and performance
assessment, an analysis of the Group’s liability is
not regularly reviewed by the CODM and hence, the
relevant information is not presented accordingly.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mE M BRERME
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHRERME

5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT 5 WakoBEER @
INFORMATION (Continued)

(a) Segment revenue and results (a) 7HEWEREE
The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue REBIRA EREEDFEI D 2 W= R
and results by reportable operating segments: FEDWWT -

For the year ended 31 March 2015
BZ-Z-1F=B=1-HLEE
Commodity Chemical Service
trading  Crudeoil  products  contract Others Total
HmE% Fa  IER EBEN At CHI
HK$000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$000
BT BETn  EBTn  EBTn  ERTn  E¥TR

Segment revenue PG 686,767 3178 104,577 5,163 4,487 804,167
Segment EBITDA/(LBITDA) 74 EBITDA/(LBITDA) 1,728 (11,749) 1,819 (566) 4,093 (4,675)
Segment depreciation, DENE  REREH

depletion and amortisation (1,635) (1,831) (82 (11,993) (538) (16,079)
Impairment losses on property, — #1% « s ke

plant and equipment and NREMER EEREEE

other intangible assets - (9,365) - (23,693) - (33,058)
Segment results NEEE 93 (22,945 1,787 (36,252 355 (53,812
Unallocated expenses FAWEL (84,626)
Finance income BERA 1,322
Finance costs BEMAK (14,931)
Share of loss of an associate it NG| 5= (20,557)
Loss before income tax credit BREERESHER (172,604)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mE M BRERME

5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT 5 WmkoEER @
INFORMATION (Continued)
(a) Segment revenue and results (Continued) (a) DPERBZRES (#E)

For the year ended 31 March 2014
HE-T-WF-A=t-HIFE

total revenue. MEEE10% LA E o

Commodity Chemical Senvice

tradng  Crudeoil  products  contract Others Total

ARES Fa LIER  REAH Efth ait

HK$000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$000

AETT  BETR  AETr  AEBTr BT BETx

Segment revenue ap ey 841,489 12,579 119,783 8,476 - 982,327
Segment (LBITDAVEBITDA 2 (LBITDAVEBITDA (16369 (4270 1472 (12412 053 (318%)

Segment depreciation, PEFE - #E

depletion and amortisation R (1670) (5,907) (356)  (12,414) (543 (20,890)
Segment results PEEE (18039 (10,177) 1116 (24,826) (796)  (52,722)
Unallocated expenses RORHEL (86,50)
Finance income BEKA 658
Finance costs BERK (1,920)
Share of loss of an associate ool =N} 57 (759)
Loss before income tax expense BTSRRI A58 (141248
Revenue from four (2014: three) customers in relation REmEBESZME RKENE(ZZE
to Commodity trading amounted to approximately —HEFE: ZR)BP 2R EE
HK$606,456,000 (2014: HK$750,272,000), which 606,456,000 7T ( — & — I F : B
individually represents more than 10% of the Group’s 750,272,000 7T) * S EHAKE K E
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHRERME

5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT 5 WakoBER &
INFORMATION (Continued)
(b) Segment assets (b) PEEE
The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets by REEZRAIZEHREEDBE D 2 EED
reportable operating segments: Hran T -
2015 2014
—F-HF —T—mNmF
HK$°000 HK$’000

BT T BT

Segment assets DIEE
Commodity trading e 5 360,054 163,304
Crude ol JRoh 342,910 347,461
Chemical products {EITER 16,201 11,237
Service contract RI&E 4 52,339 85,969
Others Hi 53,051 24,425
Total segment assets DHEEEEE 824,555 632,396
Unallocated KO 331,616 302,559
Total assets BmEE 1,156,171 934,955
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mE M BRERME

5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT 5 WakoBEER @

INFORMATION (Continued)

(c) Other segment information (c)

For the year ended 31 March 2015
HE-Z-1EZB=t-BLEE

Commodity Crude  Chemical Service
trading oil  products  contract Others Unallocated Total
R Fo  tIER  RERYD Rt AR At
HK$000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$'000
A%Tn  B¥Tn  AMTn  AMTn  E¥Tn  B¥Tn  AMTx
Amount included in the AVEEE
measure of segment PEBENEL
results or segment 8
assets:
Additons to REFRYEE
non-current assets 108 6,451 - 1 12 - 6,572
Recognition of impairment ~ SiERZE - &R
losses on prepayments, Rt ENER
depostts and other REBE B
receivables - - (2,415) - - (29,997) (32,412)
Recognition of impaiment ~ 541% + BER
losses on propert, FiERERE
plant and equipment LB - (3,246) - (23,699 - - (26939)
Recognition of impaiment ~ SEMERAE
losses on other REBE B
intangible assets - (6,119) - - - - (6,119)
Losses on disposals of HENE  BER
property, plant RECER
and equipment (51) - @ - - - (55)
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5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT 5 WEkoEER @)

(c) Other segment information (Continued) (c) HttnEER (&)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHRERME

INFORMATION (Continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2014
HE-Z-ME-A-T-HIER
Commodity Crude  Chemical Service
frading ol products  contract Others  Unallocated Total
BEnds R tIEm  RH&H it AR At
HK$'000  HKS000  HK$O000  HKS000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$'000
BT EdTn  RETn AT BT BEfn kTR

Amount included in the HANEEES

measure of segment PEEENEL

results or segment 28

assets:
Additions to non-current REXNBEE

assets 18 2,060 211 4 - - 2,299
Property, plant and VER T i

equipment written off (103 - i) - - - (114)
Recognition of impairment St E AEUNGTE

losses on AEEE R

trade receivables - - - (1129 - - (1,129
Recognition of impairment ~ SEFFE  &ER

losses on prepayments, Kt EWsE

deposits and REBR B

other receivables (16,838 - (2,108 (12,102) - - (31,048
Losses on disposals of HENE  BRER

property, plant FEER

and equipment 1 (7128) - - - (14) (7143

seRmRRARLD ~¥-mE-menERE _
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5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT
INFORMATION (Continued)

(d) Geographical information

The Group’s operations are located in the PRC, Hong
Kong and the Republic of Kazakhstan. The Group’s
revenue from external customers is based on the
location of the customer’s operations and information
about its non-current assets is based on geographical
location of the assets that are shown below:

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

5 WakoEER @

(d) EER

REBZ FBUNTE  BERRER
HEHAME - REEREP 2SR
D KEIKREP 2B RIREFZE
EMERSEIDIERBEECERIT

AR -

Revenue from external

customers Non-current assets

REIIREF U FRBEE
2015 2014 2015 2014
—E-HF —ET—NF ZZT—HF —T—NF
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000
BT T AT T BT T BT IT
Malaysia BRE D 393,009 750,273 - -
PRC H 292,186 143,658 363,409 388,446
Hong Kong BB 97,671 79,920 137,523 151,305
Others HAth 21,301 8,476 43,859 79,927
804,167 982,327 544,791 619,678
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BB RMHE
OTHER GAINS/(LOSSES), NETAND 6 Hftilz= ~(EB#8)  FEEK
IMPAIRMENT LOSSES B ET1E
2015 2014
—E-RF —E—F
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
B &E BET T BT
Exchange (losses)/gains, net B X (&18), Wt F8 (370) 3,060
Gains on disposals of HEMRBAT W
subsidiaries 37 - 5,374
Losses on disposals of HEWE - BE
property, plant and equipment & 2 E51E (55) (743)
Property, plant and M - B &
equipment written off B 16 - (114)
Gain on disposal of HE—BAHEE
an available-for-sale "E 7 W
investment 107 367
Gains/(losses) from changes in ~ $T4 & @ T AAFE
fair value of derivative financial B & Yzs /(&)
instruments 4,479 (28,785)
Losses from changes in FEEBEREATE
fair value of held-for-trading 28 EE
investments (30) (36)
Others H - (188)
Other gains/(losses), net Hiblzs,/ (E518) - F8 4,131 (21,065)
Recognition of impairment HE S EWFIERE
losses on trade receivables B8 R 25(d) - (1,129)
Recognition of impairment MIENRIE - e R
losses on prepayments, H i EWKRIBRIE
deposits and other receivables &8 2 HER 22(d) (32,412) (31,048)
Recognition of impairment MIE - BBk
losses on property, B REEE
plant and equipment R 16 (26,939) -
Recognition of impairment MEMBILEE
losses on other intangible BEEE
assets ZHER 19 (6,119) -
Impairment losses EEE (65,470) (32,177)
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7 WAGES, SALARIES AND
OTHER BENEFITS (INCLUDING
DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HE @Iiéfﬁiﬁﬂﬂﬁﬂ (&2

i
RESH<

2015 2014
—E-HF ZE-NF
HK$°000 HK$’000
BT T BT T
Salaries, wages and e IEKHEMER
other benefits 24,674 29,939
Contributions to defined ERRHFRINGT &R
contribution retirement plan K 879 782
Total staff costs RN @I 25,553 30,721
8 OPERATING LOSS REEE
2015 2014
—E-RF —E-F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
ltems charged in arriving at FOEBUE & B8R
the operating loss include: kg2 EE B -
Auditor’s remuneration ZE RN &
Audit services FEIZIRTE
— Current year — KFE 3,000 3,000
Non-audit services IEEAZ RS 10 484
Operating lease expenses KERERX 9,264 9,647
Legal and professional fees FRERBEEER 11,601 8,536
Share-based payments in BARRE 2 ARG,
respect of consultation fees <2 5RIE
(Note 22(b)) (M5 22(0)) 6,357 6,180
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHRERME

9 FINANCE INCOME AND COSTS 9 REWAKKA
2015 2014
—F-1F —F0OF
HK$’000 HK$’ 000

BT T BT IT

Interest expenses on: AT EIBEZMEFX
— bonds wholly repayable — AR AFEEE
after 5 years BEZES (13,830) (536)
— bank loans and overdrafts — AR AF B
wholly repayable EEZIRITER
within 5 years KiEX (1,101) (1,384)
Financecosts  BERA 0 (14931) (1.920)
Interest income on: IATEIBZHABEIWA -
- bank deposits — RITERK 1,322 422
— other financial assets — EtemEE - 236
_Financeincome BEMA 1822 658
Finance costs, net BEKAK - F58 (13,609) (1,262)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mE M BRERME

10 INCOME TAX CREDIT/(EXPENSE) 10 FiSFiER (FIXX)

2015 2014

—E-FEF —E—F

HK$’000 HK$'000

BT T BT T

PRC corporate income tax RIS HE - -
Hong Kong profits tax: FEBMEM -

Under-provision in prior years B FEEETE - (15,940)

Deferred income tax (Note 35)  IEIEFTSRT (MI5E35) 5,332 1,202

Income tax credit/(expense) Frig®ige, (Fx) 5,332 (14,738)

Hong Kong profits tax is calculated at 16.5% (2014:
16.5%) on the estimated assessable profit for the
year. Taxation for overseas subsidiaries is charged at
the appropriate current rates of taxation in the relevant
jurisdiction of which the most significant jurisdictions
are the PRC which has a corporate income tax
rate of 25% (2014: 25%) and Macau which has a
complementary corporate tax rate ranging from 9 %
to 12% (2014: 9% to 12%).

No current Hong Kong profits tax, Macau
complementary corporate tax and PRC corporate
income tax have been provided for as the Group did
not have any assessable profits in Hong Kong, Macau
nor in the PRC for the year (2014: Nil).

BB 13 B 1R 6 A Ad 51 FE SR B8 F1 DA
16.5% (ZZ—POF : 16.5%)5TE © &
SN B A B MR R R AR R Rl AR R R
ERTREERY - HPHEEHa)ER
BTy R ERPY - B EEMEH
MERB2BH(ZE—UF : 25%) * B
PIFTSE AR ENTI%E12%(ZF
—POF : 9% £ 12%) ©

HRANEEARREERS  RFIHE
BB ERTOE ) - ML REHEE
HIFEBNEH - RFISMHIHR LT E
EMEHEE (2T —MF - &) -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

10 INCOME TAX CREDIT/(EXPENSE)

(Continued)

On 28 March 2014, the Hong Kong Inland Revenue
Department accepted the settlement proposal
submitted by the Group in respect of the protective
assessments made in prior years and issued the
notices of revised additional assessments, interest
demand notes and statements of losses covering
the years of assessment from 1996/97 to 2011/12
of certain subsidiaries of the Company. Based on
the revised tax assessments, an under-provision
amounting to HK$15,940,000 was recognised for the
year ended 31 March 2014,

Mr. Poon Sum, the Honorary Chairman of the
Company, Mr. Poon Sau Tin and Ever Source
Enterprises Limited, substantial shareholders
of the Company, (together, the “Indemnifiers”)
have committed to indemnify the potential tax
exposures prior to the listing of the Company
in 2002 if the exposure beyond an amount of
approximately HK$7,822,000. Accordingly, the
Group recognised a receivable from substantial
shareholders of HK$5,450,000 as at 31 March
2015 (2014: HK$5,450,000) (Note 40(b)). As of the
date of approval of these consolidation financial
statements, the full amount of the receivable has been
subsequently settled.

There is no tax impact relating to components of other
comprehensive income for the year ended 31 March
2015 (2014: Nil).

e R R AR M

10 FREHER, () @

R-Z—WE=A=+ 71 ' FEHB
REEMNASERBEFEMED 2R
P SRR IR R A FIAR SRR I 38 R B 7T
FINIRGBAE - FEBAERERRA
ME - BME-—NANAANEFE NEFEZZ
—— &/~ ZFHARRRETHBERR
BIRTRL o ERESETRER - REZE =T
—MFE=ZA=+—HILFEERBEDT
B A7 15,940,000 7T °

HARARRBIRBEEERLE  AQ
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mE M BRERME

10 INCOME TAX CREDIT/(EXPENSE) 10 FiSFiES  (BER) @)

(Continued)

The tax on the Group’s loss before income tax (credit)/ EBRAEEZBRABHR(ER) FxX
expenses differs from the theoretical amount that AIEBz MIARKAASBERMEACH
would arise using the tax rate in the PRC applicable to Bt EmMEE L EmbifEc =20
the Group as follows: e
2015 2014
—E-HF _—ZTNF
HK$’000 HK$'000

BT T BT

Loss before income tax BRETISH (K%R)
(credit)/expense F X Al EE (172,604) (141,248)
Tax calculated at domestic HEANEBRAEER

income tax rates applicable B E TSI R AT E MR
to losses in the respective

jurisdictions (43,151) (35,312)
Tax effect of share of loss FE(G — B & A RIB1E

of an associate RIS & (5,139) (190)
Tax effect of deductible RERARERER

temporary differences ISR E

not recognised 208 7,906
Tax effect of tax losses RERTIEEEH

not recognised MIERE 16,483 14,016
Tax effect of income not DEIE L ON:o]

taxable for tax purpose Mg 2 (4,823) (757)
Tax effect of expenses not AR 2 B

deductible for tax purpose M2 31,090 13,135
Under-provision in prior years B FEEETE - 15,940
Income tax (credit)/expense FriSHi (%) /X (5,332) 14,738
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHRERME

11 DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF 11 EBRFETHASME
EXECUTIVE’S EMOLUMENTS
The emoluments paid or payable to each of eight ENSENTNAR(ZE—TF : \B)
(2014: eight) directors were as follows: EEXENELT

For the year ended 31 March 2015
BE-Z-n5=A=t-HLEE

Salaries,
allowances Retirement Share-
Director’s  and benefits scheme based
fees inkind contributions payments Total
e 2 N
EEHS REWAE RAGHEMER XftzRE CE
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

BB BRI ERTT BT BRI

Executive Directors #H{7E%

Mr. Poon Sum BRELE - 4,824 18 - 4,842
Mr. Wang Bo TR
(Note a) GEE) - 30 - - 30
Mr. Wong Kwok Leung ZBIR 4
(Note b) (FiEo) - 582 18 - 600
Mr. Poon Wai Kong ~ 7&ERI%EAE - 1,296 18 - 1,314
D - k2 Mo - ... 5786
Non-Executive FHITES
Director
Mrzaidlatt zaid Laff 2 20 - S S 240
Independent BT
Non-Executive EZ
Directors
Mr. Chan Shu Kin PRISER S A 264 - - - 264
Mr. Chan Kam Ching,  FRE#TE% 4
Paul 264 - - - 264
Mr. Cheung Kwan Hung 3RE9%8 %L 4 264 - - - 264
e e S S .
Total ait 1,032 6,732 54 - 7,818
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mE M BRERME

11 DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF 11 EERFTETHAES
EXECUTIVE’S EMOLUMENTS (4#)
(Continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2014
HE-TMF=A=1+—-HIFE

Salaries,
allowances Retirement Share-
Director’s and benefits scheme based
fees in kind contributions payments Total
e 2 MARRAD
EEHE REDFG  RIGHEIER X2 B CH
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

BT BT BT AT AT

Executive Directors #{TE%

Mr. Poon Sum ERITE - 4,824 15 - 4,839
Mr. Wang Bo TR EAE - 120 - - 120
Mr. Wong Kwok Leung ZBIR 4
(Note b) (FiEo) - 462 15 - 477
Mr. Poon WaiKong ~ 7&fERI%EE - 1,176 15 - 1,191
S - 682 oo - beer
Non-Executive FHTES
Director
Mrzadlatt zaid Latf £ e S S 240
Independent BT
Non-Executive EE
Directors
Mr. Chan Shu Kin BRI L4 264 - - - 264
Mr. Chan Kam Ching, FREZT2% &
Paul 264 - - - 264
Mr. Cheung Kwan Hung 3R$98 %4 264 - - - 264
e T ST S [
Total Gl 1,032 6,582 45 - 7,659
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHRERME

11 DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF 11 EBRFETHASME

EXECUTIVE’S EMOLUMENTS (&)

(Continued)

None of the directors of the Company waived any RREFEEAN - NARIEEMENES

emoluments payable by the Group in both years. AIASLBEN 2T -

Notes: BIRE -

(@  Mr. Wong Bo tendered his resignation as an Executive @ EREEDIRIHE  BEAATH
Director and Chairman of the Company both with TEEREE BZZ—WFRA
effect from 30 June 2014, =t RABER -

(b) Mr. Wong Kwok Leung is also the chief executive () EEIREENABRNEEZITHARE -

officer of the Group.

12 FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS 12 HFMEEMNEBRAL

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments AEEFHBEENRAALETR AT
in the Group, two (2014: two) were directors of the MEA(ZT—F: WE) RARAIE
Company whose emoluments are included in Note o BEENMESBRME 1 - Hif=
11. The emoluments of the remaining three (2014: B ZF-—OF: =8) ALmBe

three) individuals were as follows: ™

2015 2014

—B-HF —TWF

HK$°000 HK$’000

ki BT IT

Salaries and other emoluments  #74 & E th Bl & 2,621 2,581

Contributions to defined TE R TR IRETEIRY
contribution retirement plan IR 53 45
2,674 2,626

seRmRRARLD ~¥-mE-menERE _
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12 FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

(Continued)
Their emoluments were within the following bands:

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

12 HFENESMNAE R AL @)

WS RT I T RE

Number of individuals

AE
2015 2014
—E-HF CZTWF
HK$’000 HK$’000

E¥TT BT

HK$500,001 to 7 500,001 TR
HK$1,000,000 751,000,000 7T 2 2
HK$1,000,001 to 7 #1,000,001 &
HK$1,500,000 7B 1,500,000 7T 1 1
3 3

for loss of office.

13 LOSS FOR THE YEAR
ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF
THE COMPANY

HK$230,223,000 (2014: HK$45,396,000).

During the current and prior years no emoluments
were paid by the Group to any of the above directors
or the five highest paid individuals as an inducement
to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation

The loss for the year attributable to owners of the
Company is dealt with in the financial statements
of the Company to the extent of approximately

RAFEIMBEFE » AEELERIE
i b EER R B &= A TNEMR
M - (ERIMAREE SR IAREE
RSB Sl R R RE R E

13 AR AR ABIEFAEE

AR B ANEBEFREBEIINRAR
AU BRERANRE S ABEOEE
230,223,0007C( — & — g F : B ¥
45,396,000 7T) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B HmRNE

The Board of Directors does not recommend the
payment of any dividend during the year (2014 Nil).

14 LOSS PER SHARE 14 BREE
Basic loss per share attributable to the owners of RRAEIHB ANEREBRERNEEBRIIRE
the Company is calculated by dividing loss for the KRR ABEFABERAFAL
year attributable to owners of the Company by the BITIRD 2 INFETFIISETE -
weighted average number of shares in issue during
the year.
2015 2014
—EB-HF _—TNF
Loss for the year (HK$’000) FAEEBETT) (148,305) (151,155)
Weighted average number of B Z1TEBER 2
ordinary shares in issue INEEFHEE (TR)
(shares in thousands) 4,744,838 4,600,624
Basic loss per share (HK cents) &AxEAE B (GB1l) (3.13) (3.29)
The share options and warrants outstanding at 31 RZE—RAFERZT—NF=A=1+—
March 2015 and 2014 have no dilutive effect on basic A AR T 2 B AR i K sR AR A R I R
loss per share. EREANEBEEEABETE -
15 DIVIDEND 15 IRE

EEe TEENFRRMERMRE (=
T—MF &) -

seRmRRARLD ~¥-mE-menERE _
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16 PROPERTY, PLANT AND

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

16 Y15 - MEKRRE

EQUIPMENT
Group Company
&1 YN
Furniture, Furniture,
Ol Plantand Motor  fixtureand  Construction- fixture and
properties  machinery vehicles  equipment  in-progress Totl  equipment
GA-%E GA-%E
RHEE  BRERE nE HRk  REIR ait E}h
HKS000  HK$000  HKS000  HKS000  HKOOD  HKSO0D  HKS0OO
BETn Mt EEfn BBt BT BT BETR
Cost: A
At 1 April 2013 R-F-=EmA-A 134,143 131,661 10,392 8,908 599 291,086 5073
Addtions e 91 - 174 b1 1978 2,299 -
Disposals e - - 8.310) b) - (3319) -
Disposals of subsidaries HEHBAT
(Note 37) (HiaE37) - - - 25) - (25) -
Writen off i - 1) - 337) - (£09) B
Exchange realignment B A 180 (5,129 (106) (6 6 (5,114) -
At 31 March 2014 N-F-TE
=R=t-A 134414 126450 7,150 8310 19 284205 5,568
Additions HE - 1 - 136 6,435 6,572 -
Disposals e - - (219) 44 - (256) -
Transfer BT 1975 - - - (1,975) - -
Exchange realignment [E 5 % 75 (466) 0 6) 12 (394) -
At 31 March 2015 HWoE-1E
ZA=t-A 136,464 125,985 6,929 8,396 12443 200217 5,568
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mEMBHRERME

16 PROPERTY, PLANT AND 16 Y135 - BERZE @
EQUIPMENT (Continued)
Group Company
A5E YN
Furniture, Furniture,
Ol Plantand Motor  fixture and Construction- fixture and
properties  machinery vehicles  equipment  in-progress Total  equipment
fFE RE fFR RE

RHEE RERAR B BRE RRIE A HRE
HKS000  HKS000  HKBOOD  HKS000  HKB0OD  HK§000  HKS(000
BRI AR BBt AR BBTn BETR ARTn

Accumulated depreciation  EEFHERE :
and impairment;

At 1 April 2013 R-E-=FMA-A 24,966 32,822 5,005 6,498 1436 70,727 2911
Depreciation for the year ERiE 3999 12,491 1,935 1310 - 19,736 1,008
Disposals e - - (1212 B - (1.215) -
Disposals of subsidiaries HEHBLR
(Note 37) (zkar) - - - (249) - (249) -
Witten off s - 64) - (231) - (295) 4
Fxchange realignment [E % 8% 37 (301) 2 ] 3 (262) -
At 31 March 2014 NZE-IE
Zh=t+-H 29002 44948 5,730 7,322 143 88441 3,065
Depreciation for the year ERiE 1,183 12,699 714 583 - 15,129 925
Disposals e - - (124 (40) - (164) -
Fxchange realignment 5 % 16 (%) &) 1) @ (80) -
Recognition of impairment B2 EEE
loss (Note (a) (Ffst(a) 3246 23693 - - - 269% -
At 31 March 2015 R0
e SRR BT 8120 6317 7864 14T 130265 4890
Carrying value: WM
At 31 March 2015 S i3
Zh=t-H 103,067 4473 612 532 11,006 159,052 678
At 31 March 2014 RZF-IF
Zh=t-H 105412 81,502 1420 988 6532 195854 1,603

seRmRRARLD ~¥-mE-menERE m
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mE M BRERME

16 PROPERTY, PLANT AND 16 Y% - MEKREE @)

EQUIPMENT (Continued)

Notes:

(a)

Impairment assessment

On 1 September 2014, the Group entered into a
“technical service and revenue sharing” agreement
(“the Master Agreement”) and a supplemental
agreement to the Master Agreement (the
“Supplemental Agreement”) with an independent third
party (“the Contractor”) with effect from 1 January
2015 to 1 September 2028, pursuant to which
the Contractor is to provide on-site technical and
management services to the Group in respect of the
Group’s exploration and production activities on its
oilfields in the location of Heilongjiang Province of
the PRC. According to the Master Agreement and
the Supplemental Agreement, the Contractor is also
responsible for all operating costs as well as capital
investment costs in drilling new wells and other oilfield
related long term investment. The Group receives
0%, 10% and 15% of revenue from total crude oil
sales from year one, year two to three and year
four onwards during the service period respectively.
The Group can, at its discretion and without
recourse, terminate the Master Agreement and the
Supplemental Agreement by giving a 6-month notice.

Together with the continuous declining in global crude
oil prices since the last quarter of 2014, management
has performed an impairment assessment of the
Group’s crude oil segment. The crude oil segment
mainly included property, plant and equipment, such
as oil properties and construction-in-progress, and
other intangible assets such as the oil exploitation
licences.

The recoverable amount of the crude oil segment
was determined based upon the fair value less cost
of disposal calculations prepared by an independent
valuer. These calculations use cash flow projections
based on financial budgets provided by the Contractor
and approved by the Board of Directors of the
Company covering a period of 14 years ending on 1
September 2028. The key assumptions used in the
discounted cash flow model are as follows:

GEE

(a)

BB

RZZFE—WMFNLA—H  AEBEE—
BRI E=ZFUEHNFTDIL—H
[HETREREEsK]ERTEES
B REERN—HETmE((HR
BEl) B-T—RHF—AF—HBHE_-
T N\FNLA—BEBAER  EIt
AR ERASEERTPEERIEN
HHEBRMEEES - MASEREH
ﬁ%&%ﬁ%@%%omﬁiéﬁ&
Wz AT aEmAEEE
BRH - Hkﬁmhkéé%$ﬁ#&
HipEmAMEE REIEE - AEH
7 Az 7 HA R 28 — 4 WO ER R O 48 W A
0% BE_EZF=FWNM10% * E MY
FPABUEN15%  ANEE A BI1E MIE
HERBZBEATERABL A NEAR
R FFE R M Te e o

mz - 2REHEERE T —NF&K
& —FUURIBEER - EEE%TZL‘%
B8Rl S & TRERE o RED
BEFrEVEDE - BEREE - WK
MEE ERIBURAMBEEE
(R MFAERETAIEE) o

[R5 8 0] B UL B8 0% S8 S (B AT
?ﬁ%ﬁ}] N ERE S KA E T AR
E o RERETETERERENA
REABRARARESEMERER
W=E-N\FNLA—B14FHE 28
LBU‘E S Et 2 RS RETEN © IR

ReRneRAFEANEERENT ¢
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

16 PROPERTY, PLANT AND
EQUIPMENT (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(a) Impairment assessment (Continued)

e B HmRNE

16 Y% - BE KRB @)

BEE (%)
(@) REFE (8

2015 2014
—Z—-hfF —E—MmF
Estimated average oil price  F&BIEARS (& 5T & ANE
per tonne for the forecast T mE
period (RMB) (AEE) 4,442 4,084
Estimated total (EEREN:
extraction of oil RlRB S
(thousands tonnes) (FAmE) 1,669 1,276
Discount rate PR 14.7% 13.6%

Based on the estimated recoverable amount,
impairment losses of approximately HK$3,246,000
and HK$6,119,000 (Note 19) were recognised for ail
properties under property, plant and equipment and
oil exploitation licences under other intangible assets
respectively.

The sensitivity analysis below highlights the effect of
changes in the key assumptions in the valuation with
all other variables held constant. A positive number
below indicates an increase in impairment losses
and a decrease in the recoverable amounts of oil

BEGTATRKEEE W% BEK
FEBEBTHEHEEREMELEE
BTN ARG AENRERB
2 Bl 4 B 7 1 3,246,000 7T K2 4978 #E
6,119,000t (M7 19) »

UTWgRESMTREEGBEREE
RREBNFE (HE0EBRS
TE)  UTERRTREBE-F
—HF=ZA=+—HLFE  FhE
2 N P ERFT A] 38 2 R (B S 1R AR

properties and oil exploitation licences as at and for KAl e & EEm L o
the year ended 31 March 2015.
HK$’'000
ST
If estimated average oil price decreases (st P h BT RN
from RMB4,442 per tonne to ANERHEEA 442 TR
RMB4,220 per tonne FAMEARE 4,2207T 13,954
If estimated total extraction of oil decreases i EH ARz RE SR
from 1,669,000 tonnes to 1,619,000 tonnes 1,669,000 AMEPE 2 1,619,000 A 8,372
If discount rate increases from 14.7% to 15.7% fHBLEERE 14.7% FHE15.7% 17,324
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mE M BRERME

16 ¥13% ~ MEKRE @

BaE - (&)

16 PROPERTY, PLANT AND
EQUIPMENT (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(a) Impairment assessment (Continued) (a) R{EFEML (@)
In addition, the Group’s service contract segment, AN - REBKRBEODE(EE
which mainly provides operational services to i) I 7 50, AT 1A LN B ([ e 5w il )
oilfield operators in the Republic of Kazakhstan Hoh HE S IR EBRE) T2
(“Kazakhstan”), was also affected by the downturn of HEORER TREOZE - At - B2
global crude oil prices. Accordingly, management has [B¥ RS BN ETHTEA RS 4
performed an impairment assessment of the Group’s FEEITRER S -
service contract business in Kazakhstan.
The carrying values of the plant and machineries ARIEE DD 2 R E RS 2 BREE
of service contract segment were written down to MR ZEJ KB SR - TR SRR ik
recoverable amounts which were determined based RBMZHEELBEAETE - APHER
on the market sales comparison approach, where HEE 2 N TER B AR T AT
the fair value less cost of disposal of the plant and e BEMTHRZ S 2 A A LLERE
machinery is derived from comparing the asset to be EFEZLBMETE -
valued directly with other comparable assets, which
have recently transacted.
The valuation of plant and machinery is carried out 5= RS 2 (B Th R S8 S (A B AN
by an independent valuer. The Board of Directors TaMHh - EE e EHWHERBE T
has reviewed and approved the valuation performed HEMETHE - AREEZED
by the independent valuer. Given the heterogeneous M HERMEE AT EERREE
nature of the assets, appropriate adjustments have AENZHEBR ZERELERE
been made by the valuer to allow for any qualitative HEEAE -  BERAFERLERAR
differences that may affect the sales price to be FRAZEFEREZNAT :
achieved by the asset under consideration. The key
assumptions used for determining fair value less cost
of disposal are as follows:
2015
—ZE—fF
Average qualitative adjustments in price AHRZ5EEZ
from comparable transactions FHE(C R 19.0%
Average disposal cost adjustment A HEK A AR 5.0%
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16 PROPERTY, PLANT AND
EQUIPMENT (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

e R R AR M

16 Y% - BE KRB @)

BEE (%)

(a) Impairment assessment (Continued) (a) REFL @
As a result of the assessment, an impairment loss of RetE% B2 —AF=A
HK$23,693,000 (2014: Nil) was recognised for the T —HIEFEBRRBEBBEE
year ended 31 March 2015. The impairment reduced 23,693,000 7C(=ZF—PUF : ) - JFiA
the deferred income tax liability relating to the value WO BRI E RS E(GEEAR
attributed to the plant and machineries acquired. The BRELASHEE - BEBERR
reduction in the deferred liability as a result of the EiMmR 7B 4,234,000 7T (B{5E35) °
impairment is HK$4,234,000 (Note 35).
The sensitivity analysis below highlights the effect of LATHRE> M REEMEREE
changes in the key assumptions in the valuation with REEBHN TR (B HME RS
all other variables held constant. A positive number D) LTNEHERTAREBEEZZ
below indicates an increase in impairment losses and *ﬁi_ﬂ —T—HLFE BEE
a decrease in the recoverable amounts of plant and W23 2 B S 1R S hn K 7] [B1 U & BE R
machineries as at and for the year ended 31 March Ao
2015.
HK$’000
BT
If average qualitative adjustments in price WAL E R S B 2
from comparable transactions increased FHHE AR
from 19.0% to 24.0% i 19.0% ¥ ZE 24.0% 723
If average disposal cost adjustment increased  fi#F15 H & K AN
from 5.0% to 10.0% i 5.0% &= 10.0% 2,220
(b) Environmental rehabilitation investment (b) RPBEZREBERE

in the PRC

Due to the underground oil exploitation method
adopted by the Group, the Group has not incurred any
significant expenditure on environmental rehabilitation
since its establishment. There is, however, no
assurance that stringent environmental policies and/
or standard on environmental rehabilitation will not be
implemented by the relevant authorities in the PRC
in the future which require the Group to undertake
environmental measures. The financial position of the
Group may be adversely affected by any environment
liabilities, which may be imposed under such new
environment policies and/or standards.

AERAEBRAN T AMBERAE
AEBE B EHR AR A FIRIREE
EEERERMAY - A - EERE
PREEERARTEERESTIR
1“Eﬁlﬁ&/7$&1i¢ BEZE%E - DABUR

//\Tmﬁxiﬁtﬂ$aflﬂ RIEBENR
i“BZﬁ&/_Hi‘fi BEEE A FMTAR
RAREHIE %TZKE.EI’JEJTW#/RL
AT 2 -

kR

RERBRRE —2-NE-LFFEHS




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mE M BRERME

17 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 17 REYEE
Group
EE
2015 2014
—E-HF CZTWF
HK$’000 HK$’000

E¥TT BT

Cost: PRANE -
At beginning and REYRFER
____endoftheyear 25658 25,658
Accumulated depreciation ZEITERRAE
and impairment:
At beginning of the year REA] 1,283 770
Depreciation for the year FRITE 513 513
_Atendoftheyear RER ... 171% 1,283
Carrying value: FREE -
At end of the year RER 23,862 24,375
Notes: MIsT -
(@)  The Group’s investment properties at their net carrying @ AEEDARESESRNIZEDFE
value are located in Hong Kong under medium-term RE - AR B ERE -
leases.
(b)  Direct operating expenses recognised in consolidated b) REARERERIEEMELEEL
income statement for investment properties amounted SR 2B A B 164,0007T( =
to approximately HK$164,000 (2014: HK$148,000). T4 : R 148,000 7T) °
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e R R AR M

17 REYZE |)

BsE : (&)

17 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

(Continued)
Notes: (Continued)

(©

As at 31 March 2015, the Group’s investment
properties in Hong Kong with an aggregate
net carrying value of HK$23,862,000 (2014:
HK$24,375,000) were pledged to secure banking
facilities granted to the Group (Note 31(d)(4)).

An independent valuation of the Group’s investment
properties was performed by the valuer, Ascent
Partners Valuation Service Ltd. (2014: Cushman &
Wakefield Valuation Advisory Services (HK) Ltd.), to
determine the fair value of the investment properties
as at 31 March 2015 and 2014. As at 31 March 2015,
the aggregate fair values of the Group’s investment
properties amounted to HK$28,700,000 (2014:
HK$28,600,000). The fair values were determined
using direct comparison approach and have been
estimated using current prices in an active market
for similar location and type with adjustments for
several significant unobservable inputs. The fair value
measurement belongs to Level 3, which significant
unobservable inputs are involved in calculating the
fair value of the investment properties. These inputs
include timing of the transactions, floor level, and size.
There were no transfers between Level 1, 2 and 3
during the year.

(©

MR-EBE-—RFE=A=+—0 K&EE
MR EBNIEEMENRE FELTE
751 23,862,000 T (ZE—4F :
# 24,375,000 7T) E/EHEIR + ABIS I
FAEEMNRITEE (HE310)4)) °

BEASBEREMENBLHETHR
HEMYAFTEZRAERAE(ZF
—F: RETEREEBEMBR
NE)HET  LNETREMER=SZ
—RAFR-_FE-—NF=ZA=Z+—HZ
ANFE -R-_E—RAF=ZA=1+—
A ANEEREVHEZ AT EBES
78 ¥ 28,700,000 L ( = F — U4 : &
#28,600,0007T) - AFEETIRAE
BLLEAET - WE AR R E
HEERMSNERNERMET - At
BTERFEATERG AR ETH
B NFEFEBE=MH  EAIEA
BRGASBIRATEREMENT
B ZEHABBRIEXSIHME - E
BXRKFERAEE - FA - F—HF- - F=
BB =P A EEE o
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e VR R

18 GOODWILL 18 &
Group
rEE
2015 2014
—EB-HF _—T-WEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT
Cost: PARE
At beginning of the year REH] 30,922 30,880
Exchange realignment ME B 240 42
_ Atendoftheyear WER 31,162 30,922
Accumulated impairment: Z5HRE
At beginning of the year HRF 1) 14,443 14,423
Exchange realignment bE 5, 8 20
__Atendoftheyear RER 14451 14,443
Carrying value: ARTEE :
At end of the year RER 16,711 16,479

Goodwill is allocated to the Group’s cash generating
units (“CGUs”) identified according to operating
segment. As at 31 March 2015 and 2014, goodwill is
allocated to the commodity segment.

The recoverable amount of a CGU is determined
based on value-in-use calculations. These calculations
use pre-tax cash flow projections based on financial
budgets approved by the Board of Directors covering
a five-year period. Cash flows beyond the five-year
period are extrapolated using the estimated growth
rates estimated by management.

EERBCEDEIRERNRE 22 H
PR eEABEM(REEESEAM]) -
RIE—RAFRZT—HF=A=1+—
H BESkEEEmoE -

ReEL BN AR E S B TIRERE
B EETE - %S ERAREESS
PrbERERF R MBFAEIELH 2
BABR2RETRR - BERFHE IR
ERETABEEEF 2 AEHEREK
HEH o
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18 GOODWILL (continued)

The key assumptions used for value-in-use
calculations are as follows:

e R R AR M

18 & @)

AREFTEEREENE2/RRMOT

2015 2014
—E-RF —F-F
Growth rate BREFE 2 EER 2.76% -0.61%

for the first five years

Growth rate beyond BEEhEFE
the first five years IR R

Inflation rate IR X

Discount rate Hrig xR

to £ 22.55% to £ 9.32%

2.76% -0.61%
2.76% 3.00%
17.36% 17.94%

These assumptions have been used for the analysis of
each CGU within the operating segment.

Management determined the weighted average
growth rate based on past performance and its
expectations of market development. The discount
rates used are pre-tax and reflect specific risks relating
to the operating segment.

As at 31 March 2015, if the estimated growth rate
applied decreased by 1.1%, with all other variables
held constant, goodwill will be impaired or otherwise
no impairment charge will be required.

As at 31 March 2015, if the estimated discount rate
applied increased by 0.5%, with all other variables
held constant, goodwill will be impaired or otherwise
no impairment charge will be required.

ZEBRRCAROMEEDBRIBEAZ
ERGELBA

EEERBBERRMNEETSER
TAHEEE T IR R - PR AT
BERGBUA M RREEED B
HEERE -

RZZE-—RF=A=+—8 " HAER
ZAAFHEREREEAA%  MEMHAE
HERSTE  HESEREREEMD
B T AT EHIRES -

RZZE—RF=A=+—H - WpER
ZAEEREIRRIEIN0.5% - MHEMAA
HEERGIE  HESSREIEEMD
BR T A FIELIRESH -
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= A =
e SRR M
19 OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS 19 Hih\EEE
Group
KrEE
oil
exploitation Customer
licences relationship Others Total
pap:ilabe
FaE EFB% Hftr &t
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT AT BT BETT
(Note)
(B3zE)
Cost: PAE
At 1 April 2013 R-ZE—=FMA—H 253,410 30,617 1,733 285,760
Exchange realignment B 5 R 345 21 - 366
At 31 March 2014 RZE—MmF
=A=1+—H 253,755 30,638 1,733 286,126
Exchange realignment B R 140 9 - 149
At 31 March 2015 RZZ—hF
e ZA=t-R 25389 0647 e 286,275
Amortisation and B RRE -
impairment;
At 1 April 2013 R-E—=FmA—H 26,793 16,735 1,733 45,261
Amortisation for the year ~ FR# 509 1,543 - 2,052
Exchange realignment TN 41 1 - 42
At 31 March 2014 RZZ—MF
ZA=1+—*H 27,343 18,279 1,733 47,355
Amortisation for the year /% 144 1,544 - 1,688
Recognition of impairment (B8 2 32
loss (Note 16(a)) (Pfi3E 16(9)) 6,119 - - 6,119
Exchange realignment B R 15 3 - 18
At 31 March 2015 RZZ—hF
e ___ZAETR 83621~ _ _ _ 19826 A8 95,180 _
Carrying value: FREE
At 31 March 2015 RZZ—-hF
=R=+-H 220,274 10,821 - 231,095
At 31 March 2014 RZZ—MF
=“A=1+—*H 226,412 12,359 - 238,771
Note: iz -
Oil exploitation licences represent two rights for oil A B ENPE EETIE NI
exploitation in the location of Heilongjiang Province of the AMAEERN BN T _tF R
PRC which will expire in 2027 and 2028 respectively. ZZ)\FER e
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20 INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 20 RMEB AR 2R

Company
REH
2015 2014
—E-RF —F-F
HK$’000 HK$’000
BET T BT T
_Unlisted shares, atcost  JFLMARM &pA®E 8254 3,254
Contributions to subsidiaries  AIffEBARI{EL 2
(Note (i) FE (B ) 616,904 424,133
Equity share-based payment R B A B LAz A% (7
in subsidiaries (Note (ii)) 2 5RIE (B i) 6,832 6,832
Less: Provision for impairment &, : JB{E B (B 5 (i)
(Note (ii) (157,708) (3,726)
e 466,028 427,239
469,282 430,493
Amounts due from subsidiaries &Y E A &) 78
(Note (iv)) (P (iv) 142,588 176,088
Less: Provision for impairment  J&{ : JR({E B4
(Note (v)) (B3E (V) (65,273) (63,925)
77,315 112,163
Amounts due to subsidiaries  FEHIB A R ZIE
(Note (iv)) (BFEE (iv) - (1,515)
77,315 110,648
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20 INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES
(Continued)
Notes:

Pursuant to special resolution, amounts due from
subsidiaries of approximately HK$193,427,000 were
designated as quasi-capital loan contributions to
subsidiaries. The contributions to subsidiaries are
unsecured, interest-free and considered as capital in
nature.

In accordance with HKFRS 2 “Share-based payment”,
share-based payment transactions in which an entity
receives services from its employees as consideration
for equity instruments of the entity are accounted
for as equity-settled transactions (Note 2(x)(ii)).
The Company has recognised the grant of equity
instruments to subsidiaries’ employees amounting to
HK$6,832,000 (2014: HK$6,832,000) as contributions
to its subsidiaries.

Movements in the provision for impairment of
contributions to subsidiaries are as follows:

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mE M BRERME

20 RIMB AT ZER @)

GEE

U)

(i)

(i)

R R - BRI B AR F0E
476 #5 193,427,000 JT 1 45 & B IR
FHBARZEARER - MNEA
AR 2 FE TR - R E KRR
BBERNE o

RIBE BT EHRELERFE 25 [ LA
MBI ZFE] EUARD IS 2R
S MEEEEESIREREILIA
ZEBCESTEERRE  BER
SPBRUBREER S AR (KM E2Kx)
(i) e RABIEHMBETFHBAREEZ
s T A1 6,832,000 T (— & —MY
& 1 %5 6,832,000 7T ) FE R A M E T
BARMELR ZEE o

I A RIEE 22 R
o -

2015 2014

—E-HF —ZE—mEF

HK$’000 HK$'000

BT T BT T

At beginning of the year REF] 3,726 3,726
Recognition of BEEE 2 TR

impairment loss 153,982 -

At end of the year RER 157,708 3,726

The amounts due from/to subsidiaries are unsecured,
interest-free and repayable on demand.

The carrying amounts of the amounts due from/to
subsidiaries are denominated in the following currencies:

(iv)

R, FEAT B B 2 RIFRIB R
RERIRBIER -

FEUFEATFf BB A RIFRIA 2 BREE TD
BN EEEHE

2015 2014

—E-RF —F—qF

HK$’000 HK$’'000

BT T BT

HK$ B 77,274 73,255
uss$ ETT 41 3,383
RMB AREE - 34,010
77,315 110,648
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

20 INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

(Continued)
Notes: (Continued)

\)

(vi)

(vil)

Movements in the provision for impairment of amounts
due from subsidiaries are as follows:

e B HmRNE

20 RMIB AR Z#ER (@)

BEE (%)

)

e B 1 B FRIB 2 R E B # B an
T

2015 2014

—E-RF —T—-mF

HK$’000 HK$’000

BT T BT

At beginning of the year REH 63,925 197,031
Recognition of impairment loss BB 518 2 HER 1,348 -
Written off (Note) s (M) - (133,059)
Exchange realignment R = (47)
At end of the year RER 65,273 63,925

Note:

During the year ended 31 March 2015, the Board
of Directors of the Company resolved to waive the
amounts due from subsidiaries of approximately Nil
(2014: HK$133,059,000), the respective impairment
loss recognised in previous years amounting to
approximately Nil (2014: HK$133,106,000) has been
written off.

There are no subsidiaries that have non-controlling
interests that are material to the Group as at 31 March
2015 and 2014.

Particulars of principal subsidiaries of the Company as
at 31 March 2015 and 2014 are set out in Note 43.

(vi)

(vii)

F&E -

REE-T—RAF=-_A=+—HILF
B RARFIESERRREEKME
REFBEHAS(ZE—NF : B
133,059,000 7T ) * @A FE iR
ZHEEREBEENAT (ZE—UF
751 133,106,000 7T ) & T4 o

R-ZE-—RAFRER-_FT—NOFE=A
=t+—B BMEMNBELRHEAEAE
i = BE A FREHIEfE

AKRNFRZBE—RAFER_ZE—OF=
B=+—BZ2XEWBRRIFBHR
Bi3E£43 -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e VR R

21 INTERESTS IN AN ASSOCIATE

21 R—REBE AR ZER

Group
E
2015 2014
—E-HF ZT—UF
HK$°000 HK$’000
BT T BT TT
Cost of investments in an R—REtE AR 2
associate (Note (a)) WERKAE (M () 75,592 75,592
Share of post-acquisition LR 2 EEE
comprehensive losses (63,492) (43,044)
Contributions to an unlisted m—RHE LT E AR
associate HE 9,327 9,327
21,427 41,875

During the year, the movements in the Group’s
interests in an associate are as follows:

RER - AEER—RBER T
TRFEEHNT

Group
&
2015 2014
—B-HF —TWF
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT
Carrying amount at beginning ~ F¥8REE
of the year 41,875 42,554
Share of loss of an associate  fE{l — & A A& 1E (20,557) (759)
Share of exchange reserve G BE 5 R 109 80
Carrying amount at end of FAREEE
the year 21,427 41,875
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

INTERESTS IN AN ASSOCIATE
(Continued)

Note:

@)

The Group held 43.00% equity interests in Lee Shing
Mining Co., Ltd (“Lee Shing Mining”), which directly
holds 80% equity interests in Guizhou Rongfa Mining
Company Limited (EM&EREBR A A]) (‘Guizhou
Rongfa Mining”), which possesses an exclusive
exploration right of vanadium mining in Guizhou
Province, the PRC.

Lee Shing Mining is a private company and there is no
quoted market price available for its shares. There are
no contingent liabilities relating to the Group’s interest
in Lee Shing Mining.

Particulars of the Group’s associate are set out as
follows:

e B HmRNE

21 R—EBE N T 2w E)

GEE

@)

)

REEF AN KEEER AR ([FIK
&3 ]) 2 43.00% R & - T I BCBE 56
EEFRAEMEEBREERAB(E
MERBREE]) (RHEETEEMEN
RN ERE) 2 80% R

MR —HALERE - ERHY
BEMISHE - AEBELEEFE MK
PR 2 e AR A RIS

REEEZEQRAMFITEHIIT

Name of Place of Proportion of voting
associate incorporation power held indirectly Principal activities
BENREMH ALt B BiEEEREELH TEEH
2015 2014
—E-RF —ZT—F
Lee Shing Mining Hong Kong 43.00% 43.00%  Investment holding of an
exclusive exploration right of
vanadium mining in Guizhou
Province, the PRC
MK B HEEMNENEN BRI RE

REEK

The summarised financial information in respect of the
Group’s associate is set out below:

7R s W A T 00 T B R E 81
T

Group

REE
2015 2014
—E—ffF —ZT—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T T T
Total assets BEE 80,854 139,990
Total liabilities BEE (26,597) (26,260)
Net assets BEFE 54,257 113,730
Revenue Wz - -
Loss for the year FREE (59,730) (2,154)

PhRERERERAF
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mE M BRERME

22 PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND 22 %Eg%klia REREMER

OTHER RECEIVABLES MIE
Group Company
piS-3 | YN
2015 2014 2015 2014
—E-1f —T-mF “2-1% —E-F
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000
BT T Jiotiom e BET T BETT
Deposits and receivables 8§,/ HE 2184 R
in respect of acquisitions/  FEYEIE (Fii3E (a))
disposals (Note (a)) 63,682 50,236 44,997 29,997
Advances to suppliers R 2N 52,241 33,917 - -
Prepaid consultation fee ~ TBTRRRIE (P& (o))
(Note (b)) 3,943 10,300 3,943 10,300
Amount due from substantial FE4EE R FIE
shareholders (HEE10 R ()
(Notes 10 and (c)) 5,450 5,450 5,450 5,450
Other receivables (Note () E i EUFIE
(M () 55,559 31,867 38,532 8,062
180,875 131,770 92,742 53,809
Less: Provision for B RERE
impairment (Note (d)) (3T (d)) (88,241) (55,825) (29,997) -
92,634 75,945 62,745 53,809
Less: amount shown under J& : JERENEETE
non-current assets T REE (44,007) (28,010) (44,007) (24,126)
Amount shown under MEEEIR AT
current assets il 48,537 47935 18,648 29,683
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e R R AR M

22 PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND 22 FAMNFIE  IRE R EAMEY

OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued) FIE (1)
Notes: Bk -
(@  The amounts mainly comprise the following: @ ZECETFEERTINEE:

U

In relation to a letter of intent (“LOI”) dated
12 May 2010 for the acquisition of 52%
participating interests in an oil and gas
exploration and exploitation project in Modamuiji
Sagin Hailaer Basin (the “Modamuiji Project”),
which was terminated on 5 January 2012, the
Group had paid an amount of RMB35,000,000
(approximately HK$39,998,000) as an initial
deposit (the “Deposit”) to an independent
third party (the “Third Party”) who holds 100%
participating interests in the Modamuiji Project.

In prior years, the Company agreed to waive
an amount of RMB5,000,000 (approximately
HK$6,163,000) whereas the Third Party
repaid RMB6,000,000 (approximately
HK$7,311,000) to the Company. Exchange gain
of approximately HK$3,473,000 was realised
as a result of the settlement of the balance. For
the remaining balance, the Third Party signed
a settlement agreement on 1 April 2014 with
the Group and agreed to settle the outstanding
balance by 24-month by instalments of
RMB1,000,000 (approximately HK$1,251,000)
each.

For the year ended 31 March 2015, the
Third Party has defaulted in repayments
of any instalments to the Group. As at
31 March 2015, the outstanding balance
amounted to RMB24,000,000 (approximately
HK$29,997,000). Accordingly, the entire
remaining amount was impaired and recognised
in the consolidated income statement for the
year ended 31 March 2015.

M

RERAE-_ZTZTFRA+Z
B A A A B U E 7 Modamuj
Sagin Hailaer Basin 2 A # & &
ARHEERARER ([EEAR
HFEAB| BERZ=ZE—=—F—A
FHKIL) 252% 2 iR
EmE(EME]D  A&EEE
MBLE=FTE=H] #F
BEEAREFIEE Z100% 2 i
=) 2% AR 35,000,000
T (%) 7% # 39,998,000 7T ) 1E &
B ([E2]) -

RBAEFE  ARFRERE
A R #5,000,0007T ( 4 75
6,163,0007T) * ME=FH E [
A RMER AR 6,000,000 7T
(#4784 7,311,0007T) ° [ UL
FRABEE 3,473,000 LT EFAME
FerEam &R - BRI AR
5 EBZHER-_Z—HNEN
A—HHAEEZE—DEHN
W - WEER24 @8 5 E8H
ROARENRGRESR 88
2 A R %1,000,000 7T (4978
#1,251,0007T) °

BHE-_T—RAF=—A=1+—H
IEFE  FZAKRERAEER
EHEMDSHER RZF
—hAF=ZA=Z+—H  xEE
“Eek A AR 24,000,000 7T (49
7 29,097,0007T) © EItt &
HREspeEERE TREE
TE-RE=ZR=+—HItHF
EZiRE WS RANIER -

PLERERERAR —E-NE-EFFERS




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mE M BRERME

22 PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND
OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(@)

The amounts mainly comprise the following:
(Continued)

(i)  Amount due from a non-controlling shareholder
of Topact Holdings Limited (“Topact”) in respect
of certain excluded assets and liabilities
of approximately HK$12,102,000 (2014:
HK$12,102,000). The Group has recognised a
full provision for impairment of HK$12,102,000
(2014: HK$12,102,000) in prior years as the
Board of Directors considered the recovery of
the entire amount may not be probable.

@iy On 26 January 2015, the Group entered
into a non-legally binding memorandum of
understanding (“MOU”) with independent third
parties (“Vendors”) in relation to the possible
acquisition of the entire issued share capital of
Perfect Reward Limited. Pursuant to the MOU,
the Group paid an amount of HK$15,000,000 as
initial deposit to the Vendors. On 24 April 2015,
the Group entered into an acquisition agreement
with the Vendors, details of which are set out in
Note 41(b).

The amount represents prepaid consultation fees
of HK$3,943,000 (2014: HK$10,300,000). On 29
November 2012, the Group entered into a service
agreement with an external consultant for the provision
of business development strategies and advisory
services (the “Service Agreement”). Pursuant to the
Service Agreement, the Group should grant to the
external consultant a total of 350,000,000 warrants
conferring to subscribe up to HK$63,000,000 for new
ordinary shares of the Company during a period of 33
months commencing from the date 3 months from
the date of issue at an exercise price of HK$0.18 per
share. The transaction was accounted for as share-
based payment in accordance with HKFRS 2. The fair
value of the warrants amounting to HK$18,540,000
was credited to share-based payment reserve. During
the year ended 31 March 2015, share-based payment
expense of HK$6,357,000 (2014: HK$6,180,000)
(Note 8) was recognised in the consolidated income
statement.

22 FEFIE - RERHEAMEW

FRIE (#)
M ()

(@

ZETRIZRETIIRE : (&)

i) HMETHRINEEREBEHAE
12,102,000 7¢ (ZZ — P04 : &
#£12,102,000 7T ) Ty & U IE 7
Ji% i% 3 Topact Holdings Limited
([Topact]) &) FE YL 5% 18 » B 7
EEERAETAEKE 2
B MAEEERBAEFER
B8 12,102,000 7T (—Z—Y
& 1 B#12,102,000 7T) FER R
REEE -

iy RZZTE—RAF—A=+,H"
ANEFBBEE=F(TEH )
8 Ut % Perfect Reward Limited
ZEHABEITBRAFEIT —HT
BFRENR 2B ES
8x1) - IRIBETE  AEEM
& 7 X - 75 % 15,000,000 7T 1B
AEHIRS N-_ZE—HEMN
AZ+MHE REFEEFF]
v-IHEWERE BEFEH
PMIEE41 () ©

5% RO 5 B EE R B 7B 5 3,943,000
t( == — U4 : % ¥10,300,000
L) e RZE——F+—A=+N
B A&EEHE—FINEERBIRME
EBERERBNMEBRBEII L — 5
Rz ([ REHZED - BERS
WiE AEBERTIHEERAE X
350,000,000 R A #EFE - 7] B R
fE B s T B EIHESA A 2 B 1A
MEETR3ME A I B NIRRT B
018 T ZITFERBEARAR AL B
63,000,000 T Z #FTE T - 2R 5 TH
RIBEB B EHREERE 25 AT
YEAR S SIS 25008 - RIREE Z A
B 18,540,000 7T J 5 A AR5
YR FERE HE_T—RF=
A=+—B1tFE WD ZH
T8 B X A8 6,357,000 (—Z & — MW
& #%6,180,0007T) (MizE8) Jim
IRA SR NRER o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

22 PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND

OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

() The balances are unsecured, interest-free and

repayable on demand.

(d)  Movements in the provision for impairment are as follows:

22 FE{TIE -

e B HmRNE

Be REMER

FRIE (#)
M ()

O ZEEHRABIER . ©LRARSL
fE2 -

(d) IREREZBNT

Group Company
b | N
2015 2014 2015 2014
—2-1% —ZmF —2-1f —T-WF
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000
BETR BT BETT BETT
At beginning of the year R EH] 55,825 29,743 - -
Recognition of RIEE R R
impairment losses (fizE6)
(Note ) 32,412 31,048 29,997 -
Written off MisH - (4,966) - -
Exchange realignment (& 5 #§% 4 - - -
At end of the year RER 88,241 55,825 29,997 -
During the year ended 31 March 2015, the B2 Z—HAF=-A=+—HIt#F
Group recognised impairment losses amounting B AEERFThZEESR 2 TKRE
to HK$32,412,000 (2014: HK$31,048,000) on MHepke REBKE HEZE
deposits and receivables in respect of acquisitions/ Uy FR T8 7 #5 29,997,000 7T ( —ZF — P
disposals amounting to HK$29,997,000 (2014: F 0 & ¥12,102,0007T ) ~ [ &
HK$12,102,000), advances to suppliers amounted EZBRBERT(ZE—WF B
to Nil (2014: HK$16,832,000), and other receivables #16,832,000 7T ) LA & E th fE Ug 50 IE
amounted to HK$2,415,000 (2014: HK$2,114,000) 82,415,000 ( Z T — M 4F : B
after assessing the recoverability of these balances. #2,114,000 7T ) HE SRR 1B B3 BB
32,412,000t ( =T — M & : B ¥
31,048,0007T) °

() The carrying amounts of prepayments, deposits and ) FENFE - Ze REMEWEIE R

other receivables net of impairment are denominated B (F0BRIAE) THIR T3 EEHE

in the following currencies:
Group Company
PN | N

2015 2014 2015 2014

—g-1f —T-|mF —E-IF —T-E

HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000

BETT BT BETT BETT

HKS$ it 47,368 12,670 61,393 23,573

RMB ARE 41,363 57,242 1,352 29,996

Others Hth 3,903 6,033 - 240

92,634 75,945 62,745 53,809

PLERERERAR —E-NE-EFFERS




= A =
e SRR ME
23 OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS 23 HittemEE
Other financial assets of the Group comprised of the TEEHMEMEEREUATRIE
following:
Group
REH
2015 2014
—E-hF —T-F
HK$’000 HK$’ 000
BET T BT T
Held-for-trading investments:  EEEEHRE :
Listed equity security REB_ETHIRRA
__nHongKong  EZ 12 162
Available-for-sale investments:  AJ{t HERE -
Unlisted equity investment, FELETRAIKE -
at cost LR 5,837 5,837
— Less: Provision for — B ORERE
impairment (5,837) (5,837)
Listed equity security in REB EMHIRAES
Hong Kong (Note (a)) (P 5E (2)) 47,647 74,314
Unlisted debt securities JELTESES
(Note (b)) (P 5T (b)) - 5,003
e 47,647 79,317
47,779 79,479
Less: amount shown under B IEREBEEE T
non-current assets Fr%5~& %8 (47,647) (74,314)
Amount shown under current  RENE EIE N ATHIR
assets Gkl 132 5,165
Market value of listed securities &% 2 H{E 47,779 74,476
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHRERME

23 OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS 23 Hit&MEE @)

(Continued)

Notes: BfaE -

(@  The listed equity security represents the Group’s long- @ LETIRABHFERAEERSESEE
term investment of 13.34% equity interest in Gold Tat BRAERRAR (£ ])13.34% % #E M
Group International Ltd (“Gold Tat”). It is measured REPRE - EELER T —AF
at fair value with reference to the bid prices on the AT AEBRAZEANERERE
Stock Exchange as at 31 March 2015. With reference NFEEE 2E-_F—HF=H
to the bid price on the Stock Exchange as at 31 =T —ABMXFNEAR  BEZZT
March 2015, the fair value of Gold Tat decreased by —AF A=+ HILFESEN
approximately HK$26,667,000 (2014: increase of A FE T B 4978 % 26,667,000 7T (=
approximately HK$21,382,000) and the same amount T — U4 EA 4% 21,382,000
was debited (2014: credited) to the investment TL) U ERBIRE E R ENREAAER
revaluation reserve for the year ended 31 March 2015. HEE(ZZ—UF  #ER) ©

(b)  Other financial assets are denominated in the following b) EEmEETIATIEEE
currencies:

Group
AEH
2015 2014
—E-HEF —T—F
HK$’°000 HK$’000
BT T BT
HK$ BHE 47,779 74,476
RVB AR - 5,003
47,779 79,479
() As at 31 March 2014, unlisted debt securities of © RZZE—WF=—A=+—H ' RAET

RMB4,000,000 or approximately HK$5,003,000 were
purchased from certain financial institutions. They were
measured at fair value with reference to the valuation
provided by the respective financial institutions. The
entire amount was received in full by the Group during
the year ended 31 March 2015.

TREEBRBENFLMERESBA
FR ¥ 4,000,000 7T 3k 4778 # 5,003,000
TTe B2 EZSREBMIRHZ
fMERRAFEEE RBE-F
—hAF=A=t—HILFE  F~&£E
SR E #RFOR -

PLERERERAR —E-NE-EFFERS




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mE M BRERME

24 INVENTORIES 24 FE

Group

AEE
2015 2014
—E—EF —ZE—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
BET T BT T
Consumables FEM 324 3,858
Raw materials [kt 6,303 8,512
Finished goods 2URK 553 301
7,180 12,671

The cost of inventories recognised as expense amounted
to HK$781,452,000 (2014: HK$947,363,000).

25 TRADE RECEIVABLES

HRAERINTFEXKRAEE®
781,452,0007C( — & — WM F : B

947,363,000 7C) °

25 B G EWFIE

Group
REH
2015 2014
—E-HF ZT-NF
HK$°000 HK$’000
BT T BT
Trade receivables Z 5 WA 317,385 117,337
Less: Provision for impairment  J& : Ji{E &
(Note (d)) (MI3E () (3,779) (3,799
313,606 113,538
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

25 TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)

Notes:

(@) Before accepting any new customer, the Group uses
an internal credit assessment system to assess the
potential customer’s credit quality and defines credit
limits by customer. The management considers
adequate allowance has been made at end of
the year. Balances which are neither past due nor
impaired are all receivable from customers with good
historical repayment records and good credit quality.

(o)  Trade receivables are due within 30 to 90 days (2014:
30 to 90 days) from the date of invoicing.

(c) Aging analysis of trade receivables based on invoice
date net of impairment is as follows:

e B HmRNE

25 B 5 EIWFRIE &)
e

@)

REMETAHMEFH > ARESER
AEMEEHEERRFEEEREF ZE
EEELREFEFPEERSE - EHEE
RRRERSIEH RERE - K@
HIMER(E R R B AR R
TEEECHEMRFEEERZERP
Z M ERIA -

BHRYFERBERAMEFT =1
HEATBE(ZZ—mOF: =+H=
N+H)AZIE -

B 5 FEUGRIA (R RE) RIEHE A
Mz fREe DM T

Group

rEE
2015 2014
—E-0F —T—mE
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BETIT
Less than 1 month T~R—EA 82,929 9,588
1 month to 3 months —(EAZE=EA 188,907 98,035

More than 3 months but BR=—EAETRE—F

less than 1 year 40,473 5,202
Over 1 year HBE—F 1,297 713
313,606 113,538
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e VR R

25 TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued) 25

Notes: (Continued)

(d)  Movements in the provision for impairment during the
year are as follows:

B 5 ENFE @)
M ()

)

TR OREREZFHOT

Group

rEE
2015 2014
—B-RF —TEF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
BET T BT
At beginning of the year REH] 3,799 2,666

Recognition of impairment R {EE5 1B 2 1R (Fi3E6)

losses (Note 6) - 1,129
Exchange realignment & H 20 4
At end of the year REFER 3,779 3,799

(e) Included in the Group’s trade receivables balance
are debtors with an aggregate carrying amount of
HK$121,791,000 (2014: HK$20,519,000), which are
past due at end of the year for which the Group has
not provided for any impairment as there has not been
a significant change in credit quality and the amounts
are still considered recoverable. The Group does not
hold any collateral over these balances. Aging analysis
of trade receivables based on due date which are past
due but not impaired is as follows:

REEE HEWFIEEARBDIERE L
B/ B%121,791,000L( =& — 1
% : 8%20,519,0007T) BRFRE
BHREYERT - MASEY ERE
ELERDRERE - AREELERY
BEREE  HZEFFEDEKRRA
Yo - REREI B A FERFTFAE
Efm - CARELERENES
JE W SR IR AR #5 B B H &Y BR e 0 1T 1A
™

Group

A 4E
2015 2014
—E-HF —E-EF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
BET T BT
Less than 1 month TE—EA 100,698 3,705
1 month to 3 months —(EAZE=1EA 6,481 14,532

More than 3 months but BR=—EAETRE—F

less than 1 year 13,316 1,569
Over 1 year HBA—F 1,296 713
121,791 20,519
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

25 TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)

Notes: (Continued)

()  The carrying amounts of trade receivables are

e B HmRNE

25 B 5 EIWFRIE &)
Wz ()

 EBEIEEFEIREETATIER

denominated in the following currencies: EHE

Group

REHE
2015 2014
—E-hF —E—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT T
HK$ o 43,172 17,119
uss$ ETT 152,879 72,313
RMB AREE 112,238 19,799
Others Hith 5,317 4,307
313,606 113,538

(@ As at 31 March 2015, the Group’s trade receivables
with aggregate carrying value of HK$196,051,000
(2014: HK$89,432,000) were pledged to secure
banking facilities granted to the Group (Note 31(d)(3)).

26 LOANS RECEIVABLE

@ RZZE—RF=A=+—8 '4~5%HE
IR 4B A5 % 196,051,000 T (=ZZ
— P04 @ B#89,432,0007T) 2 B 5
FEBGRIEE T - UIBETARE
B2 RITEE (MIRE31(d)(3)) °

26 FEWE R

Group

rEH
2015 2014
—E-RF —T—HF
HK$°000 HK$’000

ki T BT T

Loans receivable JEWE TR

29,159 -

The Group’s loans receivable, which arise from the
money lending business of providing short-term
loans to independent third parties in Hong Kong, are
denominated in HKS.

R EE RSB B S = R
B SRR A U K - TILAE
SHE -

seRmRRARLD ~¥-mE-menERE _




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mE M BRERME

26 LOANS RECEIVABLE (Continued) 26 FEIRE R @)

Loans receivable bear coupon interest rates ranging
from 15.0% to 24.0% and are repayable with fixed
terms ranging from one to six months agreed with
the Group’s customers. The carrying amounts are
determined using the expected future repayments
discounted at effective interest rates ranging from
15.1% to 24.5%.

Certain loans receivable are secured by collaterals
by customers. The maximum exposure to credit at
each of the reporting dates is the carrying value of
the receivables mentioned above. Interest income of
HK$4,487,000 has been recognised as revenue in the
consolidated income statement.

As at 31 March 2015 and 2014, the maturity profile
of the loans receivable based on maturity date is as
follows:

BERERZIHEBENF15.0%E
24.0% @ BT EFHRERNERTF#H
B NF—2XEA - BREERBHE
IR FEEIR15.1% & 24.5% H) B B A
KYTRET -

ATRERKEFRHEFPIRERFER -1
EWwEH R NRAEERR A it
FEWRIER AR EE © &% 4,487,000 7T
HF EABRERA W R AR AR

N2
X o
T

RIE—RAFR-_T-—NF=RA=+—
B EWERODEER (R E 2
D) (N

Group

rEH
2015 2014
—E-hF —F-F
HK$’000 HK$’000

BT T BT T

Less than 1 month TR—EA 8,155 -
1 month to 3 months — (@A = =1&H 21,004 -
29,159 -

The credit quality of loans receivable has been ERERNEEERNE2EF@EF

assessed by reference to historical information
about counterparties’ credit history. The existing
counterparties do not have defaults in the past.

RS AE S ERHE R 1T - B
BT A R0 -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHRERME

27 DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL 27 TTESRIT A
INSTRUMENTS
Group
AEE
2015 2014
—E-1% —T-mF
Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities
EE af BE BE
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BT BT BRI
Derivative financial instruments  $FEEE 2
held-for-trading: THEERTA :
Interest rate swaps (Note ()~ I8 5 (5t (a) - 230 - 1,563
Foreign currency forward INEEREEH
contracts (Note (b)) (W32 (b)) - 26,512 746 36,503
Total derivative financial MTESBT AR
instruments - 26,742 746 38,066
The derivative financial instruments are held-for- MTESMIADNHEEERRN - RF
trading purposes. The fair values of interest rate N MR RAINER S AR A THE
swaps and foreign currency forward contracts at end HEBEFHRITIEME -

of the year are provided by the counterparty banks.

(@) Interest rate swaps (@ FZ==HA

At 31 March 2015, the fixed interest rates vary R-ZE—RF=A=+—H"

from 2.5% to 3.0% (2014: 2.5% to 3.0%), and ERBEE25%E3.0% (=T —M

the main floating rate is HIBOR. Loss recognised F:25%E3.0%) 2 @& & -

on the changes in fair value of the interest rate mEZZFEBNNEA/EBRITRZE

swap contracts during the year amounted to FE - REAFA XA AT

HK$57,000 (2014: Loss of HK$565,000). EEERERNEEAB 57,000
T(ZZE—NF: BEAB
565,0007T) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e VR R

27 DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b)  Foreign currency forward contracts

The notional principal amounts of the outstanding
forward foreign exchange contracts at 31 March
2015 were US$208,000,000 (approximately
HK$1,612,000,000) (2014: US$200,000,000,
approximately HK$1,550,000,000). The strike
rates for the forward foreign exchange contracts
vary from 6.04 to 6.50 (2014: 6.04 to 6.14). The
strike rates are expressed as the RMB to US$
exchange rates.

Gain recognised on the changes in fair value of
the foreign currency forward contracts during the
year amounted to HK$4,536,000 (2014: Loss of
HK$28,220,000).

(c) The carrying amounts of derivative financial

27 (TEER T EH )
b) SNEEERAH

RZZE—RE=A=+—8 "1
REERHIESGHNBER
% %8 /4208,000,0003 JT( #) 74
#1,612,000,0007T ) ( —Z — [
£ : 200,000,000 Jr * #)5& #&
1,550,000,000 7T ) ° = HiHMNE &
W B1TF EE6.04E6.50( =
T— 04 :6.0426.14) 2 B &
o MITHMERTABARKEHE
TCHIPE K o

REAFRINE RIS DA FE
)R e e /5% 4,536,000
T(ZE—OF: BEERBK
28,220,0007T) °

© PTTEEMITEAEZEREETIATY

instruments are denominated in the following B¥EHE -
currencies:
Group
TEE
2015 2014
—E-HF —T-MF
Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities
BE afE BE BE
HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$’'000
BT T BT T BT BT T
US$ ET - 26,742 746 38,066

(d) The maximum exposure to credit risk at the
reporting date is the fair value of the derivative
financial assets in the consolidated statement of
financial position.

0 RB/EBPEATHNZAEERR
BEREVBERARRAITTESRME
ERAFE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHRERME

28 CASH AND BANK BALANCES 28 IRE KIB1T4ER
Group Company
PN | VN
2015 2014 2015 2014
~§-if -FT-MF —%-EF C"TQF
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

BRI BT BRI AT

Cash at bank and onhand  #R{TRFEES 212,766 134,665 95,312 63,201
Less: Restricted bank B BIERET
deposits (Note 31 (0)2)  F (FizE31(0)2)) (46,980) (30,033) - -
Cash and cash equivalents & KR4 EEEE 165,786 104,632 95,312 63,201
Weighted average T BB =
effective interest rate 0.80% 0.90% 0.02% 0.01%
The carrying amounts of cash and bank balances are Re RRITHEBRNREBET AT EE
denominated in the following currencies: FHE :
Group Company
NS | YNNG
2015 2014 2015 2014
—E-1f “T-F —“E-1F —T-mF
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

ERTT BT BRI BT

HK$ ik 148,259 67,489 95,227 63,178
Us$ e 5,479 31,257 - -
RMB AR 58,580 34,293 85 23
Others Hit 448 1,626 = -

212,766 134,665 95,312 63,201

seRmRRARLD ~¥-mE-menERE _



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mE M BRERME

29 TRADE PAYABLES 29 B ENFIE
Group
REH
2015 2014
—E-HF ZTWF
HK$’000 HK$’000

E¥TT BT

Trade payables B ZENIE 266,485 101,946
Bills payables ENRE 28,576 26,590
295,061 128,536

Notes: BfsE -

(@ The following is an aging analysis of trade and bills @ MNTABSENFEBERENEENE
payables presented based on the invoice date and RIZBRZEAHEEREBBES ZREK
date of the bills at end of the year. DHT ©
Aging analysis of trade payables is as follows: B REMNFIBZRERSITWOT ¢

Group

REE
2015 2014
—E-HF —Z O
HK$’000 HK$’'000
BT T ST I
Less than 1 month TEe—1EA 47,886 76,872
1 month to 3 months —EAz=@A 148,310 19,936

More than 3 months but less BB =18 A EBTE—F

than 1 year 69,950 5,060
Over 1 year iR —F 339 78
266,485 101,946
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHRERME

[ =3 =+, .
29 TRADE PAYABLES (Continued) 29 B 5 EIFIE )
Notes: B5E -
@  (Continued) @ (&)
Aging analysis of bills payables is as follows: ENEERZRERSITINT -
Group
rEE
2015 2014
—E—RF —E—UFE
HK$’°000 HK$’'000
BET T BT T
Less than 1 month T~e—@A 17,605 3,580
1 month to 3 months —(@AZ==1EAH 10,971 23,010
28,576 26,590
(b)  The carrying amounts of trade and bill payables are ) BZENZERENEEZEREBETD
denominated in the following currencies: LAY EHEHE
Group
rEH
2015 2014
—E-RF —T—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
BET T BT
HKS$ B 15,937 -
us$ ET 162,206 103,936
RMB AR 114,316 24,600
Others HAtb 2,602 -
295,061 128,536

seRmRRARLD ~¥-mE-menERE _



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mE M BRERME

30 ACCRUALS AND OTHER PAYABLES 30 FEsTRUEKR HAitFERUE

Group Company
X&E Y\ UNG|
2015 2014 2015 2014
“E-1f “E-mE “E-1f “E-mE
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000
BT AT BETT BRI
Consideration payables ~ JERA(EB 6,257 6,254 - -
Receipts in advance TEYHIE 1,591 2,427 - -
Construction cost payables JERFZERA A 18,872 13,486 - -
Other payables HiERTUR 20,082 30,696 13,385 14,333
46,802 52,863 13,385 14,333
The carrying amounts of accruals and other payables FEET I8 N H At FE S B Y BREE T5 A
are denominated in the following currencies: THNEEEE
Group Company
PN | VA UNG|

2015 2014 2015 2014
—E-1f “ET-mE —Z-%f —ZT-mEF
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
BETT AT BETT BT
HKS o 13,895 16,129 13,385 14,191
RMB AR 31,348 32,649 - -
Others Hfth 1,559 4,085 - 142
46,802 52,863 13,385 14,333
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 BANK BORROWINGS

e B HmRNE

31 RITEE

Group

AEH
2015 2014
—ET-HF —F—F
HK$°000 HK$’000
BT T BT T
Bank loans RITERK 46,585 40,000
Bank overdrafts RITHEX 39 8,975
46,624 48,975

Notes: BisE -

(@ As at 31 March 2015 and 2014, the Group’s bank
borrowings are payable within 1 year.

(b) Bank loans and overdrafts contain a repayment on
demand clause which enables the bank to exercise at
its sole discretion. Accordingly, the entire balance was
classified under current liabilities as at 31 March 2015
and 2014.

(c) As at 31 March 2015, the bank loans and overdrafts
are interest-bearing with variable rate at contractual
interest of HIBOR plus certain basis points per annum.
The effective interest rate for the year is 2.90% (2014:
3.34%). The borrowings are repayable in a lump sum
payment upon maturity in accordance with the terms
set out in the respective banking facility letters.

@)

R_ZE—HEN_ZT—WUE=A
=+—8 AEBETEEAR—F
NEE -

RITERMEXBSRITA2RITE
ZREBEFREEGR - At R=F
—hERZT-MOFE=ZRA=+—A8"
EEERIIBRBAIE

N_ZE—RE=ZA=+—8 78
RRBZTVRIZEGTE - MR 2 BI%
EBRTRAERSNEFEETER
MEHNFEFE - FREBIEXRA
290% (—ZF— % : 3.34%) - (B &
TIIRBER S IRITEE R 2 IERR
FIEAR — B AT o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e VR R

31 BANK BORROWINGS (continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(d) Asat 31 March 2015, the Group pledged the following
assets to secure the Group’s bank borrowings and
trading facilities:

(1)  Corporate guarantee executed by the Company
for an unlimited amount;

(2) Fixed deposit placed in banks for the bank
borrowings and trading facilities utilised. As at
31 March 2015, the Group has maintained fixed
deposits of RMB37,542,000 (approximately
HK$46,980,000) (2014: US$3,872,000 or
approximately HK$30,033,000) for the aforesaid
pUrpose;

(8)  Trade receivables to the extent of carrying amount
of HK$196,051,000 (2014: HK$89,432,000); and

(4)  An investment property with a carrying value of
HK$23,862,000 (2014: HK$24,375,000).

(e)  The carrying amounts of the Group’s bank borrowings
and overdrafts are denominated in US$ (2014: HK$)
and HK$ (2014: HK$) respectively and approximate
their fair values.

31 RITEE®@

BaE : ()
d RZZE—HF=A=+—H F&H

EHEMTIEE  (EANEEIRTRE
EREZEERER

(1) ARBRERSBELZAR
ER

@) FERRBITUERTEERE
GEERBZTEHENR - K=
T-—FF=ZRA=+—H" ' K
EEFAMENEFTHT
A R #37,542,0007T (4978
#46,980,0007C ) ( = F — Y
& : 3,872,000 T =k 4 7B #
30,033,0007%) :

(3) BRME {E =& ¥ 196,051,000 7T
—ZF PO : ¥ 89,432,000
TO)ME ZREWERIE - &

(4) BREEAB23,862,0007T (=
T —PU4F : B 24,375,0007T)
ZIEYE -

AEBRITEERBEZHREETD
FIAET(ZF—MF : BE) LB

—TF B FHELEE R
B -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHRERME

32 SHARE CAPITAL 32 g7
Number of shares Share capital
REE B
2015 2014 2015 2014
“E-nf% “E-mE “E-1f —E-mEF
Note '000 '000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Bzt T Fix BT T BETIT
Ordinary shares ShEE
of HK$0.01 each ABE0.017T
VE R
Authorised: AT
At beginning and RETNRER
end of the year 8,000,000 8,000,000 80,000 80,000
Issued and fully paid: EREITRAR -
At beginning of R
the year 4,600,624 4,600,624 46,006 46,006
Exercise of share 1TfbEERE
options @ 150,100 - 1,501 -
Exercise of TR
warrants (b) 235,000 - 2,350 -
At end of the year REX 4,985,724 4,600,624 49,857 46,006

BB A AB R 5K A A
B UBERRARRIANE EZEER—
ZHRERE - A B BEREN A QAN
RIHEEZBREHERN

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive
dividends as declared from time to time and are
entitled to one vote per share at meetings of the
Company. All ordinary shares rank equally with regard
to the Company’s residual assets.

Notes: PEE -

(@)  During the year ended 31 March 2015, the Company @ REEZZT—RAF=-H=1T—HILEF
allotted and issued 150,100,000 shares of HK$0.01 8 RNAREITE AR 3 K 31T
each at exercise prices ranging from HK$0.1980 to 150,100,000 % 5 f% FI & 75 % 0.01 7T
HK$0.2510 per share as a result of the exercise of 2Bt - BRIRG 2 ITEEN B
share options. 0.1980 TEA ¥ 0.25107T °

(b)  During the year ended 31 March 2015, the Company b) REZE-_Z—RHF=ZA=1+—HILF
allotted and issued 235,000,000 shares of HK$0.01 B - NRARIRATTEIE TR ER
each at exercise prices ranging from HK$0.1526 to %% I 817 285,000,000 % & I E B
HK$0.1800 per share as a result of the exercise of ¥0.01 T2 kD - R 2 ITEE
non-listed warrants. NI AB8E0.1526 L £ B 0.18007T ©

seRmRRARLD ~¥-mE-menERE _



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mE M BRERME

33 RESERVES 33 B
Company
NG
Share-based
Share Other payment Accumulated
premium reserves reserve losses Total
DRHX M
R aE E ke YRR ZitER g
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BB BETT BETT BETT BETT
At 1 April 2013 RZE-=F
MA—A 1,821,058 - 77,283 (1,331,59) 566,745
Loss for the year FREB - - - (45,396) (45,396)

Recognition of equity- ~ FEZARALE
settled share-based ARG TS 23008

payments - - 20,040 - 20,040
Set-off against B 2EEE ()
accumulated losses
(Note) (1,331,596) - - 1,331,596 -
Lapse of share options ~ E&RR B - - (20,048) 20,048 -
Capital contributions ~~ REREZ)TE
from shareholders - 5,450 - - 5,450
At 31 March 2014 RZE-mE
=A=t-H 489,462 5,450 71,215 (25,348) 546,839
Loss for the year FRER - - - (230,223) (230,223)
Lapse of share options ~ ERRRAEL - - (3,600) 3,600 -
Lapse of non-listed FEMAREELY
warrants - - (24,294) 24,204 -
Exercise of share b REmRE
options 39,024 - (10,800) - 28,224
Exercise of non-listed ~ 17{F I LRk IER
Warrants 46,641 - (12,720) - 33,01
At 31 March 2015 KT
“A=+-A 575,127 5,450 25,861 (227,677) 378,761
Note: B -
On 19 September 2013, a special resolution was passed RZZE—=FNAA+IE  RBRERRBFK
at the annual general meeting to approve the reduction of gLEBB—IBERIAERERARERRAR
the amount of approximately HK$1,331,596,000 standing A I (9% (B AR AR B8 4078 %5 1,331,596,000
to the credit of the share premium account of the Company TTAEBE AR AT RETEE - R B EHDR
towards offsetting the accumulated losses of the Company. FEHSHEERE22FRRE(—N—
The reduction of share premium complied with the FE=FED - & H—RIEFT) ©

Companies Law, Cap 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated
and revised) of the Cayman Islands.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

34 SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

The Company has a share option scheme for eligible
directors and employees of the Group.

At the extraordinary general meeting held on 24
June 2013, a new share option scheme (the “Share
Option Scheme”) has been approved and adopted by
the shareholders of the Company. The share option
scheme approved by the shareholders on 21 October
2002 has expired on 21 October 2012 (the “Expired
Scheme”).

Under the Share Option Scheme, the directors of the
Company may, at their discretion, offer employees,
contracted celebrity, advisor, consultant, serial
provider, agent, customer, partner or joint venture
partner of the Company and its subsidiaries (including
any directors of the Group), the grant of options to
subscribe for shares of the Company representing up
to a maximum of 10% of the shares issue as at 24
June 2013 (excluding shares issued on exercise of
options under the Share Option Scheme).

The Company also issued non-listed warrants to the
Honorary Chairman of the Company in prior years,
to an external consultant in respect of consultation
services received on 29 November 2012 (Note
22(b)), and to certain independent third parties on
25 October 2013.

Details of the non-listed warrants to certain
independent third parties issued on 25 October 2013
are as follows:

On 25 October 2013, the Company issued
370,000,000 non-listed warrants (the “Warrants”) to
certain independent third parties at HK$0.01 each.
Each Warrant entitles the holder to subscribe for one
new share of the Company at an exercise price of
HK$0.1526 at any time for a period of three years
from the date of issue.

e R R AR M

34 LU S22 7R

ARBE-—BERTARESERES
Kig &z EhtEatEl -

MN-E—=F XA - +HAETHRE
BRIRE E - ARARRREHE RN
RERRiERT 8 ([ MEARERT &I )) - RER
—EE-F+ A+ AiENERE
FEERN —_E——Ft+A-t+t—HER
(TEEmatEll) -

BIZEAERTE - AAREEAIRIBM
KARMEMBAREES - 688 R
EER - AN - BOMER  RE T
P aEREHEeEEN (BEAEE
FAES)REERE  URBEER
REZET—=—FRAAZTHABEET
IR 10% (NI TR AR ERT EIIE T
KR AR R BT TRUAR (9 ) A A R D o

ARRNRBEFERAARBRELE
BITIE LM RRERE IR T ——F
T—AZthBEMEXE ARG (Y
A 22(b)) M—ZIMNEREMEITIF TR
PeiERE YR —FT—=F+H-ThH
[FA TBYHE =77 %17 LR

2K oo
[3kva

R-ZE—=F+A-+HBARAEFTEIL
FoRBETELITRBRES ZFEBD
T

RNRZZE—=F1+A=-+HHB  XAFA
BhAKOOI TME TELE=HE
#7370,000,000 17 JE R AR #EEE ([ 3R
R ) - B RIEER TiE A%
TR B 317 B B = F AR IR
TP EAM0.1526 TREA N T — IR
%5 -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mE M BRERME

34 SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS 34 LA A 2 FRIE (#)

(Continued)

The Warrants were issued with fair value higher than
the principal amount and were accounted for as
share-based payment transactions. The excess of
the fair value of the Warrants, which amounted to
HK$16,340,000, over the consideration received of
HK$3,700,000 was recognised in the consolidated
income statement for the year ended 31 March 2014.
No warrants were issued during the year ended
31 March 2015.

The Warrants were measured at fair value of
HK$20,040,000 at the initial recognition, and
were credited to share-based payment reserve in
accordance with HKFRS 2.

At the issuance of the Warrants, it was recognised
at fair value, determined based on the valuations

REFE T AR A SREZ AT EE
7 WIRABRHO I 2HREB 2R 55
R - RREFTAFEBADWKRES
# 3,700,000 SR HH B 5 & 58 A B
16,340,0007T - EREE T —HF
:H:Jr—ajtﬂ“zi BT AE
ReBE_ZT—RAF=A=1+—HIEF
[ BT TRARAERS -

RREBR VA ERFIZ AT ESE
20,040,000 TET £ - WIRIEH BT 7%

YR 2 5RET A AR S+ 2 F0E
M o

REBTTRBAEFR - HiR A FERER -
IRIBIA MR TYIRB LR %1&@%%?@

performed by an independent professional valuer using CIEBEREITH I EETE

the binomial model with the following assumptions:

Group and Company
AEBRERQF

Issue date as

at 25 October 2013

RZT—=%F

+A=-+HH

#ITH

Conversion price HiRE HKS$ &% 0.1526 7T
Share price B HK$ &% 0.1610 7T
Expected volatility T HAR I8 50.946%
Remaining life TR F IR 3 years F
Risk-free rate R = 0.462%

BE-T ﬁ¢ A=+—RI%E "
$’i@5’¢t TF—RINEER ZIF LT

For the year ended 31 March 2015, the Group
recognised net aggregate share-based payment
expenses of HK$6,357,000 (2014: HK$6,180,000) R E ﬁEp ARR A7 S A5 2 SRIA A SOF
(Note 22(b)) in respect of non-listed warrants to an %E KRR 5B 6,357,000 ( —ZF— M
external consultant. F @ %6,180,000 7T) (MisF22(b)) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHRERME

34 SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS 34 LURAD X AY 2 FRIE (m0)
(Continued)
Details of the Company’s share options granted under RER - RARBREBEERETERL 2
the share option scheme and warrants outstanding REIRAE N AR TR 2 SRARIE SR A 5 15 %
and their movements during the year are as follows: HE#EHnT -
For the year ended 31 March 2015
BE-3-RE-AST-ALEE
Asat Granted Exercised Lapsed Forfeited Asat
Date of Exercisable Exercise 1 April during during during during 31 March
grant period price 014 the year the year the year the year 2015
000 000 000 000 000 000
R-%-D% R-R-1%
RHAH ks RE  BA-B REARE  RERAR  REAKN REARN ZR=1-H
R Tk R R R R
Share options
BhE
Executive directors 13 August 2004 13 August 2004 to HK30.251 100 (100)
EIiEH o 13 12 August 2014 02511
NAT=H ZEERENATERE
ZE-TENATZR
2 May 2012 1y 2012t HKS0.198 200,000 (150,000) (50,000)
“FIE 27 March 2015 #501987
ity 1 B St 2 =Y
“3-RF=ACTHA
200,100 (150,000) (50,000)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mE M BRERME

34 SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS 34 DA AT 2 708 @)
(Continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2015
B2-2-15=R=1-ALEE

Asat Granted Exercised Lapsed Forfeited Asat

Date of Exercisable Exercise 1 April during during during during 3 March
grant period price 2014 the year the year the year the year 2015
000 000 000 000 000 000

R-2-1% R-g-1fF

ik i R DA-B  REARE  RERAE  REARN REARM ZRZ1-H

i H h h L i

Non-listed warrants

FLZRER
Honorary Chaiman 3ung 2011 3dne 201110 HKS0.45 200,000 - - (200,000) - -
HEIR 5F 2June 2014 BT
~A=A e =
“3-PERAZA
Congutant 29November 2012 1 March 20130 HKS0.180 350000 - (15,000) - - 335,000
B o 28 November 2015 #0180
t+-fzthE  ZE-=4Zp-BE
i e
Independent third 25Qctober 2013 25 Qctober 20130 HK0.1526 870,000 - (220,000) - - 150,000
partes T3k 24 Qctober 2016 EB015%7
BUE=H tACHEE CE-CETACTEEE
“E-REAZTREA
920,000 - (235,000) (200,000) - 485,000
1,120,100 - (385,100) (250,000) - 485,000
Exercisable at end of the year
RERTAR 485,000
Weighted average exercise price
METRE 0222 - 047 0400 - 0172
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mEMBHRERME

34 SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS 34 DA A4S 2 708 @)

(Continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2014
$E-E-BEZAzH-ALER

Asat Granted Bxercised Lapsed Forfeted Asat
Date of Bxercisable Exercise 1 Apr during during during during 31 March
grant perod price 2013 the year the year the year the year 2014
000 000 000 000 000 000
RZE-=% HE-ME
el iz %€ BA-B REARL  REAGR  REARM  RERRL  ZA=T-H
Tk Tk h Tk Th R
Share options
ke
Executive directors 18 August2004 13 August 2004 to HKS0.251 100 - - 100
#7ES —EpE 12 August 2014 BE0BIT
JAtzE “EELE)\AT2RE
ZE-TENATZR
24 May 2012 1y 201210 HKS0.198 200000 - - 200000
EIE 27 March 2015 EB01087
RATER ZE-Epf-BE
“T-RFZACTHR
Independent BMarch 2012 1y 201210 HK$0.198 11,400 - (11,400 - -
non-executie 5 27 March 2014 01087
drectors SRotNR CE-CEtR-BE
B “E-RESAoHA
211,500 - (11,400 - 200,100
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mE M BRERME

34 SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS 34 DA AT 2 708 @)

(Continued)

Forthe year ended 31 March 2014
BE-T-ME-A-t-ALER

Asat Granted Exercised Lapsed Forfeted Asat

Date of Exercisable Bxercise 1 Apr during during during during 31 March
grant period price 2013 the year the year the year the year 2014
000 000 000 000 000 000

HZE-ZE HE-ME

sk 178 g€ BA-A RMEMRL  REAGR  REARE RMERRR =R=1-B

T T T H H i

Non-listed warrants

EAGELY
Honorary Chairman 21 June 2010 21 June 201010 HK§1.35 250,000 - - (260,000) - -
REIR “E-5F 20 Jine 2013 Ak
AEZT-R CE-EERRCT-RZ
TE-ERAZER
3dune 2011 3dune 2011 to HKS0.45 200,000 - - - - 200,000
EF 2.June 2014 ER0BT
~A=H “E--FrAZEE
Z3-MERAZA
Consultant 29 November 2012 1 March 2013to HK$0.180 350,000 - - - - 350,000
B S 28 November 2015 ER0I80T
t-AZthB  ZE5-=f=j-HE
“3-1F+-AZ1/\H
Independent third 25 Qctober 2013 25 October 201310 HK$0.1526 - 370,000 - - - 370,000
partes E-F 24 Qctober 2016 EE0I56T
BUZ) tEZtEE ZE-CETACfRAEE
“3-5F+A-1ER
R oo o0 S (U T 2000
1,011,500 370000 - (261,400) - 1,120,100
Exercisalle at end of the year
REXTE 1120,100
Weighted average exercise price
METSAEE 0674 0453 - 130 - 0222
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHRERME

34 SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS 34 LARR D 2 {3 2 FRIE ()

(Continued)

During the year ended 31 March 2015, HE_Z—AF=-A=1+—HIEFE -
150,100,000 (2014: Nil) share options B 771$ 150,100,000 % ( =& — Y 4F :
and 235,000,000 (2014: Nil) non-listed =) BE %A & 235,000,000 17 (= Z — Y
warrants were exercised. For the year ended FE)ELTRAREZ - HEZZT
31 March 2015, the weighted average closing share —hE=A=1T—HIFE - BR#ET
price at the date of exercise for the share options R MEFHKTERE0.283
was HK$0.283. No option has been granted under TLoBEZET-—RAF=-A=1+—HIEF
the Share Option Scheme during the year ended B - BIEARBE R SIIX LA o

31 March 2015.

35 DEFERRED INCOME TAX 35 ;J_Fﬁ S
The net movements in the deferred income tax are as BTSSR FENT -
follows:

Group
rEH

2015 2014

=F-H% —F0OF

HK$’000 HK$’'000

ki BT IT

At beginning of the year REH] (8,125) (9,322)
Credited to consolidated ire e at A (s 10)

income statement (Note 10) 5,332 1,202
Exchange realignment b 34, SR B (4) ()
At end of the year RER (2,797) (8,125)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mE M BRERME

35 DEFERRED INCOME TAX (Continued) 35 JRALFT1SH (4

I

)

Deferred income tax liabilities mainly represent RAFERBTFE  BEMSHEE
accelerated tax depreciation recognised and FEACDERNMNETIBFTERHLE
movements thereon during the current and prior YT
years:
Group
A %EE
2015 2014
—F-HF —T—mF
HK$’000 HK$’000

BT T BETT

At beginning of the year REH] (11,775) (10,651)
Credited/(charged) to RERAURESRETA (FBR)
consolidated income (MI3E10)
statement (Note 10) 8,932 (1,119)

Exchange realignment EE 5 8 (4) ()

At end of the year RER (2,847) (11,775)
The deferred income tax liabilities are expected to be EEFEHaERENBAE T ZEA%R
recovered after more than 12 months. e o
At end of the year, the Group has deductible RER  AEEMAIMERER - 8
temporary differences, including assets impairment BREERBELREREARIBEBES A
and unused tax losses of HK$287,289,000 (2014: 7B 287,289,000 T (—F — M4 :
HK$287,289,000) and HK$329,191,000 (2014: # 287,289,000 7T ) I %8 5 329,191,000
HK$263,338,000) respectively. No deferred income T( =& — g F : % 263,338,000
tax asset has been recognised in relation to such TL) c AN HIREEES AN ERER
deductible temporary differences as it is not probable DA SHERBUR MR AT Be e R - AUt
that taxable profit will be available against which the WERBEZFIINEREZERE
deductible temporary differences can be utilised. No IEFTSMERE - RBE-_T—AHF=H
deferred tax asset has been recognised during the =T+ —BIEFE - ERARRE RS
year ended 31 March 2015 (2014: HK$2,321,000) in BORTEA MU ER A BRIAEE
relation to unused tax losses due to unpredictability of BRELERIBEE(ZT—MNF - B
future profit streams. 2,321,0007T) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHRERME

35 DEFERRED INCOME TAX (Continued) 35 JRALFTIEHE (@)

Deferred income tax assets mainly represent tax BEFTBREE X BIRNAFEE KiBGE
losses recognised and movements thereon during the FRZEERATEEERHLEE)
current and prior years:

Group

rEH
2015 2014
=F-H% —F0OF
HK$’000 HK$’000

BT T BT IT

At beginning of the year REH] 3,650 1,329
(Charged)/credited to RERE R (F0BR) FT A
consolidated income
statement (3,600) 2,321
At end of the year RER 50 3,650
The unrecognised tax losses amounting to 2R 7 3R Wi TR /B 18 5 16 213,920,000 7T
HK$213,920,000 (2014: HK$176,946,000) can (ZZ—F : B%176,946,0007T) AJ
be carried forward indefinitely and the remaining EIR AR AESE - 82 2B %70,678,000
HK$70,678,000 (2014: HK$53,762,000) and T (ZZE— M4 : B¥53,762,0007T)
HK$44,593,000 (2014: HK$32,630,000) will expire N B #& 44,503,000 70 (ZZE—0F : B
in 2020 (2014: 2019) and 2025 (2014: 2024) ﬁ532630000ﬂﬁH9”‘JHL_Zl_gxﬁ
respectively. (ZZE—m4F - ﬂi)&_‘g_
ﬁ(:g—mi- ZPOEF) BIHG o
36 BONDS 36 &%
Group and Company
AEBRAAT
2015 2014
—E-HF E-NF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
BET T BT T
Unsecured bonds wholly AN AFRBE ST
payable after 5 years K EERES 263,329 52,576

seRmRRARLD ~¥-mE-menERE ”



36 BONDS (Continued)

During the year ended 31 March 2015, the
Company issued bonds with aggregated amount of
HK$295,000,000 (2014: HK$80,000,000) to several
independent third parties with coupon rates ranged
from 3.57% to 6.00%, payable in 3 to 8 years from
the respective issue dates. The amounts of bonds
repayable at their maturities are disclosed in Note 3(a)

().

The carrying amounts of the bonds are determined
using the expected future payments discounted at
effective interest rates ranged from 5.09% to 19.27%
(2014: 8.97% to 12.52%) prevailing at the respective
dates of issuance.

The fair value of the bonds as at 31 March 2015
amounted to approximately HK$262,562,000 (2014
HK$52,576,000). The fair values are determined
based on cash flows discounted using a rate based
on the effective market interest rates ranged from
5.11% to 12.73% per annum as at 31 March 2015.

The carrying amounts of the Group and Company’s
bonds are denominated HK$.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mE M BRERME

36 &% @)

HE_Z—RAF=A=1+—HIEFE "
ARBIABTBLE=ZFTALE
¥ 295,000,000 ( ZZE — U4 : B
80,000,0007T) v &% EBENTF
3.57% £6.00% * NEEITHEEE =
ENFREM - AABINESFDEEE
EiE 7 SRR MIEE 3(@)(i) ©

BEHZREENERIZERETHSRE
B 2 BERREFIRNF5.09% E 19.27% (=
T — 0% : 8.97% & 12.52%) T IR &Y
TEEAR R METE -

RZE—RAF=ZA=+—H"  BEHZ
NFE X BB 262,562,000 T (=&
— P E#52,576,0007T) ° AFE
DEMRZZE-—RAF=A=+—HZF
EERMSFENF5.11% E12.73%
PR IREMEMETE °

SR R 1 A 2 B DA
HE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

37 DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARIES

During the year ended 31 March 2014, the Group
entered into sale and purchase agreements with
independent third parties (the “Purchasers”) to
dispose of its entire controlling interests in certain
subsidiaries, mainly representing China Oil Resources
Company Limited, which is the immediate holding
company of PetroAsian Energy (Tunisia) Limited.
Total consideration paid amounted to approximately

e R R AR M

37 LEMB LA

REBE-ZE—NF=A=+—HILF
= $;€l£ﬁiﬁi%—7§(ramm
VEBE WS thhc.,\BA%EFWJ%
(FERPHERBRA EzATz%
EPEE IR (28 JE@EEJHBE Rl EE
ANE) R EERER o BN
Fiﬁi%ﬁ%?ﬁ% 425,0007T - HEKER
TLISZ HABEEB 5,374,000 TEREZE

HK$5,425,000. Aggregated gains on disposals of —OF=A=1T—HILFEL[E
subsidiaries of HK$5,374,000 have been recognised 4’@1451 s/ (E518) - F8] (M3Ee) mfE
in “Other gains/(losses), net” (Note 6) during the year 7 o

ended 31 March 2014.

The aggregate net assets of the subsidiaries at the REEBE - WBARZEEFEREE
date of disposal were as follows: NN

2014
—E-NEF

HK$’000

BT T

Consideration satisfied in cash MRS RE 5,425

Net assets BEEFE

Property, plant and equipment (Note 16) M - B k& (M5 16) 3
Investment properties (Note 17) WEWEE (MHFE17) -
Inventories T =1 -
Trade receivables B 5 WA -
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables iﬁ\ﬁ RIE - 2e RHEAER G 173
Cash and cash equivalents fﬁ’i\ MIReEBEIEE 341
Trade payables B SN FIA -

Other payables ﬁﬁﬂr’é ~RIE 411)

Non-controlling interests FEFE I 2 (55)
51

Gains on disposals of subsidiaries (Note 6) S B AR 2 W (FizE6) 5,374
Total consideration BRE 5,425

PLERERERAR —E-NE-EFFERS
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37 DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

37 HEHRE AT @

(Continued)
The aggregate net assets of the subsidiaries at the REERH - MBARZEEFEERE
date of disposal were as follows: (Continued) W ()
2014
—=E—NF
HK$’000
BT T
Total consideration is in the form of BATHEAEL 2 BRE -
the following:
Cash consideration ReRE 5,425
Consideration receivables FEWRE -
5,425
Net cash inflow arising from disposals HENBRARELAY
of subsidiaries: WMEMAFE
Cash consideration ReRE 5,425
Less: Cash and cash equivalents disposed B BEHERS MRS FEIAR (341)
5,084
38 CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 38 BAEIE
Group
rEE
2015 2014
—E-hfF —Z—mF
HK$°000 HK$’000

BT BETT

Contracted but not provided for =% 418 A& B

as at 31 March 2015 (2014: Nil).

— property, plant - W% BELRRE
and equipment 40,898 41,029
The Group does not have any capital commitments RZE—RAFR_E—NF=A=1+—
that are authorised but not contracted for as at 31 B AEESEEAEREERTOZ
March 2015 and 2014. BRI -
The Company does not have any capital commitments RZZE—RAF=A=+—H ' xR 7

WEFEBEMERFAE(ZF—F -
)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHRERME

39 OPERATING LEASES 39 K&EHE
The Group and the Company as lessee AEERAATEREABEA
At end of the year, the Group and the Company RER » AEB RARRIRE T5IE5HE
had future minimum lease payments under non- FIE 2 AT ESE A E HE M R AR IR
cancellable operating leases which fall due as follows: ®EHES :
Group Company
PN P YN
2015 2014 2015 2014
—B-T1f —T-mE —E-1E —T-mE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
BETT BT BET T BETT
Within one year —FR 6,723 6,935 6,135 6,136
In the second to fifth WMEERF
years inclusive (BIEEREWF) 1,194 7,255 1,023 7,158
7,917 14,190 7,158 13,294
Operating lease payments represent rentals payable KEMENFTIEAEERAARIGES
by the Group and the Company for certain of its office FTHAEMHEEGHES - HERNT
properties. Leases are negotiated in a range from —FER+FHER - BEMERES
1 year to 50 years. No arrangements have been NREREZHE -

entered into for contingent rental payments.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mE M BRERME

40 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 40 BEAEANLRS

(a) Transactions with related parties (a) EEBEEALTZRS
Compensation of key management personnel: FEERABRH

FEEEEEARARATNESRE
SEREOLMKE  HEHIORE
T

All members of key management personnel are the
directors and other members of key management
of the Company. Details of their remuneration are as
follows:

2015 2014
—_E—HE —E—F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
BET T BT
Short-term employee benefits %2 Bi{E B t& 7
— Directors (Note 11) -EF (1) 7,764 7,614
— Other members -HMKE 1,956 2,581
o 9m0 10195
Post-employment benefits BERR A
- Directors (Note 11) -EE(MsE11) 54 45
— Other members -HAupK 8 35 45
e 89 %
9,809 10,285
(b) Balances with related parties (b) EEBERBIEALZ&RR
Maximum
outstanding
during the year 2015 2014
FRHZAKA
REELE —E-EF —ZE—NF
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BET T BT IT
Amounts due from substantial B = ERE R 78
shareholders (Note 10) (MF5E10) 5,450 5,450 5,450
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40 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 40 BEEEALR S @)

(Continued)
(b) Balances with related parties (Continued) (b) EEEREEALT &R (E)

The amount due from key management has the ERFZETEABFIBEBEEN MEFK KL

following terms and conditions: et
Maximum
outstanding

during the year 2015 2014
FATA

AMEERRE - —FE-HF —T-MOF

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’'000

BETT A¥TT BT

Mr. Poon Sum ERRTTE 538 538 538
41 EVENTS AFTER THE DATE OF 4 BrEgiknak A BB S8

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL

POSITION

(@) Subsequent to 31 March 2015, the Company @ MZETE—HF=AHA=+—H
issued bonds with an aggregate amount of 2B ARRBITHREBEE
HK$69,400,000 to several independent third 69,400,000 L& TH THEIYHE
parties with coupon rates of 6% per annum and =5 FEEEXER6% ' FIHFH
maturities ranged from 4 to 8 years. NFEEN\F o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mE M BRERME

41 EVENTS AFTER THE DATE OF
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL
POSITION (Continued)

(b)

On 24 April 2015, the Group conditionally
entered into an acquisition agreement with the
vendors and guarantors to acquire the entire
issued capital of Perfect Reward Limited for an
aggregate consideration of HK$950,000,000.

Perfect Reward Limited and its subsidiaries
are principally engaged in the LNG businesses
and is a service provider of the LNG supply
chain covering all the upstream, midstream and
downstream segments in the industry.

The acquisition is conditional upon the fulfilment
certain precedent conditions as stipulated in the
acquisition agreement. As of the date of approval
of these financial statements, the acquisition is
yet to be completed.

42 COMPARATIVE AMOUNTS

For comparative purpose, certain comparative
amounts have been reclassified to conform to the
current year’s presentation.

41 BF&IROR 3k B B8 5518 (|

(b)

RZZE—RFMA=-+MHAH K
SEHEELRERAB G
A1 3 UNCBE 5 % 0 DA MR BE Perfect
Reward Limited 2 52 881 THE A -
KRB AE 950,000,000 7T °

Perfect Reward Limited & £ i B
RAEERERIERARER R
m—EREXRNTE LT - P
N T 79 86 2 AL RN SR FE
B RS AL FE RS o

WEE AR AR B AT SR 2
BHTRRGMR - HAIEE - &
EHEZSHHHREBH - KB

42 LR EHER

LM E

ETHESBECEHRDE

NEARFEEH 25— -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHRERME

43 PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries as at 31
March 2015 and 2014 are set out as follows:

43 MEB L EFFS

RoF-—EFR-F-WMF=A=t+—
B ARRIWHEARFHBEINMT -

Place/country Nominal value Proportion of nominal
of incorporation of issued share value of issued share
or registration/ capital/registered capital/registered capital Principal
Name of subsidiary operations share capital held by the Company activities
amALgEh/  CRIRE/ AAARBERARE/
WEARER Behy /B HERRAEE AMRAEENADIL ITER
2015 2014
“E-0% _2-|E
Subsidiaries directly held by the Company:
ARAERREHHELR
China Oil Resources BvI 100 shares of USS1 each 100.00% 100.00% Investment holding
Group Limited AERIES 100REREE 1 ETHRR REBR
HHEREEARAT
Wing Shing Group Limited BvI 52,000 shares of US$1 each 100.00% 100.00% Investment holding
KREBERAR ABRAES 52,000 REREE 1 £ TR REHR
Subsidiaries indirectly held by the Company:
ARAREREHHEAR
America Archi Colors BvVI 50,000 shares of USS1 each 51.00% 51.00% Investment holding
Group Limited RERUHE 50,000 RBREE 1 E Rk and contract senvice
XETHAR (KB ARAR inthe PRC
RPEEEREERRA RS
Beiing Arch Technology PRC RWMB3,000,000 51.00% 51.00% Provision of painting
Company Limited i AR#3,000,00070 senvioe, sale and
IRoBEERRARAR distrouton of painting
products and contract
service in the PRC
ReEREERRE - 158
RAEEHERRA DR
China-Hong Kong Link Finance Hong Kong 1 share of HKS 1 100.00% - Inactive
Company Limited & 1REREEES 1 THRG Eex
AR BERAT
China-Hong Kong Link Hong Kong 10,000,000 shares of HK$1 100.00% - Inactive
Securties Company Limited B 10,000,000 k8 RA(E B2X
TABEAERAT A1 TR
Creative Sense Industrial Limited Hong Kong 10,000 shares of HKS$1 each 100.00% 100.00% Investment holding
BILERARAT B 10,000 B RAEER 1 THKDR REHR
Fame Star Ventures Limited BVl 100 share of HK$1 each 100.00% - Investment holoing
EEERARAR AERAES 100RERAESY 1 TARA REHR
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43 PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES 43 iR~ A1
(Continued)
Place/country Nominal value Proportion of nominal
of incorporation of issued share value of issued share
or registration/ capital/registered capital/registered capital Principal
Name of subsidiary operations share capital held by the Company activities
AmRigEn,  ERGRE/ ARARFERIRE/
WEBARER feng /B3 HERAEE ERRAEENADL IBER
2015 2014
—E-1% —3-mE
Subsidiaries indirectly held by the Company (Continued):
AATREEAOMELR(]):
Global Songkaer Petroleum Kazakhstan 100 shares of 46.30% 46.30% Exploration driling
Co,, Ltd RiER A KZT1,030 each in Kazakhstan
FRFBRNAREELT 100G REE 1,002 XEHR RRER SRS BRES
Grand Fund International Limited Hong Kong 1 share of HK$1 100.00% 100.00% Investment holding
REERARAT 7 1REREERE 1 THRA RERRK
Grand Rich Human Resources Hong Kong 500,000 shares of 100.00% 100.00% Investment holding
Limited Bt HKS$1 each REABR
EEANERBRAA 500,000 B RAEAS 1 TR
Goal Green Limited BVI 1,000 shares of US$1 each 100.00% 100.00% Investment holding
BRERAR ABRNEHS 1000 REMREME 1 ETHRE REHR
Go Wealthy Investment Limited Hong Kong 1 share of HK$1 100.00% 100.00% Investment holding
AERERRAA B 1REREEEE 1 THRD REHR
Hai Tai Limited BVl 100 shares of USS1 each 100.00% 100.00% Investment holoing
BRARAA ABRAHE 100G REE 1 ZTHRA RERK
Hai Yue Chemicals Company Hong Kong 1,000,000 shares of 100.00% 100.00% Investment holding
Limited ; HKS1 gach G
BELIRHERAA 1,000,000 R ERE(E
EE1 TR
Honour Bright Investments Limited BV 1 share of US§1 100.00% 100.00% Investment holding
RERERRAT EERAES 1REREE 1 ETRR REHR
JinLong Group Limited BvI 100 shares of USS1 each 51,00% 51.00% Investment holding
HESEARAT EERAES 100REHREE 1 ZTHRG RERRK
Merry Boom Investment Limited Hong Kong 100 shares of HKS1 each 100.00% 100.00% Investment holding
REREARAT B 100G REEEE 1 ThRG REER
Northeast Oil (Ching) Development Hong Kong 10,000 shares of HKS1 each 100.00% 100.00% Investment holoing
Company Limted i 10000 REREERE1 THRD REABR
IR (8 ERARAR
PetroAsian Energy Exploration Hong Kong 100 shares of HKS$1 each 51.00% 51.00% Investment holoing
Development Limited B 100REREERS 1 THRD REABR
R R EARAT
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43 PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES 43 B A RIS )
(Continued)
Place/country Nominal value Proportion of nominal
of incorporation of issued share value of issued share
o registration/ capital/registered capital/registered capital Principal
Name of subsidiary operations ’ share capital held by the Company activities
AR, CRORA/ KLAAMBERTRE/
WELREE fend/Bx HRRAEE HMRAEENEL ITER
2015 2014
s ik “Z-|E
Subsidiaries indirectly held by the Company (Continued):
ARAREREHAHBAR (B)
PetroAsian Energy Finance Limited Hong Kong 1 share of HK$1 100.00% 100.00% Investment and money lending
R ERAT Bk 1REREEEE 1 ThRY RERES
PetroAsian Energy Limited Hong Kong 10,000 shares of HK$1 each 100.00% 100.00% Investment holding
hERERAA Bk 10000 REREERS 1 THRI RERK
PetroAsian Energy Group Limited BVl 1,000 shares of USS1 each 59.00% 59.00% Investment holaing
hEREEERAT ABRNEE 1000 ERAE 1 ZTHKR REHR
PetroAsian Energy International Cayman Islands 10,000 shares of 100.00% 100.00% Investment holding
Limited REEE US30.01 each REHR
PetroAsian Energy International 10,000 RERAEE00 ZLHR N
Limited
Wing Shing Chemical BVl 1 share of USS1 100.00% 100.00% Inactive
International Limited EBRIES 1REREE1EThER BEH
Wing Shing Chemical
International Limited
Wing Shing Chemical Macao Macau MOP500,000 100.00% 100.00% Sale of paints and blended
Commercial Offshore il IEFS%500,000 7 solvents in Macau
Company Limited REREERRREARE
A TP EREEEREARAA
Wing Shing Colours Limited Hong Kong 100,000 shares of 100.00% 100.00% Inactive
KFAHBRAA &k HKS$1 each b
100,000 KB RAEEH 1 LA
Shenzhen Galali Petroleum PRC R\B5,000,000 100.00% 100.00% Trading of fuel ofl and
and Chermical Limited i AR%5,0000007T chemical
RTRRA R TERAT ARt IERE
Winner Trend Enterprises Limited BvI 100 shares of USS1 each 100.00% 100.00% Investment holding
SEINERRAT ABRNEE 100REREE 1 FTHRA RERHK
Topact Holings Ltd. Cyprus 1,223 shares of 46.77% 46.77% Investment holding
Topact Holdings Lid. ERRE 1 Euro dollar each RABR
1223 ERAE 1B TR
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mE M BRERME

43 PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES 43 MiE A S @)

(Continued)
Place/country Nominal value Proportion of nominal
of incorporation of issued share value of issued share
or registration/ capital/registered capital/registered capital Principal
Name of subsidiary operations share capital held by the Company activities
AMAISER,  CRORA/ KORMBERARE/
WELRZE S EVETE HRBAEE HMRARENEL IEEE
2015 2014
—5-1f% “Z-pE

Subsidliaries indirectly held by the Company (Continued):
ARTRBEFRONERR - (B)

MIFERRERIRS PRC HK$12,500,000 100.00% 100.00% Ol exploitation and
BRAR # 112,500,000 T exploration service

R EZ MR inthe PRC
BRAA REERERBERR

ERIRT

EIMENEHERAF PRC RMB5,000,000 100.00% 100.00% Coal trading

EINSAE5ERAH B AR 5,000,007 ERE5

EERATRLAH PRC /559,200,000 95.69% 95.00% Exploitation and sale of
REBREMLT e 9,200,000%7T crude ol in the PRC

EERETRLEH REEERREER
REEREALH
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FIVE YEARS FINANCIAL SUMMARY

R EMBEHBE

2011 2012 2013 2014 2015

“T——F —ET-CfF “T-=F =il —E-5f

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000

BETT BETT BETT BET T BETT

REVENUE Yz 282 398 339,967 991,810 982,327 804,167
LOSS ATTRIBUTABLE NI YN

TO OWNERS OF (&R
THE COMPANY (305,507) (176,864) (115,255) (151,155) (148,305)

REVENUE &
HK$'000

BT
1,000,000

800,000
600,000
400,000

200,000

N

804,167

991,810 982,327
339,967
282,398
2011 2012 2013 2014

2015 )

LOSS ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF THE COMPANY Z# A Fl#E AEB{LE5E
HK$°000

BT
0

-50,000
-100,000
-150,000
-200,000
-250,000
-300,000

L -350,000

2011 2012

2013

2014

2015

(305,507)

(115,255)

(176,864)

(151,155)

J
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FIVE YEARS FINANCIAL SUMMARY

2011 2012 2013 2014 2015

“T——F —E-CF “E-=F & —E-1f

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000

BETT BETT BET T BT BT

TOTAL ASSETS BEE 1,020,766 888,124 885,144 934,955 1,156,171
TOTAL LIABILITIES paE (175,781) (190,140) (162,371) (329,141) (681,355)
TOTAL EQUITY BEREE 844,985 697,984 722,773 605,814 474,816

HK$°000
BETT

900,000
800,000
700,000
600,000
500,000
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PetroAsian Energy Holdings Limited

Suite 3601, Tower 6, The Gateway, Harbour City, Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong
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Tel E 5 (852) 2698 6093 Fax {§H: (852) 3580 7793

Website #84E: www.petroasian.com
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